
 

 
 

AGENDA 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS SPECIAL BOARD MEETING 

January 27, 2021    5:30 p.m. 
 

Join Zoom Meeting 
https://us04web.zoom.us/j/75874784277?pwd=NXdPVkFCVVpOUHEwdFFIbVcyVHVBUT09 

 
Meeting ID: 758 7478 4277 

Passcode: BP5dJK 
 

 
 
This meeting will be conducted via web conference. To participate in the live meeting, click on the link above. 
 

QUESTIONS and COMMENTS to address the Board during the meeting may be sent to:  
Boardofdirectors@chicocountryday.org 

 
Mission Statement 

Chico Country Day School provides a safe, joyful environment where all learners are inspired to achieve their personal best. 
 

2020-21 CCDS Board Members: 
Jessika Lawrence, Chair  

Chris Constantin, Vice Chair 
Michele Mittman, Treasurer  

Fawn Ruby, Secretary 
Jamie Clyde, Member 
Thang Ho, Member 

Nicole Plottel, Member  
 

1. CALL TO ORDER & ROLL CALL  (5:30 pm) 
 

2. SPECIAL SESSION  
2.1 COVID-19 School Guidance Checklist 
2.2 COVID Prevention Plan (CPP) 
2.3 2020-21 SARC 
2.4 2019-20 Audit 
2.5 Draft Comprehensive School Safety Plan:  First Review 
2.6 Facility Use Reopening Guidelines Policy 
2.7 Safe Schools Reopening & Expanded Learning Time Grants Information & Discussion 

 
 

3. ADJOURNMENT:   Adjourn;  Next Regular Meeting is February 10, 2021 
 
 
 

 

https://us04web.zoom.us/j/75874784277?pwd=NXdPVkFCVVpOUHEwdFFIbVcyVHVBUT09
mailto:Boardofdirectors@chicocountryday.org


 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Information, Procedures and Conduct of CCDS Board Meetings: 
Student Participation:   
At the discretion of the Board Chair, students may be given priority to address items to the Board 
Public input on specific agenda items and those items not on the agenda: 
The CCDS Board of Directors welcomes and encourages public comments. Any person of the public desiring to speak shall be allowed to speak during public comment time                                                     
and has the option of speaking once on any agenda item when it is being discussed. Speaking time shall generally be limited to three minutes, unless a longer period is                                                           
permitted by the Board Chair. In the case of numerous requests to address the same item, the Board may select representatives to speak on each side of the item. Each                                                           
person who addresses the Board must be first recognized by the presiding officer and give his or her name. Comments must be directed to the Board as a whole and not to                                                               
individual board members or employees. The Board shall not take action or enter into discussion or dialog on any matter that is not on the meeting agenda, except as allowed                                                           
by law. Items brought forth at this part of the meeting may be referred to the Administration or the Board may take the item under advisement. The matter may be placed                                                             
on the agenda of a subsequent meeting for discussion or action by the Board. 
Special Needs: If you have special needs because of a disability or you require assistance or auxiliary aids to participate in the meeting, please contact the CCDS office at                                                         
530.895.2650.  CCDS will attempt to accommodate your disability. 
Copies of Agendas and Related Materials:    Materials are available at the meeting, on the website at www.chicocountryday.org, or in the Main office prior to the meeting 
@ 102 W. 11th Street, Chico, CA  95928.   

 

http://www.chicocountryday.org/


2021 COVID-19 School Guidance Checklist for Chico Country Day School  Page 1 of 7

  Date: January 20, 2021-------- 
 

2021 COVID-19 School Guidance Checklist 
 

Name of Local Educational Agency or Equivalent:  
Chico Country Day School-------- 

 

Number of schools:  
1-------- 

 

Enrollment:  
572-------- 

 

Superintendent (or equivalent) Name:  
Margaret Reece-------- 

 

Address: 
102 West 11th Street-------- 

 
City 
Chico-------- 

Phone Number: 
5308952650-------- 

 
Email: 
margaret@chicocountryday.org-------- 

 

Date of proposed reopening:  
Fall 2020-------- 

 

County:  
Butte-------- 

 

Current Tier:  
Purple-------- 

 

(please indicate Purple, Red, 
Orange or Yellow) 

 

Type of LEA:  
Charter School-------- 

Grade Level (check all that apply) 
X TK ----

---- 
X 2nd  X 5th  X 8th   11th 

----
---- 

                     
X K          X 3rd  X 6th   9th   12th 

----
---- 

 ----
----         

           
X 1st          X 4th  X 7th   10t

h 
   

 
 

 
This form and any applicable attachments should be posted publicly on the website of the local educational agency (or 
equivalent) prior to reopening or if an LEA or equivalent has already opened for in-person instruction. For those in the 
Purple Tier, materials must additionally be submitted to your local health officer (LHO), local County Office of Education, 
and the State School Safety Team prior to reopening. 
 
The email address for submission to the State School Safety for All Team for LEAs in Purple Tier is K12csp@cdph.ca.gov 
 
 

mailto:K12csp@cdph.ca.gov


2021 COVID-19 School Guidance Checklist for Chico Country Day School  Page 2 of 7

  
 
LEAs or equivalent in Counties with a case rate >=25/100,000 individuals can submit materials but cannot re-open a 
school until the county is below 25 cases per 100,000 (adjusted rate) for 5 consecutive days. 
 
For Local Educational Agencies (LEAs or equivalent) in ALL TIERS: 
 

X         I, Margaret Reece, post to the website of the local educational agency (or equivalent) the COVID Safety Plan, 
which consists of two elements: the COVID-19 Prevention Program (CPP), pursuant to CalOSHA requirements, 
and this CDPH COVID-19 Guidance Checklist and accompanying documents, which satisfies requirements for 
the safe reopening of schools per CDPH Guidance on Schools. For those seeking to open while in the Purple Tier, 
these plans have also been submitted to the local health officer (LHO) and the State School Safety Team. 
 
I confirm that reopening plan(s) address the following, consistent with guidance from the California Department 
of Public Health and the local health department: 

 1.  Stable Group Structures 
2.  Entrance, Egress and Movement within School 
3.  Face Coverings and other essential protective gear 
4.  Health screenings for student and staff 
5.  Healthy hygiene practices 
6.  Identification and tracing of contacts 
7.  Physical distancing 
8.  Staff training and family education 
9.  Testing of staff 
10.  Testing of students 
11.  Identification and reporting of cases 
12.  Communication plans 
 
        

 

X         Stable group structures (where applicable): How students and staff will be kept in stable groups with fixed 
membership that stay together for all activities (e.g., instruction, lunch, recess) and minimize/avoid contact with 
other groups or individuals who are not part of the stable group. 

 Students are in stable groups, assigned to one core teacher in grades TK-5. Recesses are staggered and in 
marked areas so groups do not mix. Clear markings for moving about campus allow us to keep groups 
separated. Students are dismissed at lunchtime and the dismissal area on campus keeps students spread out 
and within their stable learning groups. In grades 6-8, students are kept in stable groups and move between 
their classrooms as a group, with the classroom being disinfected between each transition. We are offering our 
all-school activities that would have mixed groups in a virtual setting. Examples include: All School Sing, 
Electives such as art, science, choir, and music, and our open-ended exploration class called Wonder 
Wednesday.        

 
Please provide specific information regarding: 
 
How many students and staff will be in each planned stable, group structure? (If planning more than one type of group, 
what is the minimum and maximum number of students and staff in the groups?) 

Minimum = 5; Maximum = 25-------- 

 

If you have departmentalized classes, how will you organize staff and students in stable groups? 

https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CID/DCDC/CDPH%20Document%20Library/COVID-19/Consolidated_Schools_Guidance.pdf


2021 COVID-19 School Guidance Checklist for Chico Country Day School  Page 3 of 7

In grades 6-8, we have departmentalized classes. Students are organized into stable groups and move to their next 
class together as a stable group. Each room is disinfected during the transition to the next departmentalized class and 
students use hand sanitizer as they exit and enter rooms.-------- 

 

If you have electives, how will you prevent or minimize in-person contact for members of different stable groups? 

n/a-------- 

 

X         Entrance, Egress, and Movement Within the School: How movement of students, staff, and parents will be 
managed to avoid close contact and/or mixing of cohorts. 

 To ensure the safety of our on-campus community, non-essential visitors will not be allowed on campus. Each 
day students will enter campus through a designated gate: 
TK/K:  Gate in parking lot on west side of campus 
1st-5th grade:  Large fire gate located on 11th Street, staggered check in/check out 
6th -8th grade:  Middle School gate entrance and main doors, separated by class 
Our school has multiple entry points for all staff and students which will be assigned to specific group.  Stable 
groups will be assigned a timeframe for arrival and departure from an assigned point. Arrows and markings will 
ensure students and families maintain distance during arrival and screening. Parents will remain in their 
vehicles and drop off older children at the designated drop off zones. Parents that need to escort younger 
children to their gate and during pickup will be required to wear a mask.  All staff and students on campus will 
be required to wear masks.  All gates will be locked after students have arrived for school. The only open 
entrance will be the main office by appointment only.  Staff have been advised to maintain 6 feet distance 
between each other and their students. 
 
        

 

X         Face Coverings and Other Essential Protective Gear: How CDPH’s face covering requirements will be and 
enforced for staff and students.satisfied 

 All students in gradesTK-8, will be required to wear a face covering throughout the duration of the day, except 
during meal times if physical distancing of 6 feet can be maintained. Face coverings will be provided for staff 
and students that don't have one upon arrival (disposable masks, washable masks, face shields, etc). The face 
covering should be comfortable so that the wearer can breathe comfortably through the nose and does not 
have to adjust it frequently - this will help to avoid touching the face.  It should cover the nose, mouth, and 
chin. Students who are required to wear a face mask and refuse will be excluded from campus and given the 
option of Distance Learning. 
 
        

 

X         Health Screenings for Students and Staff: How students and staff will be screened for symptoms of COVID-19 
and how ill students or staff will be separated from others and sent home immediately. 

 Students 
Pre-screening: Families will screen students at home before leaving for school and complete our Safe Screen 
COVID-19 screener daily for each individual student. Safe Screen is an app families can easily download which 
will  detect and screen out exposed or symptomatic individuals before they enter school. 
Entering Campus: Each day students will enter campus through their designated gate and will follow a simple 
health screening process. The screening process will involve a temperature check as well as confirmation that 
families have completed the Safe Screen COVID-19 screener for each student. At check-in students will be 
reminded to wear their face covering, avoid touching their face covering and to wash their hands frequently. 
Temperature Screening:  Staff will be using a no-touch thermometer if students display any symptoms and if 
deemed necessary. 



2021 COVID-19 School Guidance Checklist for Chico Country Day School  Page 4 of 7

 
Staff 
Pre-screening: Staff will screen at home before leaving for school and complete our  Safe Screen COVID-19 
screener daily. If they have not screened at home and completed the screening, they will be required to screen 
themselves before they enter the school building and complete Safe Screen COVID-19 screener. 
Staff will not come to campus if they are not feeling well, have a fever, or any type of illness. 
 
If a student or staff member exhibits symptoms while on campus, they will wait in a designated isolation area 
until they can be sent home as soon as practicable.  Students or staff members will be sent home if they have a 
fever of 100.4 or higher. 
 
 
        

 

X         Healthy Hygiene Practices: The availability of handwashing stations and hand sanitizer, and how their safe and 
appropriate use will be promoted and incorporated into routines for staff and students. 

 Hand washing and sanitation will be taught as a priority. CCDS has installed hand sanitizer dispensers 
throughout campus and will ensure soap dispensers are filled regularly. CCDS has a total of 38 sinks 
throughout campus with soap available - each classroom has a sink and multiple sinks are in bathrooms, 
allowing for multiple opportunities to wash hands.  Staff will train students, as well as build regular time into 
the day for students to make this a priority. 
 
CCDS will help by: 
Teaching/encouraging proper hand washing technique. 
Teaching effective coughing and sneeze techniques such as coughing in sleeve or Kleenex. 
Instruction that includes avoiding contact with eyes, noses, and the mouth. 
Posting signs around campus as a visual reminder. 
Encouraging staff and students to remain home when ill. 
Keeping in contact with Butte County Public Health to determine if there is any exposure at the school. CCDS 
will work with Butte County Public Health as needed for contact tracing. 
There will be no shared supplies. Each student will have their own set of supplies kept on their desk. 
Hand sanitizer will be fragrance-free as available and children under the age of 9 will use the sanitizer under 
the supervision of an adult. 
 
        

 

X         Identification and Tracing of Contacts: Actions that staff will take when there is a confirmed case. Confirm that 
the school(s) have designated staff persons to support contact tracing, such as creation and submission of lists 
of exposed students and staff to the local health department and notification of exposed persons. Each school 
must designate a person for the local health department to contact about COVID-19. 

 The Director of Student Affairs, Director of Education and School Nurse represent the COVID-19 Team and will 
be responsible for responding to COVID-19 concerns. Staff will be trained and instructed to contact them 
should an issue arise. The COVID-19 Team will document and track potential exposure, notify local health 
officials, and notify parents via school email as soon as possible if communication is warranted. This 
notification will include the creation of a list of exposed students and staff, including contact information that 
will be supplied to the local health department. 
 
Displaying Symptoms at School: If students display COVID-19 symptoms, students exhibiting symptoms MUST 
be picked up immediately from the school. The student will be isolated to a designated, supervised and safe 
location away from others until the parent arrives to pick-up. If a staff member is exhibiting symptoms at 
school, they will be sent home immediately. The student or staff member will be recommended to test. CCDS 



2021 COVID-19 School Guidance Checklist for Chico Country Day School  Page 5 of 7

will follow Butte County Public Health Guidance for Schools. CCDS will  follow the Butte County Public Health 
Guidance for Schools Regarding COVID-19 Exposure if and when a student or staff is diagnosed with COVID-19. 
        

 

X         Physical Distancing: How space and routines will be arranged to allow for physical distancing of students and 
staff. 

 Protocols and practices have been developed throughout campus to create at least four to six feet of social 
distancing between all students and staff. These protocols will include the way that we travel the halls and 
where we sit in the classroom. This will include at least four feet between desks, markings on classroom floors 
to promote distancing or arranging desks in a way that minimizes face-to-face contact. To ensure this there is 
adequate space to distance desks at least four feet apart, there will be no more than 25 students in a 
classroom at a time. Stable groups will remain together throughout the duration of the school day. These 
groups will be maintained in classrooms, recess and lunch times. Recess and lunch times will be staggered, and 
groups will get a designated lunch area on campus.CCDS will take the following social distancing measures: 
In all classrooms and common spaces, CCDS will space students no less than 4 feet. 
During recess and transitions, groups are prevented from mixing. 
Lunches will be eaten in designated locations in classroom groups. 
Stable groups will only associate with staff members designated to their group during class and recess. 
CCDS will not host large gatherings such as assemblies, rallies, sports, and dances. 
CCDS will organize hallway and transition times to minimize interaction. 
Contact sports and activities that encourage close contact will not be available during recess. 
All outdoor recess spaces will be structured with activities supervised by staff. 
 
 
 
        

 
Please provide the planned maximum and minimum distance between students in classrooms. 
Maximum: 6          feet 

 
Minimum 4         feet 

 

If this is less than 6 feet, please explain why it is not possible to maintain a minimum of at least 6 feet. 

Our classrooms are not big enough to have students 6 feet apart in all cases-------- 

 

X         Staff Training and Family Education: How staff will be trained and families will be educated on the application 
and enforcement of the plan. 

 CCDS Families have received a copy of our Return to School Plan which includes all information, procedures 
and protocols on reopening CCDS. Our staff is trained on the Return to School Plan and safety protocols and be 
provided with educational materials and tools for implementing the protocols in their classrooms and with 
their students. Staff will be trained on the requirements to wear a face covering and will remind students 
throughout the day on proper usage.  Videos and communications was sent to all parents to encourage 
community participation and cooperation in regards to staying on campus.  All training for both staff and 
families included the proper use, removal and washing of face coverings, COVID-19 symptom identification, 
and how to prevent the spread of  COVID-19.  Masks are required to be worn by all staff and students at all 
times.  This regulation will be enforced by the Director of Education and the Director of Student Affairs.  Staff 
who refuse to follow the guidelines within this document will be subject to disciplinary action.  Students who 
refuse to comply with the guidelines will be sent home and the family will be required to read and agree to the 
guidelines before being allowed back on campus. 



2021 COVID-19 School Guidance Checklist for Chico Country Day School  Page 6 of 7

 
        

 

X         Testing of Staff: How school officials will ensure that students and staff who have symptoms of COVID-19 or 
have been exposed to someone withCOVID-19 will be rapidly tested and what instructions they will be given 
while waiting for test results. Below, please describe any planned periodic asymptomatic staff testing cadence. 

 CCDS Staff will be rotated through testing protocols as capacity permits, at the local OptumServe community 
testing site or through the state sponsored testing site.  CCDS will screen staff periodically as stated, as testing 
capacity permits and as practicable, using only FDA-approved PCR test methods and not “antigen” or 
“antibody” methods, in accordance with CDPH guidelines for testing symptomatic v asymptomatic individuals.  
CCDS staff members will be tested by collecting specimens on site, or they may choose to go to their primary 
health care provider or local community testing site.  Any student or staff member with Influenza-like or 
COVID-19-like symptoms that have not been explained by another condition as diagnosed by a medical 
professional needs to be tested for COVID-19 with an FDA EAU-authorized test, according to the most up to 
date guidance from CDC and CDPH. 
 
        

 

Staff asymptomatic testing cadence. Please note if testing cadence will differ by tier: 

Asymptomatic testing will occur as testing capacity permits.-------- 

 

X         Testing of Students: How school officials will ensure that students who have symptoms of COVID-19 or have 
been exposed to someone withCOVID-19 will be rapidly tested and what instructions they will be given while 
waiting for test results. Below, please describe any planned periodic asymptomatic student testing cadence. 

 CCDS students will be given information regarding COVID-19 testing capacity in our community.  While waiting 
for results, students will be in distance-learning only and will not be allowed on campus.        

 

Planned student testing cadence. Please note if testing cadence will differ by tier: 

CCDS will test asymptomatic students as testing capacity permits and as allowed by parents and guardians.-------- 

 

X         Identification and Reporting of Cases: At all times, reporting of confirmed positive and suspected cases in 
students, staff and employees will be consistent with Reporting Requirements. 

 CCDS will be consistent with the CDPH reporting requirements if there are confirmed positive or suspected 
cases of COVID-19 in students or staff and will notify Butte County Public Health.        

 

X         Communication Plans: How the superintendent will communicate with students, staff, and parents about cases 
and exposures at the school, consistent with privacy requirements such as FERPA and HIPAA. 

 Our school will email and/or text all families and staff should an urgent update be warranted (such as potential 
exposure or school closure). The school posts all necessary information on our schools’ RETURN TO SCHOOL 
page on the CCDS website. Information communicated to school families, staff, public health officials and the 
community will maintain confidentiality as required by FERPA, HIPAA and state law related to privacy of 
educational records.  We will continue to communicate with our parents, staff and community through various 
mediums: weekly e-fliers, social media, and virtually with zoom meetings for small and large groups.        

 

         Consultation: (For schools not previously open) Please confirm consultation with the following groups 
 

http://www.doc-tracking.com/screenshots/COVID-19/Case%20Reporting%20by%20Schools%20Directive.pdf


2021 COVID-19 School Guidance Checklist for Chico Country Day School  Page 7 of 7

-------- 
Labor Organization 

 Name of Organization(s) and Date(s) Consulted: 

Name: --------  

Date: --------  

 

 
-------- 

Parent and Community Organizations 

 Name of Organization(s) and Date(s) Consulted: 

Name: --------  

Date: --------  

 

 

If no labor organization represents staff at the school, please describe the process for consultation with school staff: 
-------- 

 
For Local Educational Agencies (LEAs or equivalent) in PURPLE: 
 

X-------- Local Health Officer Approval: The Local Health Officer, for (state County) Plan, cases Butte. County has certified 
and approved the CRP on this date: . If more than 7 business days have passed since the submission without 
input from the LHO, the CRP shall be deemed approved. 

 
Additional Resources: 
 
Guidance on Schools 
 
Safe Schools for All Hub

http://www.doc-tracking.com/screenshots/COVID-19/Consolidated_Schools_Guidance.pdf
https://schools.covid19.ca.gov/


COVID-19 Prevention Program  Page 1 of 18

 

COVID-19 Prevention Program (CPP) 
Chico Country Day School 

 
This CPP is designed to control exposures to the SARS-CoV-2 virus that may occur in our workplace. 

 

 

Date: 1/20/21 

 
 
Authority and Responsibility 
 
Margaret Reece, Chief Business Officer has overall authority and responsibility for implementing the provisions of this 
CPP in our workplace. In addition, all managers and supervisors are responsible for implementing and maintaining the 
CPP in their assigned work areas and for ensuring employees receive answers to questions about the program in a 
language they understand. 
 
All employees are responsible for using safe work practices, following all directives, policies and procedures, and 
assisting in maintaining a safe work environment. 
 
 
Identification and Evaluation of COVID-19 Hazards 
 
We will implement the following in our workplace: 
 
• Conduct workplace-specific evaluations using the Appendix A: Identification of COVID-19 Hazards form.  
• Evaluate employees’ potential workplace exposures to all persons at, or who may enter, our workplace. 
• Review applicable orders and general and industry-specific guidance from the State of California, Cal/OSHA, and the 

local health department related to COVID-19 hazards and prevention. 
• Evaluate existing COVID-19 prevention controls in our workplace and the need for different or additional controls.  
• Conduct periodic inspections using the Appendix B: COVID-19 Inspections form as needed to identify unhealthy 

conditions, work practices, and work procedures related to COVID-19 and to ensure compliance with our COVID-19 
policies and procedures. 

   
 

 
Employee Participation 
 
Employees and their authorized employees’ representatives are encouraged to participate in the identification and 
evaluation of COVID-19 hazards by:  

   
reporting any known hazards to the administrative team immediately. 
 



COVID-19 Prevention Program  Page 2 of 18

Employee Screening 
 
We screen our employees by:  

   
Staff will screen at home before leaving for school and complete our  Safe Screen COVID-19 screener daily. If they have 
not screened at home and completed the screening, they will be required to screen themselves before they enter the 
school building and complete Safe Screen COVID-19 screener. 
Staff will not come to campus if they are not feeling well, have a fever, or any type of illness. 
 
 
 
 
Correction of COVID-19 Hazards 
 
Unsafe or unhealthy work conditions, practices or procedures will be documented on the Appendix B: COVID-19 
Inspections form, and corrected in a timely manner based on the severity of the hazards, as follows: 

   
The severity of the hazard will be assessed immediately and corrected immediately.  The people responsible for ensuring 
corrections are made in a timely manner are the Chief Business Officer and the School Facility Manager. 
 
Controls of COVID-19 Hazards 
 
Physical Distancing 
 
Where possible, we ensure at least six feet of physical distancing at all times in our workplace by:  

   
Ensuring that some non-classroom based workers are allowed to work off campus to reduce the number of adults.  
Remote work is encouraged when students are not on campus.  Visitors are not allowed on campus.  Floor markings 
indicate 6 feet distance in all areas. 
 
Individuals will be kept as far apart as possible when there are situations where six feet of physical distancing cannot be 
achieved. 
 
Face Coverings 
 
We provide clean, undamaged face coverings and ensure they are properly worn by employees over the nose and 
mouth when indoors, and when outdoors and less than six feet away from another person, including non-employees, 
and where required by orders from the California Department of Public Health (CDPH) or local health department.   

   
Face coverings are required at all times and are provided by CCDS.  Employees are encouraged to let administration 
know of staff members not comploying with the face mask mandates. 
 
The following are exceptions to the use of face coverings in our workplace: 
 
• When an employee is alone in a room. 
• While eating and drinking at the workplace, provided employees are at least six feet apart and outside air supply to 

the area, if indoors, has been maximized to the extent possible. 
• Employees wearing respiratory protection in accordance with CCR Title 8 section 5144 or other safety orders. 



COVID-19 Prevention Program  Page 3 of 18

• Employees who cannot wear face coverings due to a medical or mental health condition or disability, or who are 
hearing-impaired or communicating with a hearing-impaired person. Alternatives will be considered on a case-by-
case basis. 

• Specific tasks that cannot feasibly be performed with a face covering, where employees will be kept at least six feet 
apart. 

 
Any employee not wearing a face covering, face shield with a drape or other effective alternative, or respiratory 
protection, for any reason, shall be at least six feet apart from all other persons unless the unmasked employee is tested 
at least twice weekly for COVID-19. 
 
Engineering controls 
 
We implement the following measures for situations where we cannot maintain at least six feet between individuals:  

   
Employees are encouraged to ensure 6 feet of distance at all times and wear a face mask at all times and to avoid 
situations where 6 feet cannot be maintained. 
 
We maximize, to the extent feasible, the quantity of outside air for our buildings with mechanical or natural ventilation 
systems by:  

   
To the extent possible, employees are encouraged to keep doors and windows open.  Fans are running at all times using 
the HVAC units. 
 
Cleaning and disinfecting 
 
We implement the following cleaning and disinfection measures for frequently touched surfaces:  

   
The CCDS Maintenance and Operation Department takes great pride in the care and cleanliness of our school. New 
equipment has been purchased and sanitation and disinfecting practices have been streamlined to ensure the health 
and safety of our staff and students.  The school will use, and will provide for use, soap and water and, cleaning and 
disinfectant products approved for use against COVID-19. Teachers will also help with cleaning and disinfecting high 
touch surfaces and objects (desks, doorknobs, light switches etc.) between use using products provided by the custodial 
team. A full disinfection protocol will take place once all the students have gone home at the end of the day. Below are 
highlighted areas that we have specifically addressed. 
 
Hand sanitizing stations installed outside every classroom, offices, gym, bathrooms, hallways, and copy machine areas.  
Hand sanitizer is also inside every classroom and space. 
Disinfecting sprays and paper towels in all classrooms and offices 
Training staff through CharterSafe courses including safe and appropriate use of disinfectants and personal protective 
equipment and COVID-19 
Cleaning highly-used areas in between cohort use of space, such as lunch area or playgrounds 
Classroom furniture has been arranged to ensure six feet between students and staff.  Classroom capacity has been 
reduced by half 
Plexiglass dividers installed in offices that are used by multiple staff members and interact with any members of the 
public. 
Restrictions to public access to campus and office areas 
Student’s individual supplies to be kept at their desk. No sharing of supplies throughout school 



COVID-19 Prevention Program  Page 4 of 18

Playground equipment will be assigned to each classroom so as to avoid cross contamination; equipment will be 
disinfected between uses. 
Textbook and workbook materials will be distributed to each student and not shared. 
Chromebooks have been assigned to individual students and also not shared. 
Drinking fountain use suspended. Students will bring their own water bottle.  Meals will be distributed as a brown bag 
lunch or breakfast “to go”. 
Additional PPE available as needed for students and staff, including face shields and masks, gloves, and hand sanitizer. 
Ventilation will be promoted in classrooms as much as possible by keeping doors and windows open and teaching 
outside, weather permitting. 
 
 
 
Should we have a COVID-19 case in our workplace, we will implement the following procedures:  

   
Should a case arise on campus, the facility team will disinfect all surfaces throughout the campus and specifically in the 
area where an infected staff member or student was.  The Facility team has been through extensive safety and 
erquipment training in regards to disinfecting for a COVID case. 
 
Shared tools, equipment and personal protective equipment (PPE) 
 
PPE must not be shared, e.g., gloves, goggles and face shields. 
 
Items that employees come in regular physical contact with, such as phones, headsets, desks, keyboards, writing 
materials, instruments and tools must also not be shared, to the extent feasible. Where there must be sharing, the items 
will be disinfected between uses by: 

   
The facility team and all staff are wiping surfaces with alcohol wipes or disinfecting spray. 
 
Sharing of vehicles will be minimized to the extent feasible, and high-touch points (for example, steering wheel, door 
handles, seatbelt buckles, armrests, shifter, etc.) will be disinfected between users. 
 
Hand sanitizing 
 
In order to implement effective hand sanitizing procedures, we: 

   
Have many available sinks and soap stocked 
Encourage and allow time for employee handwashing for at least 20 seconds. 
Provide hand sanitizer and soap. 
 
 
 
Personal protective equipment (PPE) used to control employees’ exposure to COVID-19 
 
We evaluate the need for PPE (such as gloves, goggles, and face shields) as required by CCR Title 8, section 3380, and 
provide such PPE as needed. 
 



COVID-19 Prevention Program  Page 5 of 18

When it comes to respiratory protection, we evaluate the need in accordance with CCR Title 8 section 5144 when the 
physical distancing requirements are not feasible or maintained. [reference section 3205(c)(E) for details on required 
respirator and eye protection use.] 
 
We provide and ensure use of eye protection and respiratory protection in accordance with section 5144 when 
employees are exposed to procedures that may aerosolize potentially infectious material such as saliva or respiratory 
tract fluids.  
 
 
 
 
Investigating and Responding to COVID-19 Cases 
 
This will be accomplished by using the Appendix C: Investigating COVID-19 Cases form. 
 
Employees who had potential COVID-19 exposure in our workplace will be: 

   
Offered COVID-19 testing at no cost at a time convenient to them.  The COVID-19 Team will document and track 
potential exposure, notify local health officials, and notify parents via school email as soon as possible if communication 
is warranted. This notification will include the creation of a list of exposed students and staff, including contact 
information that will be supplied to the local health department. 
 
System for Communicating 
 
Our goal is to ensure that we have effective two-way communication with our employees, in a form they can readily 
understand, and that it includes the following information: 
 
• Who employees should report COVID-19 symptoms and possible hazards to, and how: 

   
All employees are encouraged to report symptoms and hazards of COVID-19 to their supervisor immediately either via 
email or phone call. 
 
• That employees can report symptoms and hazards without fear of reprisal. 
 
• Our procedures or policies for accommodating employees with medical or other conditions that put them at 

increased risk of severe COVID-19 illness. 
 
• Where testing is not required, how employees can access COVID-19 testing: 

   
Currently testing is available through local testing centers.  CCDS will establish a relationship with the Valencia lab for 
COVID testing. 
 
• In the event we are required to provide testing because of a workplace exposure or outbreak, we will communicate 

the plan for providing testing and inform affected employees of the reason for the testing and the possible 
consequences of a positive test.  

   
 
 



COVID-19 Prevention Program  Page 6 of 18

• Information about COVID-19 hazards employees (including other employers and individuals in contact with our 
workplace) may be exposed to, what is being done to control those hazards, and our COVID-19 policies and 
procedures. 

   
 
 
Training and Instruction 
 
We will provide effective training and instruction that includes: 
• Our COVID-19 policies and procedures to protect employees from COVID-19 hazards. 
• Information regarding COVID-19-related benefits to which the employee may be entitled under applicable federal, 

state, or local laws.  
• The fact that: 

o COVID-19 is an infectious disease that can be spread through the air. 
o COVID-19 may be transmitted when a person touches a contaminated object and then touches their eyes, nose, 

or mouth. 
o An infectious person may have no symptoms. 

• Methods of physical distancing of at least six feet and the importance of combining physical distancing with the 
wearing of face coverings. 

• The fact that particles containing the virus can travel more than six feet, especially indoors, so physical distancing 
must be combined with other controls, including face coverings and hand hygiene, to be effective. 

• The importance of frequent hand washing with soap and water for at least 20 seconds and using hand sanitizer 
when employees do not have immediate access to a sink or hand washing facility, and that hand sanitizer does not 
work if the hands are soiled. 

• Proper use of face coverings and the fact that face coverings are not respiratory protective equipment - face 
coverings are intended to primarily protect other individuals from the wearer of the face covering. 

• COVID-19 symptoms, and the importance of obtaining a COVID-19 test and not coming to work if the employee has 
COVID-19 symptoms. 

   
 
 
Appendix D: COVID-19 Training Roster will be used to document this training. 
 
 
Exclusion of COVID-19 Cases 
 
Where we have a COVID-19 case in our workplace, we will limit transmission by: 
 
• Ensuring that COVID-19 cases are excluded from the workplace until our return-to-work requirements are met. 
• Excluding employees with COVID-19 exposure from the workplace for 14 days after the last known COVID-19 

exposure to a COVID-19 case. 
• Continuing and maintaining an employee’s earnings, seniority, and all other employee rights and benefits whenever 

we’ve demonstrated that the COVID-19 exposure is work related. This will be accomplished by  

   
allowing use of the COVID-19 sick leave and CCDS provided sick leave. 
 
• Providing employees at the time of exclusion with information on available benefits. 
 



COVID-19 Prevention Program  Page 7 of 18

 
Reporting, Recordkeeping, and Access 
 
It is our policy to: 
• Report information about COVID-19 cases at our workplace to the local health department whenever required by 

law, and provide any related information requested by the local health department. 
• Report immediately to Cal/OSHA any COVID-19-related serious illnesses or death, as defined under CCR Title 8 

section 330(h), of an employee occurring in our place of employment or in connection with any employment. 
• Maintain records of the steps taken to implement our written COVID-19 Prevention Program in accordance with CCR 

Title 8 section 3203(b). 
• Make our written COVID-19 Prevention Program available at the workplace to employees, authorized employee 

representatives, and to representatives of Cal/OSHA immediately upon request. 
• Use the Appendix C: Investigating COVID-19 Cases form to keep a record of and track all COVID-19 cases. The 

information will be made available to employees, authorized employee representatives, or as otherwise required by 
law, with personal identifying information removed. 

   
 
 
Return-to-Work Criteria 
 
• COVID-19 cases with COVID-19 symptoms will not return to work until all the following have occurred: 

o At least 24 hours have passed since a fever of 100.4 or higher has resolved without the use of fever-reducing 
medications. 

o COVID-19 symptoms have improved. 
o At least 10 days have passed since COVID-19 symptoms first appeared. 

• COVID-19 cases who tested positive but never developed COVID-19 symptoms will not return to work until a 
minimum of 10 days have passed since the date of specimen collection of their first positive COVID-19 test. 

• A negative COVID-19 test will not be required for an employee to return to work. 
• If an order to isolate or quarantine an employee is issued by a local or state health official, the employee will not 

return to work until the period of isolation or quarantine is completed or the order is lifted. If no period was 
specified, then the period will be 10 days from the time the order to isolate was effective, or 14 days from the time 
the order to quarantine was effective. 

 

Margaret Reece   

Title of Owner or Top Management Representative Signature Date 
 
 



COVID-19 Prevention Program  Page 8 of 18

 
Appendix A: Identification of COVID-19 Hazards 
 
All persons, regardless of symptoms or negative COVID-19 test results, will be considered potentially infectious.  
Particular attention will be paid to areas where people may congregate or come in contact with one another, regardless 
of whether employees are performing an assigned work task or not. For example:  meetings, entrances, bathrooms, 
hallways, aisles, walkways, elevators, break or eating areas, cool-down areas, and waiting areas. 
 
Evaluation of potential workplace exposure will be to all persons at the workplace or who may enter the workplace, 
including coworkers, employees of other entities, members of the public, customers or clients, and independent 
contractors. We will consider how employees and other persons enter, leave, and travel through the workplace, in 
addition to addressing fixed work locations. 
 
Person Conducting the Evaluation:  
 
Date:  
 
Name(s) of Employees and Authorized Employee Representative that Participated: 
 
 

Interaction, area, activity, 
work task, process, 

equipment and material 
that potentially exposes 
employees to COVID-19 

hazards 

Places and times 

Potential for COVID-19 
exposures and employees 

affected, including 
members of the public and 

employees of other 
employers 

Existing and/or additional 
COVID-19 prevention 

controls, including barriers, 
partitions and ventilation 

startcollapse 
 



COVID-19 Prevention Program  Page 9 of 18

 
Appendix B: COVID-19 Inspections 
 

   
Date:  
 
Name of Person Conducting the Inspection:  
 
Work Location Evaluated:  
 

Exposure Controls Status Person Assigned to Correct Date Corrected 

Engineering    

Barriers/Partitions    

Ventilation (amount of fresh air 
and filtration maximized)    

Additional room air filtration    
 

Exposure Controls Status Person Assigned to Correct Date Corrected 

Administrative    

Physical distancing    

Surface cleaning and 
disinfection (frequently enough 

and adequate supplies) 
   

Hand washing facilities 
(adequate numbers and 

supplies) 
   

Disinfecting and hand sanitizing 
solutions being used according 

to manufacturer instructions 
   

 
 

Exposure Controls Status Person Assigned to Correct Date Corrected 

PPE (not shared, available and 
being worn)    

Face coverings (cleaned 
sufficiently often)    

Face shields/goggles    

Respiratory protection    
 



COVID-19 Prevention Program  Page 10 of 18

 
Appendix C: Investigating COVID-19 Cases 
 
All personal identifying information of COVID-19 cases or symptoms will be kept confidential. All COVID-19 testing or 
related medical services provided by us will be provided in a manner that ensures the confidentiality of employees, with 
the exception of unredacted information on COVID-19 cases that will be provided immediately upon request to the local 
health department, CDPH, Cal/OSHA, the National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health (NIOSH), or as otherwise 
required by law. 
 
All employees’ medical records will also be kept confidential and not disclosed or reported without the employee’s 
express written consent to any person within or outside the workplace, with the following exceptions: (1) Unredacted 
medical records provided to the local health department, CDPH, Cal/OSHA, NIOSH, or as otherwise required by law 
immediately upon request; and (2) Records that do not contain individually identifiable medical information or from 
which individually identifiable medical information has been removed. 
 
Date:  
 
Name of Person Conducting the Investigation:  
 

Employee (or non-
employee*) name:  

Occupation (if non-
employee, why they were 
in the workplace): 

 

Location where employee 
worked (or non-employee 
was present in the 
workplace): 

 Date investigation was 
initiated:  

Was COVID-19 test offered?  Name(s) of staff involved in 
the investigation:  

Date and time the COVID-
19 case was last present in 
the workplace: 

 
Date of the positive or 
negative test and/or 
diagnosis: 

 

Date the case first had one 
or more COVID-19 
symptoms: 

 

Information received 
regarding COVID-19 test 
results and onset of 
symptoms (attach 
documentation): 

 

 

Results of the evaluation of 
the COVID-19 case and all 
locations at the workplace that 
may have been visited by the 
COVID-19 case during the high-
risk exposure period, and who 
may have been exposed 
(attach additional 
information): 

 

 
  



COVID-19 Prevention Program  Page 11 of 18

 

Notice given (within one business day, in a way that does not reveal any personal identifying information of the 
COVID-19 case) of the potential COVID-19 exposure to: 

Date:  All employees who may 
have had COVID-19 
exposure and their 

authorized 
representatives. 

Names of employees that were 
notified:  

Date:  Independent contractors 
and other employers 

present at the workplace 
during the high-risk 

exposure period. 

Names of individuals that were 
notified:  

What were the workplace 
conditions that could have 

contributed to the risk of 
COVID-19 exposure? 

 
What could be done to 

reduce exposure to 
COVID-19? 

 

Was local health 
department notified?  Date:  

*Should an employer be made aware of a non-employee infection source COVID-19 status. 



COVID-19 Prevention Program  Page 12 of 18

 
Appendix D: COVID-19 Training Roster 
 
Date:  
 
Name of Person Conducting the Training:  
 

Employee Name Signature 

startcollapse 
 



COVID-19 Prevention Program  Page 13 of 18

 
Additional Consideration #1 
 
Multiple COVID-19 Infections and COVID-19 Outbreaks 
 

   
This section of CPP will stay in effect until there are no new COVID-19 cases detected in our workplace for a 14-day 
period. 
 
COVID-19 testing 
• We will provide COVID-19 testing to all employees in our exposed workplace except for employees who were not 

present during the period of an outbreak identified by a local health department or the relevant 14-day period. 
COVID-19 testing will be provided at no cost to employees during employees’ working hours. 

• COVID-19 testing consists of the following: 
o All employees in our exposed workplace will be immediately tested and then tested again one week later. 

Negative COVID-19 test results of employees with COVID-19 exposure will not impact the duration of any 
quarantine period required by, or orders issued by, the local health department. 

o After the first two COVID-19 tests, we will continue to provide COVID-19 testing of employees who remain at the 
workplace at least once per week, or more frequently if recommended by the local health department, until 
there are no new COVID-19 cases detected in our workplace for a 14-day period. 

o We will provide additional testing when deemed necessary by Cal/OSHA. 
 
Exclusion of COVID-19 cases 
We will ensure COVID-19 cases and employees who had COVID-19 exposure are excluded from the workplace in 
accordance with our CPP Exclusion of COVID-19 Cases and Return to Work Criteria requirements, and local health 
officer orders if applicable. 
 
Investigation of workplace COVID-19 illness 
We will immediately investigate and determine possible workplace-related factors that contributed to the COVID-19 
outbreak in accordance with our CPP Investigating and Responding to COVID-19 Cases. 
 
COVID-19 investigation, review and hazard correction 
In addition to our CPP Identification and Evaluation of COVID-19 Hazards and Correction of COVID-19 Hazards, we will 
immediately perform a review of potentially relevant COVID-19 policies, procedures, and controls and implement 
changes as needed to prevent further spread of COVID-19. 
 
The investigation and review will be documented and include: 
• Investigation of new or unabated COVID-19 hazards including: 

o Our leave policies and practices and whether employees are discouraged from remaining home when sick. 
o Our COVID-19 testing policies. 
o Insufficient outdoor air. 
o Insufficient air filtration. 
o Lack of physical distancing. 

• Updating the review: 
o Every thirty days that the outbreak continues. 
o In response to new information or to new or previously unrecognized COVID-19 hazards. 
o When otherwise necessary. 



COVID-19 Prevention Program  Page 14 of 18

• Implementing changes to reduce the transmission of COVID-19 based on the investigation and review. We will 
consider: 
o Moving indoor tasks outdoors or having them performed remotely. 
o Increasing outdoor air supply when work is done indoors. 
o Improving air filtration. 
o Increasing physical distancing as much as possible. 
o Respiratory protection. 

   
 
 
Notifications to the local health department 

• Immediately, but no longer than 48 hours after learning of three or more COVID-19 cases in our workplace, we 
will contact the local health department for guidance on preventing the further spread of COVID-19 within the 
workplace. 

• We will provide to the local health department the total number of COVID-19 cases and for each COVID-19 case, 
the name, contact information, occupation, workplace location, business address, the hospitalization and/or 
fatality status, and North American Industry Classification System code of the workplace of the COVID-19 case, 
and any other information requested by the local health department. We will continue to give notice to the local 
health department of any subsequent COVID-19 cases at our workplace. 

 



COVID-19 Prevention Program  Page 15 of 18

 
Additional Consideration #2 
 
Major COVID-19 Outbreaks 
 

   
This section of CPP will stay in effect until there are no new COVID-19 cases detected in our workplace for a 14-day 
period. 
 
COVID-19 testing 
We will provide twice a week COVID-19 testing, or more frequently if recommended by the local health department, to 
all employees present at our exposed workplace during the relevant 30-day period(s) and who remain at the workplace. 
COVID-19 testing will be provided at no cost to employees during employees’ working hours. 
 
Exclusion of COVID-19 cases 
We will ensure COVID-19 cases and employees with COVID-19 exposure are excluded from the workplace in accordance 
with our CPP Exclusion of COVID-19 Cases and Return to Work Criteria, and any relevant local health department 
orders. 
 
Investigation of workplace COVID-19 illnesses 
We will comply with the requirements of our CPP Investigating and Responding to COVID-19 Cases. 
 
COVID-19 hazard correction 
In addition to the requirements of our CPP Correction of COVID-19 Hazards, we will take the following actions: 
• In buildings or structures with mechanical ventilation, we will filter recirculated air with Minimum Efficiency 

Reporting Value (MERV) 13 or higher efficiency filters if compatible with the ventilation system. If MERV-13 or 
higher filters are not compatible with the ventilation system, we will use filters with the highest compatible filtering 
efficiency. We will also evaluate whether portable or mounted High Efficiency Particulate Air (HEPA) filtration units, 
or other air cleaning systems would reduce the risk of transmission and implement their use to the degree feasible. 

• We will determine the need for a respiratory protection program or changes to an existing respiratory protection 
program under CCR Title 8 section 5144 to address COVID-19 hazards. 

• We will evaluate whether to halt some or all operations at our workplace until COVID-19 hazards have been 
corrected 

• Implement any other control measures deemed necessary by Cal/OSHA. 
 
Notifications to the local health department 
We will comply with the requirements of our Multiple COVID-19 Infections and COVID-19 Outbreaks-Notifications to 
the Local Health Department. 
 



COVID-19 Prevention Program  Page 16 of 18

 
Additional Consideration #3 
 
COVID-19 Prevention in Employer-Provided Housing 
 

   
Assignment of housing units 
We will ensure that shared housing unit assignments are prioritized in the following order: 
• Residents who usually maintain a household together outside of work, such as family members, will be housed in 

the same housing unit without other persons. 
• Residents who work in the same crew or work together at the same worksite will be housed in the same housing 

unit without other persons. 
• Employees who do not usually maintain a common household, work crew, or worksite will be housed in the same 

housing unit only when no other housing alternatives are possible. 
 
Physical distancing and controls 
We will ensure: 
• The premises are of sufficient size and layout to permit at least six feet of physical distancing between residents in 

housing units, common areas, and other areas of the premises. 
• Beds are spaced at least six feet apart in all directions and positioned to maximize the distance between sleepers’ 

heads. For beds positioned next to each other, i.e., side by side, the beds will be arranged so that the head of one 
bed is next to the foot of the next bed. For beds positioned across from each other, i.e., end to end, the beds will be 
arranged so that the foot of one bed is closest to the foot of the next bed. Bunk beds will not be used. 

• Maximization of the quantity and supply of outdoor air and increase filtration efficiency to the highest level 
compatible with the existing ventilation system in housing units. 

 
Face coverings 
We will provide face coverings to all residents and provide information to residents on when they should be used in 
accordance with state or local health officer orders or guidance. 
 
Cleaning and disinfection 
We will ensure that: 
• Housing units, kitchens, bathrooms, and common areas are effectively cleaned and disinfected at least once a day to 

prevent the spread of COVID-19. Cleaning and disinfecting shall be done in a manner that protects the privacy of 
residents. 

• Unwashed dishes, drinking glasses, cups, eating utensils, and similar items are not shared. 
 
Screening 
We will encourage residents to report COVID-19 symptoms to: 
 

   
 
 
COVID-19 testing 
We will establish, implement, and maintain effective policies and procedures for COVID-19 testing of occupants who had 
a COVID-19 exposure, who have COVID-19 symptoms, or as recommended by the local health department. 



COVID-19 Prevention Program  Page 17 of 18

 
Isolation of COVID-19 cases and persons with COVID-19 exposure 
We will: 

• Effectively isolate COVID-19 exposed residents from all other occupants. Effective isolation will include providing 
COVID-19 exposed residents with a private bathroom, sleeping area, and cooking and eating facility. 

• Effectively isolate COVID-19 cases from all occupants who are not COVID-19 cases. Effective isolation will include 
housing COVID-19 cases only with other COVID-19 cases, and providing COVID-19 case occupants with a sleeping 
area, bathroom, and cooking and eating facility that is not shared by non-COVID-19-case occupants. 

• Keep confidential any personal identifying information regarding COVID-19 cases and persons with COVID-19 
symptoms, in accordance with our CPP Investigating and Responding to COVID-19 Cases. 

• End isolation in accordance with our CPP Exclusion of COVID-19 Cases and Return to Work Criteria, and any 
applicable local or state health officer orders. 

 



COVID-19 Prevention Program  Page 18 of 18

 
Additional Consideration #4 
 
COVID-19 Prevention in Employer-Provided Transportation to and from Work 
 

   
Assignment of transportation 
We will prioritize shared transportation assignments in the following order: 
• Employees residing in the same housing unit will be transported in the same vehicle. 
• Employees working in the same crew or worksite will be transported in the same vehicle. 
• Employees who do not share the same household, work crew or worksite will be transported in the same vehicle 

only when no other transportation alternatives are possible. 
 
Physical distancing and face coverings 
We will ensure that the: 
• Physical distancing and face covering requirements of our CPP Physical Distancing and Face Coverings are followed 

for employees waiting for transportation. 
• Vehicle operator and any passengers are separated by at least three feet in all directions during the operation of the 

vehicle, regardless of the vehicle’s normal capacity. Vehicle operator and any passengers are provided and wear a 
face covering in the vehicle as required by our CPP Face Coverings. 

 
Screening 
We will develop, implement, and maintain effective procedures for screening and excluding drivers and riders with 
COVID-19 symptoms prior to boarding shared transportation.  
 
Cleaning and disinfecting  
We will ensure that: 
• All high-contact surfaces (door handles, seatbelt buckles, armrests, etc.) used by passengers are cleaned and 

disinfected before each trip. 
• All high-contact surfaces used by drivers, such as the steering wheel, armrests, seatbelt buckles, door handles and 

shifter, are cleaned and disinfected between different drivers. 
• We provide sanitizing materials, training on how to use them properly, and ensure they are kept in adequate supply. 
 
Ventilation 
We will ensure that vehicle windows are kept open, and the ventilation system set to maximize outdoor air and not set 
to recirculate air. Windows do not have to be kept open if one or more of the following conditions exist: 
 
• The vehicle has functioning air conditioning in use and the outside temperature is greater than 90 degrees 

Fahrenheit. 
• The vehicle has functioning heating in use and the outside temperature is less than 60 degrees Fahrenheit. 
• Protection is needed from weather conditions, such as rain or snow. 
• The vehicle has a cabin air filter in use and the U.S. EPA Air Quality Index for any pollutant is greater than 100. 
 
Hand hygiene 
We will provide hand sanitizer in each vehicle and ensure that all drivers and riders sanitize their hands before entering 
and exiting the vehicle. Hand sanitizers with methyl alcohol are prohibited. 



2020 SARC Input Form for Chico Country Day Charter School Page 1 of 11 1/21/21

 
2020 SARC Input Form 

 
THIS IS NOT THE FULL SARC TEMPLATE.  DO NOT POST TO YOUR WEBSITE. 

 
This template is provided as a tool to update your SARC and contains only a list of required reporting 
components that our team isn’t able to retrieve from public sources (i.e., Dataquest and SARC data files).  Please 
review and complete each section of this template for completeness and accuracy.  DTS will import publicly 
available data as it becomes available. 
 
This template provides guidance in each section to assist you through the update process.  You can also click on 
the section title for any of the sections to review detailed guidance from CDE regarding the reporting 
requirements.  A full version of CDE’s data elements document can be downloaded by clicking here. 
 
A list of answers to frequently asked questions can be reviewed by clicking here.  Please feel free to contact the 
DTS Support Team by clicking here. 
 
 
School Contact Information (School Year 2020-21) 
Please review and complete the information below as needed.  This section should include current School 
Contact Information for your school. 
School Name Chico Country Day Charter School 
Street--- 102 West 11th Street 

City, State, Zip Chico 

Phone Number 5308952650 

Principal-------- Claudia Trout 

E-mail Address ctrout@chicocountryday.org 

School Website www.chicocountryday.org 

CDS Code-------- 04614246113773 
 
 
District Contact Information (School Year 2020-21) 
Please review and complete the information below as needed.  This section should include current District 
Contact Information for your district. 
District Name Chico Country Day School 
Street 1163 East Seventh Street 

City, State, Zip Chico, CA  95928 

Phone Number 530-891-3000 

Superintendent Kelly Staley 

Web Site-------- www.chicousd.org 

E-mail Address kstaley@chicousd.org 
 
 

http://www.doc-tracking.com/screenshots/20SARC/InputFormDataElements/sarcdef.pdf
http://www.doc-tracking.com/screenshots/20SARC/FAQs.pdf
mailto:sarchelp@doc-tracking.com?subject=SARC%20Questions
http://www.doc-tracking.com/screenshots/20SARC/InputFormDataElements/School%20Contact%20Information.pdf
http://www.doc-tracking.com/screenshots/20SARC/InputFormDataElements/School%20Contact%20Information.pdf
http://www.doc-tracking.com/screenshots/20SARC/InputFormDataElements/District%20Contact%20Information.pdf
http://www.doc-tracking.com/screenshots/20SARC/InputFormDataElements/District%20Contact%20Information.pdf


2020 SARC Input Form for Chico Country Day Charter School Page 2 of 11 1/21/21

School Description and Mission Statement (School Year 2020-21) 
Please review and complete the information below as needed.  This section should include information about 
your school, its programs and its goals.  This section should be kept to 2-3 paragraphs. 

 
The mission of Chico Country Day School (CCDS) is to provide a safe, joyful environment where all learners are 
inspired to achieve their personal best. 
Our Core Purpose is to educate students toward becoming engaged and thriving learners. 
What we mean by educate is that our job is to teach the knowledge, skills and values that come with academic 
rigor and developing character. We are accountable for ensuring that students meet competency standards 
for their grade level. 
What we mean by engaged is that learning should be interesting, challenging and joyful. Learners should see 
the value of what is being taught and be active participants. 
What we mean by thriving is that students are able to start where they are and do their best, know that they 
matter as individuals, and feel safe so that they are free to be their best selves. 
 
We embrace the following core values: 
1. Collaboration – We believe that people have a voice and that collaboration between teachers, parents, 
students and staff will produce the best results for our students 
2. Deeper Learning –We believe in utilizing Innovative Educational Practices to deepen learning because we 
want students to learn how to learn. Our teaching styles are driven by current educational research. We 
foster an environment where both students and teachers are committed to high expectations for quality 
work and character/citizenship. 
3. Joyful learning. We value joy in our learning environment and it starts with our staff being joyful learners. 
Students can only catch the “joy of learning” from how we lead and teach. 
4. Responsiveness - We value responsiveness as an organization. Our goal is to shift and change as quickly as 
we can when we face challenges or find opportunities to change for the better 
5. Community connection We value connection to each other to the broader community of Chico, and to the 
world. 
 
In 2019, Chico Country Day School was awarded a six year WASC Accreditation. Grades offered include 
Kindergarten through eighth grade. 
 
 
 
Opportunities for Parental Involvement (School Year 2020-21) 
Please review and complete the information below as needed.  This section should include information on how 
parents can become involved in school activities, including contact information pertaining to organized 
opportunities for parental involvement.  This section should be kept to 1-2 paragraphs. 

 
When parents or family members are involved at school in the education of their child, the child’s success in 
school dramatically increases. Just as we view each child as a unique individual, so we see each family as a 
unique partner in the child’s education. Just as each child has his or her strengths and challenges, so does each 
family. With this belief, CCDS has several ways for families to be involved. 
CCDS parents pledge to: 
 
Provide Home Academic Support by 
Ensuring my child comes to school ready to learn. 
Reading with my child(ren) every night and/or providing a quiet place to work, 
Following through with school recommended actions. 

http://www.doc-tracking.com/screenshots/20SARC/InputFormDataElements/School%20Description%20and%20Mission%20Statement.pdf
http://www.doc-tracking.com/screenshots/20SARC/InputFormDataElements/School%20Description%20and%20Mission%20Statement.pdf
http://www.doc-tracking.com/screenshots/20SARC/InputFormDataElements/Opportunities%20for%20Parental%20Involvement.pdf


2020 SARC Input Form for Chico Country Day Charter School Page 3 of 11 1/21/21

 
Provide School Support by 
Sending my child to school on time and ensuring my child is not absent from school unnecessarily. 
Supporting and adhering to the School Discipline policies. 
 
Participate by 
Attending school exhibitions of student work. 
Attending school PTP meetings, LCAP/WASC stakeholder meetings, or Board of Director meetings. 
Actively collaborating and communicating with teachers to meet my child’s learning needs. 
Using and reinforcing the CCDS Lifelong Guidelines and Lifeskills. 
Making positive contributions to the school community. 
Being an active member of the community by working to continuously improve CCDS for all students. 
Classroom volunteer ( not optional during COVID-19) 
Field trip Chaperone (not optional during COVID-19) 
Coffee with Administration 
Parent Information nights during the enrollment period 
 
For further opportunities to participate you can send an email to admin@chicocountryday.org or call 530-895-
2650. 
 
 
 
 
 
School Safety Plan (School Year 2020-21) 
Please review and complete the information below as needed.  This section should include information about 
the school’s comprehensive safety plan, including the dates on which the safety plan was last annually reviewed, 
updated, and discussed with school faculty and a student representative, as well as a brief description of the 
key elements of the plan (do not paste your entire safety plan in this field).    This section should be kept to 1-2 
paragraphs. 

 
The CCDS Comprehensive Safe Schools Plan was reviewed and revised in the 19/20 school year by a Safety 
Committee comprised of parents, staff, board members, and administration. The Comprehensive School 
Safety Plan was presented to the Board of Directors and staff. Key components of the plan include: 
Child Abuse Reporting Procedures 
Disaster Procedures 
School Suspension/Expulsion Guidelines 
Procedures to Notify Teachers of Dangerous Pupils 
Sexual Harassment Policies 
Dress Code 
Procedures for Safe Ingress and Egress of Pupils, Parents, and Staff 
Safe and Orderly School Environment Conducive to Learning 
School Discipline Rules and Consequences 
Hate Crime Reporting Procedures and Policies 
 
 
 

http://www.doc-tracking.com/screenshots/20SARC/InputFormDataElements/School%20Safety%20Plan.pdf


2020 SARC Input Form for Chico Country Day Charter School Page 4 of 11 1/21/21

School Facility Conditions and Planned Improvements (School Year 2020-21) 
Please review and complete the information below as needed.  This section should include information from 
the most recently collected Facility Inspection Tool (FIT) data (or equivalent), including:  
 
• Description of the safety, cleanliness, and adequacy of the school facility 
• Description of any planned or recently completed facility improvements 
• Description of any needed maintenance to ensure good repair 
 
FIT tools completed using CDE’s MS Excel format (only) can be submitted to DTS for import by clicking here.  
To see an example of the CDE FIT Tool, click here.  Requests for multiple schools should be sent in one email.  
Otherwise, please review and complete the information below as needed.

 
Year and month of the most recent FIT report: October 2020 
 
This section should be kept to 1-2 paragraphs. 
 
The school facility is safe, clean and completely renovated.  Facility improvements began in October 2013 and 
included routine maintenance and repairs over the summer of 2013, and the remodel of the Middle School 
building which became the middle school campus in March 2014.  The entire school campus was renovated 
beginning in March 2014 under the Rehabilitation program of Proposition 1D.  New classrooms and 
bathrooms were added and students and teachers moved in at the beginning of the school year 2014.  The 
new gym was completed in January 2015.  This campus houses grades K-5 and the project was complete in 
March 2015. 
 
School Facility Good Repair Status (School Year 2020-21) 
Using the most recently collected Facility Inspection Tool (FIT) data (or equivalent), provide a summary 
statement of the condition of the school facility, as required by Education Code sections 17014, 17032.5, 
17070.75(a), and 17089(b), including: 
 
• Determination of repair status for systems listed 
• Description of any needed maintenance to ensure good repair 
• The year and month in which the data were collected 
• The rate for each system inspected 
• The overall rating 
 

This data should match the most recent inspection/FIT report for your school. 
 

System Inspected 
Repair Status 

(the marks should match 
your most recent inspection) 

Repair Needed and 
Action Taken or Planned 

Systems: 
Gas Leaks, Mechanical/HVAC, 
Sewer  

XGood        
 

Interior: 
Interior Surfaces 

XGood        
 

http://www.doc-tracking.com/screenshots/20SARC/InputFormDataElements/School%20Facility%20Conditions%20and%20Planned%20Improvements.pdf
mailto:sarchelp@doc-tracking.com?subject=MS%20Excel%20FIT%20Report%20for%20Upload%20to%20DTS
http://www.doc-tracking.com/screenshots/20SARC/CDE%20FIT%20Tool.xls
http://www.doc-tracking.com/screenshots/20SARC/InputFormDataElements/School%20Facility%20Good%20Repair%20Status.pdf


2020 SARC Input Form for Chico Country Day Charter School Page 5 of 11 1/21/21

System Inspected 
Repair Status 

(the marks should match 
your most recent inspection) 

Repair Needed and 
Action Taken or Planned 

Cleanliness: 
Overall Cleanliness, Pest/ 
Vermin Infestation 

XGood        
 

Electrical: 
Electrical 

XGood        
 

Restrooms/Fountains: 
Restrooms, Sinks/ Fountains 

XGood        
 

Safety: 
Fire Safety, Hazardous 
Materials 

XGood        
 

Structural: 
Structural Damage, Roofs 

XGood        
 

External: 
Playground/School Grounds, 
Windows/ 
Doors/Gates/Fences 

XGood        
 

Overall Rating: XExemplary         

 
 
Teacher Credentials 
Please review and complete the information below as needed.  This section should include the number of 
teachers that fall into each category listed for the year indicated. 
 

Teachers at this School School 
2018-19 

School 
2019-20 

School 
2020-21 

District 
2020-21 

With Full Credential-------- 28 28 29 
 

Without Full Credential 
Without a full credential (includes LEA and 
university internships, pre-internships, 
emergency or other permits, and waivers) 

1 1 1 
 

Teaching Outside Subject Area of 
Competence 
CDE does not collect data on the number of 
teachers teaching outside their subject area of 
competence (with full credential). Teaching 
outside subject area data should be available 
in the LEA’s personnel office. In most 
instances, teaching outside subject area is a 
subset of total teacher misassignments (see 
data definition for Teacher Misassignments). 

0 0 0 
 

 

http://www.doc-tracking.com/screenshots/20SARC/InputFormDataElements/Teacher%20Credentials.pdf


2020 SARC Input Form for Chico Country Day Charter School Page 6 of 11 1/21/21

Teacher Misassignments and Vacant Teacher Positions 
Please review and complete the information below as needed.  This section should include the number of 
teachers that fall into each category listed for the year indicated. 
 

Indicator 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 

Misassignments of Teachers of English 
Learners 
‘Misassignments’ refers to the number of positions 
filled by teachers who lack legal authorization to teach 
that grade level, subject area, student group, etc. 

0 0 0 

Total Teacher Misassignments 
‘Misassignments’ refers to the number of positions 
filled by teachers who lack legal authorization to teach 
that grade level, subject area, student group, etc.   
 
Total Teacher Misassignments includes the number of 
Misassignments of Teachers of English Learners. 

0 0 0 

Vacant Teacher Positions 
‘Vacant Teacher Positions’ refer to positions not filled 
by a single designated teacher assigned to teach the 
entire course at the beginning of the school year or 
semester. 

0 0 0 

 
 
Textbooks and Instructional Materials (School Year 2020-21) 
This section describes 1) whether the textbooks and instructional materials used at the school are from the 
most recent adoption, 2) whether there are sufficient textbooks and instruction materials for each student 3) 
and information about the school’s use of any supplemental curriculum or non-adopted textbooks or 
instructional materials. 
 
List all textbooks and instructional materials used in the school in core subjects (reading/language arts, math, 
science, and history-social science), including: 
 
• Year they were adopted 
• Whether they were selected from the most recent list of standards-based materials adopted by the State 

Board of Education (SBE) or local governing board 
• Percent of students who lack their own assigned textbooks and/or instructional materials* 
• For kindergarten through grade 8 (K-8), include any supplemental curriculum adopted by local governing 

board 
 
If an insufficiency exists, the description must identify the percent of students who lack sufficient textbooks 
and instructional materials. Be sure to use the most recent available data collected by the LEA and note the 
year and month in which the data were collected. 

 
This data should match the most recent adoption of textbooks for your LEA. 

 
Year and month in which the data were collected: Oct. 2020 
 
This section should be kept to 1-2 paragraphs. 
 

http://www.doc-tracking.com/screenshots/20SARC/InputFormDataElements/Teacher%20Misassignments%20and%20Vacant%20Teacher%20Positions.pdf
http://www.doc-tracking.com/screenshots/20SARC/InputFormDataElements/Textbooks%20and%20Instructional%20Materials.pdf


2020 SARC Input Form for Chico Country Day Charter School Page 7 of 11 1/21/21

 
 

Core Curriculum Area 
Textbooks and Instructional Materials/ 

Year of Adoption 

From 
Most 

Recent 
Adoption? 

Percent of 
Students 

Lacking Own 
Assigned Copy 

Reading/Language Arts---
- 

Altitude Learning Platform for hybrid/online 
learning 
Expeditionary Learning ELA curriculum Grades K-
5 
Digital and Supplementary materials used 
grades 6-8 supporting Project Based Learning 
 

Yes 0 

Mathematics---- Altitude Learning Platform for hybrid/online 
learning 
K-5:  Go Math! 
6-8:  CPM 
 
 

Yes 0 

Science---- Altitude Learning Platform for hybrid/online 
learning 
Digital and Supplementary materials used at all 
grade levels supporting Project Based Learning 
 

Yes 0 

History-Social Science---- Altitude Learning Platform for hybrid/online 
learning 
Digital and Supplementary materials used at all 
grade levels supporting Project Based Learning 
 
 

Yes 0 

Foreign Language---- N/A 
  

Health---- Altitude Learning Platform for hybrid/online 
learning 
Digital and Supplementary materials used at all 
grade levels supporting Project Based Learning 
 

Yes 0 

Visual and Performing 
Arts---- 

Altitude Learning Platform for hybrid/online 
learning 
Digital and Supplementary materials used at all 
grade levels supporting Project Based Learning 
 

Yes 0 

Science Laboratory 
Equipment 
(grades 9-12 schools only) 

N/A 
  

♦ means data is not required.  The fields are intentionally not provided. 
 



2020 SARC Input Form for Chico Country Day Charter School Page 8 of 11 1/21/21

Expenditures per Pupil and School Site Teacher Salaries (Fiscal Year 2018-19) 
Please review and complete the information below as needed.   
 
• The fields that are highlighted yellow are populated for you with data provided by CDE. 
• Percent differences, highlighted light-blue, are calculated by this form.   
• The remaining data was copied over from last year’s SARC and should be reviewed/updated, with data 

from FY 18-19. 
 
The most recent data available from CDE is for fiscal year 2018-19.  For comparison purposes, data for the 
same fiscal year is requested from the school. 
 
As this template is thoroughly reviewed each year, please note that the year listed, fiscal year 18-19, is correct. 
 

Level 
Total 

Expenditures 
Per Pupil 

Expenditures 
Per Pupil 

(Restricted) 

Expenditures 
Per Pupil 

(Unrestricted) 

Average 
Teacher 
Salary 

School Site---- 9670.19 1072.30 8597.90 67608.13 

District---- ♦ ♦ 8113.54 $73,366 

Percent Difference: School Site and 
District 

♦ ♦ 5.8 -8.2 

State---- ♦ ♦ $7,750 $84,577 

Percent Difference: School Site and 
State 

♦ ♦ 10.4 -22.3 

♦ means data is not required.  The fields are intentionally not provided. 
 
Restricted expenditures come from money whose use is controlled by law or by a donor. Money that is 
designated for specific purposes by the district or governing board is not considered restricted. 
 
Unrestricted expenditures are from money whose use, except for general guidelines, is not controlled by law 
or by a donor. 
 
 
Types of Services Funded (Fiscal Year 2019-20) 
Please review and complete the information below as needed.  This section should include specific 
information about the types of programs and services available at the school that support and assists 
students. For example, this narrative may include information about supplemental educational services. 
 
As this template is thoroughly reviewed each year, please note that the year listed, fiscal year 19-20, is correct. 

 
In addition to general funding, CCDS received funding for specific purposes including restricted Special 
Education funds from the state and federal government, lottery, local fundraising revenue, and other federal 
funds.  These funds were spent on Special Education services, curriculum, study trips, technology, staff 
development, and textbooks.  CCDS also received CARES Act funding in 20/21. 
 

http://www.doc-tracking.com/screenshots/20SARC/InputFormDataElements/Expenditures%20per%20Pupil%20and%20School%20Site%20Teacher%20Salaries.pdf
http://www.doc-tracking.com/screenshots/20SARC/InputFormDataElements/Types%20of%20Services%20Funded.pdf


2020 SARC Input Form for Chico Country Day Charter School Page 9 of 11 1/21/21

Professional Development (2018-19, 2019-20 and 2020-21) 
Please review and complete the information below as needed.  This section should include the number of days 
provided for professional development and continuous professional growth in 2018-19, 2019-20 and 2020-21.  

Measure 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 

Number of school days dedicated to Staff 
Development and Continuous Improvement 

5 5 6 

 
Optionally, use this space to share information on the annual number of days provided for professional 
development and continuous professional growth for the school years 2018-19, 2019-20 and 2020-21. 
Questions that may be answered include: 
 
• What are the primary/major areas of focus for staff development and specifically how were they selected? 

For example, were student achievement data used to determine the need for professional development in 
reading instruction? 

• What are the methods by which professional development is delivered (e.g., after school workshops, 
conference attendance, individual mentoring, etc.)? 

• How are teachers supported during implementation (e.g., through in-class coaching, teacher-principal 
meetings, student performance data reporting, etc.)? 

 
This section should be kept to 1-2 paragraphs. 
 
A number of factors play a role in the Professional Development (PD) and Professional Learning that is offered 
to our staff which includes furthering our practice in Project Based Learning, implementing Common Core State 
Standards, Next Generation Science Standards, and competency-based grading and assessment. We review 
student assessment data, staff professional learning needs survey results, student learning survey results, and 
our charter guidelines when outlining professional development that is offered throughout the year. In addition, 
our WASC and LCAP goals are considered when choosing Professional Development.  
 
This year, we implemented the use of a new Learning Management System called Altitude Learning. In addition 
to using this platform for distance learning and off-campus learning, we are also using it to shift our grading 
practices to Competency-Based Grading.  
 
Having a staff of newly credentialed teachers and veteran teachers allows for opportunities for staff to learn 
together. Protocols and collaboration times are designed for staff to learn from each other as we grow our 
practice within classrooms. Teachers are supported in a number of different ways during the implementation 
of new curriculum and/or methods. Teachers have collaborative meetings during the professional development 
days to support one another with the implementation of new practices, allow time to review student data and 
create plans to address student needs. The Director of Education meets with individual teachers, grade-level 
teams, and groups of teachers on a frequent basis to provide professional support. Staff participates in the 
assessment of current practices, review of student performance data/ artifacts and vertical alignment twice a 
year. Teachers are provided time and support to observe in other classrooms and co-teach. Weekly 
collaboration time is built into the schedule so that staff is provided with regular time to meet and assist one 
another with the implementation of PD.  
 
Additionally, Professional Learning is provided through conferences, mentoring, workshops, webinars, virtual 
meetings, and site-based professional development.  

• Project Based Learning- Continuous staff training in the practice of deeper learning and project design 
components. 

http://www.doc-tracking.com/screenshots/20SARC/InputFormDataElements/Professional%20Development.pdf


2020 SARC Input Form for Chico Country Day Charter School Page 10 of 11 1/21/21

• Newly credentialed teachers on staff have a monthly coaching session to support curriculum 
implementation 

• Director of Education has bi-monthly coaching to support Altitude Learning implementation 
• Universal Design for Learning, Visualizing and Verbalizing, Seeing Stars, Social Thinking and autism 

training, Behavioral Intervention training for special education and resource staff 
• Staff trained in CPI, First Aid and CPR, trauma informed practices 
• Training for programs used on site; Lexia, Mathletics, Go Math, Altitude Learning 

 
 
School Completion and Postsecondary Preparation 
 

This section applies to schools serving grades 9-12 only.   
If your school does not serve grades 9-12, simply skip and leave this section blank. 

It will not be included in the full SARC. 
 
Career Technical Education Programs (School Year 2019-20) 
Please review and complete the information below as needed.  This section should include information about 
Career Technical Education (CTE) programs as follows: 
 
• A list of programs offered by the school district in which pupils at the school may participate and that are 

aligned to the model curriculum standards adopted pursuant to Education Code Section 51226; and 
• A list of program sequences offered by the school district. The list should identify courses conducted by a 

regional occupational center or program, and those conducted directly by the school district; and 
• A listing of the primary representative of the district’s CTE advisory committee and the industries 

represented on the committee. 
 
As this template is thoroughly reviewed each year, please note that the year listed, 19-20, is correct.  This 
section should be kept to 1-2 paragraphs. 

 
 
 
Suspensions and Expulsions 
(data collected between July through June, each full school year respectively) 

Rate School 
2017-18 

School 
2018-19 

District 
2017-18 

District 
2018-19 

State 
2017-18 

State 
2018-19 

Suspensions 0.9 1.9 3.2 4.2 3.5 3.5 

Expulsions 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.1 
 
Suspensions and Expulsions for School Year 2019-2020 Only 
(data collected between July through February, partial school year due to the COVID-19 pandemic) 

Rate School 
2019-20 

District 
2019-20 

State 
2019-20 

Suspensions 1.6 1.6  

Expulsions 0 0  
Note: The 2019-2020 suspensions and expulsions rate data are not comparable to prior year data because the 2019-2020 school year is a partial school year due to 
the COVID-19 crisis. As such, it would be inappropriate to make any comparisons in rates of suspensions and expulsions in the 2019-2020 school year compared to 
prior years. 

http://www.doc-tracking.com/screenshots/20SARC/InputFormDataElements/Career%20Technical%20Education%20Programs.pdf
http://www.doc-tracking.com/screenshots/20SARC/InputFormDataElements/Suspensions%20and%20Expulsions.pdf


2020 SARC Input Form for Chico Country Day Charter School Page 11 of 11 1/21/21



 
 
 
 
 
 

 

CHICO COUNTRY DAY CHARTER SCHOOL 

CHARTER # 0112  

 (A CALIFORNIA NON-PROFIT 

PUBLIC BENEFIT CORPORATION) 

 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS WITH 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 



CHICO COUNTRY DAY CHARTER SCHOOL 
(A California Non-Profit Public Benefit Corporation) 

 
JUNE 30, 2020 

 

 

i 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 Page 
FINANCIAL SECTION 
 
 Independent Auditor’s Report 1 
 
 Financial Statements: 
 
  Statement of Financial Position 3 
 
  Statement of Activities 4 
 
 Statement of Functional Expenses 5 
  
 Statement of Cash Flows 6 
 
  Notes to Financial Statements 7 
 
SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION SECTION 
 
 Organization/Board of Directors/Administration 16 
 
 Schedule of Average Daily Attendance 17 
 
 Schedule of Instructional Time 18 
 
 Reconciliation of Annual Financial Report  
  With Audited Financial Statements 19 
 
 Notes to Supplementary Information 20 
 
OTHER INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORTS SECTION 
 
 Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control over Financial  
  Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on  
  an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance  
  with Government Auditing Standards 21 
 
 Independent Auditor’s Report on State Compliance 23 
 
FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS SECTION 
 
  Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs:   
 
 Section I    - Summary of Auditor’s Results  26 
 
 Section II   - Financial Statement Findings  27 
 
 Section III  -  State Award Findings and Questioned Costs  28 
 
 Status of Prior Year Recommendations 29 
 



 

 

FINANCIAL SECTION



STEPHEN ROATCH ACCOUNTANCY CORPORATION 

Certified Public Accountants 

1 

P.O. Box 2196 / Folsom, CA 95763 / Phone (916) 966-3883 / Fax (916) 966-3815 

 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 

 
 
Board of Directors 
Chico Country Day Charter School 
Chico, California 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Chico Country Day Charter School, a 
California non-profit public benefit corporation, which comprise the statement of financial position 
as of June 30, 2020, and the related statements of activities, functional expenses, and cash flows 
for the year then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements.   
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements 
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this 
includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the 
preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.  We 
conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government 
Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States.  Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements are free from material misstatement.   
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  
Accordingly, we express no such opinion.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness 
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion. 
 
Opinion 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of Chico Country Day Charter School as of June 30, 2020, and the changes in 
its net assets and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America. 



 

2 

 

Board of Directors 
Chico Country Day Charter School 
Page Two 
 
 
Other Matters 
 
Other Information 
 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements as a 
whole.  The accompanying supplementary information listed in the table of contents is presented 
for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the financial statements.  Such 
information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the 
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements.  The 
information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial 
statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such 
information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial 
statements or to the financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in 
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America.  In our 
opinion, the supplementary information listed in the table of contents is fairly stated, in all material 
respects, in relation to the financial statements as a whole. 
 
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated 
December 21, 2020 on our consideration of Chico Country Day Charter School’s internal control 
over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, 
regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters.  The purpose of that report is 
solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of 
Chico Country Day Charter School’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance.  
That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing 
Standards in considering Chico Country Day Charter School’s internal control over financial 
reporting and compliance.   
 
 
  Stephen Roatch Accountancy Corporation  
 
  STEPHEN ROATCH ACCOUNTANCY CORPORATION 
 Certified Public Accountants 
 
December 21, 2020 
 



ASSETS

Current:

 Cash and Cash Equivalents (Note 2) 2,468,870$       

 Accounts Receivable (Note 3) 815,229            

Prepaid Expenses (Note 1G) 68,845              

Total Current Assets 3,352,944         

Long-Term:

Property and Equipment: (Note 4)

Land 186,105            

Buildings and Improvements 9,963,378         

Leasehold Improvements 119,878            

 Equipment 6,114                

Less: Accumulated Depreciation (1,593,047)        

Total Long-Term Assets 8,682,428         

12,035,372$     

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

LIABILITIES

Current:  

 Accounts Payable 585,095$          

Compensated Absences (Note 1J) 83,538              

Long-Term:

  Portion Due or Payable Within One Year:

Note Payable (Note 6) 640,997            

Capital Lease (Note 7) 117,249            

Total Current Liabilities 1,426,879         

  Portion Due or Payable After One Year:

Capital Lease (Note 7) 3,360,900         

 Total Liabilities 4,787,779         

NET ASSETS

Net Assets Without Donor Restrictions:

Invested in Property and Equipment, net of Related Debt 5,204,279         

Undesignated 2,043,314         

  Total Net Assets 7,247,593         

12,035,372$     Total Liabilities and Net Assets

CHICO COUNTRY DAY CHARTER SCHOOL

JUNE 30, 2020

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(A California Non-Profit Public Benefit Corporation)

Total Assets

THE ACCOMPANYING NOTES ARE AN INTEGRAL PART OF THESE STATEMENTS

3



WITHOUT WITH

DONOR DONOR

REVENUES RESTRICTIONS RESTRICTIONS TOTALS

LCFF Sources:

State Aid 2,784,398$       2,784,398$       

Education Protection Account 453,394            453,394            

In-Lieu of Property Taxes 1,340,269         1,340,269         

Federal Revenues:

Special Education - Local Assistance 74,262              74,262              

Emergency Impact Aid 33,469              33,469              

Medi-Cal Billing Option / MAA 6,856                6,856                

State Revenues:

Special Education 270,231            270,231            

Lottery 116,845            116,845            

Mandated Costs 9,119                9,119                

Other State 14,819              14,819              

Local Revenues:

Interest 10,412              10,412              

Preschool and Afterschool Programs 248,666            248,666            

Donations and Fundraising 90,701              90,701              

Other Local 110,311            110,311            

   Total Revenues 5,563,752         0$                     5,563,752         

EXPENSES

 Program:

 Educational Programs 2,851,016         2,851,016         

 Supporting Services:

 General and Administrative 2,506,213         2,506,213         

   Total Expenses 5,357,229         0                       5,357,229         

    Changes in Net Assets 206,523            0                       206,523            

    Net Assets - Beginning of Year 7,041,070         0                       7,041,070         

    Net Assets - End of Year 7,247,593$       0$                     7,247,593$       

CHICO COUNTRY DAY CHARTER SCHOOL
(A California Non-Profit Public Benefit Corporation)

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020

THE ACCOMPANYING NOTES ARE AN INTEGRAL PART OF THESE STATEMENTS

4



Program Supporting

Services Services

Educational General and Total

Programs Administrative Expenses

Teachers' Salaries 1,681,771$       206,894$          1,888,665$       

Supervisor's and Administrator's Salary 572,531            572,531            

Instructional Aides' Salaries 202,409            231,296            433,705            

Clerical and Support Salaries 239,222            239,222            

Employee Benefits 754,236            386,199            1,140,435         

Books and Supplies 56,052              41,243              97,295              

Services and Other Operating Expenses:

Travel and Conferences 15,761              5,007                20,768              

Dues and Memberships 11,289              11,289              

Special Education Contribution 902                   902                   

Staff Development 33,213              33,213              

Insurance 72,874              72,874              

Advertising 13,617              13,617              

Computer Related Services 65,398              63,792              129,190            

Professional Services 28,105              133,448            161,553            

Communications 24,179              24,179              

Copy Machine Related Services 31,578              31,578              

Utilities and Housekeeping Services 83,675              83,675              

Repairs and Maintenance 23,808              23,808              

Miscellaneous 2,858                2,858                

Furniture and Equipment 13,169              5,133                18,302              

Debt Service - Interest and Fiscal Charges 71,290              71,290              

Oversight Fee 45,960              45,960              

Depreciation 240,320            240,320            

     Total Expenses 2,851,016$       2,506,213$       5,357,229$       

CHICO COUNTRY DAY CHARTER SCHOOL
(A California Non-Profit Public Benefit Corporation)

STATEMENT OF FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020

THE ACCOMPANYING NOTES ARE AN INTEGRAL PART OF THESE STATEMENTS

5



CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Change in Net Assets 206,523$          

Adjustments to Reconcile Change in Net Assets to 

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities:

Depreciation Expense 240,320            

(Increase) Decrease in Assets:

Accounts Receivable 562,098            

Prepaid Expenses (16,587)             

Increase (Decrease) in Liabilities:

Accounts Payable (677,433)           

Deferred Revenue (1,825)               

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 313,096            

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Leasehold Improvements (48,877)             

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Note Payable 640,997            

Payments on Capital Lease (114,937)           

Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities 526,060            

Net Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents 790,279            

Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Year 1,678,591         

Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Year 2,468,870$       

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES:

Cash Paid for Interest 71,290$            

CHICO COUNTRY DAY CHARTER SCHOOL
(A California Non-Profit Public Benefit Corporation)

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020

THE ACCOMPANYING NOTES ARE AN INTEGRAL PART OF THESE STATEMENTS

6



CHICO COUNTRY DAY CHARTER SCHOOL 
(A California Non-Profit Public Benefit Corporation) 

 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 

 

 

7 

NOTE 1 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
A. Nature of Activities 
 

The Chico Country Day Charter School (Charter School), a California non-profit public 
benefit corporation, was formed to manage, operate, guide, direct and promote the Chico 
Country Day Charter School, a California Public School. The charter was originally 
approved by Chico Unified School District in 1996 and renewed in July 2004, and was 
granted tax exempt status by the State of California on June 4, 2004.  The Charter School 
is funded principally through State of California public education monies received through 
the California Department of Education and Chico Unified School District (the District).  The 
Charter School is governed by a seven (7) member Governing Board. 

 
The District renewed the charter through June 30, 2025. The charter may be revoked by the 
District for material violations of the charter, failure to meet student outcomes identified in 
the charter, failure to meet generally accepted standards of fiscal management, or for any 
violation of any provision of the law.   
 

B. Basis of Presentation 
  

The Charter School’s financial statements presentation follows the requirements of the 
Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) in its Accounting Standards Codification 
(ASC) No. 958-205, which provides guidance for the classification of net assets.  The 
amounts for the two classes of net assets are based on the existence or absence of donor-
imposed restrictions.  Net assets consist of the following: 
 
Net Assets Without Donor Restrictions - All resources over which the Governing Board has 
discretionary control to use in carrying on the general operations of the Charter School.  
This portion of net assets is not subject to donor-imposed restrictions. 
 
Net Assets With Donor Restrictions - These net assets are subject to donor-imposed 
restrictions to be used for specific purposes.  Net assets are released from donor 
restrictions by incurring expenses satisfying the restricted purposes or by occurrence of the 
passage of time or other events specified by donors.  At that time, net assets with donor 
restrictions are reclassified to net assets without donor restrictions and reported in the 
Statement of Activities as net assets released from restrictions.  The Charter School had no 
net assets with donor restrictions as of June 30, 2020. 

 
C. Basis of Accounting 

 
The financial statements were prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America as applicable to not-for-profit organizations.  Basis 
of accounting refers to when revenues and expenses are recognized in the accounts and 
reported on the financial statements.  The Charter School uses the accrual basis of 
accounting.  Revenues are recognized when they are earned and expenses are recognized 
in the accounting period in which the liability is incurred. 
 



CHICO COUNTRY DAY CHARTER SCHOOL 
(A California Non-Profit Public Benefit Corporation) 

 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 

 

 

8 

NOTE 1 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

D. Revenue Recognition  
 
Contributions and grants are recognized when the donor/grantor makes an unconditional 
promise to give to the Charter School or when received, whichever occurs first. Donor-
restricted contributions and grants are reported as increases in net assets with donor 
restrictions.  Net assets are released from donor restrictions by incurring expenses 
satisfying the restricted purposes or by occurrence of the passage of time or other events 
specified by donors.  At that time, net assets with donor restrictions are reclassified to net 
assets without donor restrictions and reported in the Statement of Activities as net assets 
released from restrictions. Government grants are recognized as revenue in accordance 
with the terms of the applicable grant agreement, which is generally upon the incurrence of 
expenses related to the required services.  Per-pupil funding from the California Department 
of Education is recognized as revenue by the Charter School based on the average daily 
attendance (ADA) of students. 
 

E. Cash, Cash Equivalents and Concentration of Credit Risk 
 
The Charter School maintains cash in commercial bank accounts that are insured to 
$250,000 by the Federal Depository Insurance Corporation (FDIC).  At times, cash in these 
accounts exceeds the insured amounts.  The Charter School has not experienced any 
losses in such accounts and believes it is not exposed to any significant credit risk on its 
cash and cash equivalents.  For purposes of the statement of cash flows, the Charter 
School considers all highly liquid investments with an initial maturity of three months or less 
to be cash equivalents. 
 

F. Accounts Receivable 
 

 The Charter School considers accounts receivable to be fully collectible; accordingly, no 
allowance for doubtful accounts is required.  If amounts become uncollectible, they will be 
charged to operations when that determination is made. 
 

G. Prepaid Expenses 
 

Prepaid expenses reflect payments made in the current fiscal year for expenses related to 
future periods.     
 

H. Property and Equipment 
 
All acquisitions or improvements of property and equipment and all expenditures for repairs, 
maintenance, renewals, and betterments exceeding $5,000 that materially prolong the 
useful lives of assets are capitalized. All capital assets are capitalized at cost, or in the case 
of donated equipment, fair market value on the date of receipt, and depreciated using the 
straight-line method over their estimated useful lives of 3 to 50 years.   
 



CHICO COUNTRY DAY CHARTER SCHOOL 
(A California Non-Profit Public Benefit Corporation) 

 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 

 

 

9 

NOTE 1 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
I. Deferred Revenue 

 
Cash received for federal and state special projects and programs is recognized as revenue 
to the extent that qualified expenses have been incurred.  Deferred revenue is recorded to 
the extent that cash received on specific projects and programs exceeds qualified 
expenses.   
 

J. Compensated Absences 
  
Compensated absences balance represents vacation pay earned but unpaid as of June 30 
of the fiscal year. 
 

K. Donated Materials, Services, and Facilities 
  
In-kind contributions are recorded at their estimated fair values at the date of donation.  
Donated services are recorded when they create or enhance non-financial assets or require 
a specialized skill that the Charter School would otherwise need to purchase. 
 

L. Use of Estimates 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting 
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and 
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported mounts of income and 
expenses during the reporting period.  Accordingly, actual results could differ from those 
estimates. 
 

M. Income Taxes  
 
Chico Country Day Charter School has been granted tax-exempt status under Internal 
Revenue Code Section 501(c)(3) and Section 23701(d) of the California Revenue and 
Taxation Code. There is no unrelated taxable income and, accordingly, no provision for 
income taxes has been reflected in these financial statements.  
 

N. Oversight  
 
The Chico Unified School District receives 1% of the Charter School’s annual revenues 
from LCFF sources for monitoring and supervisory responsibility.  
 

O. Functional Classification of Expenses 
 
The costs of the program and supporting services have been summarized on a functional 
basis in the Statement of Activities.  The Statement of Functional Expenses presents the 
natural classification detail of expenses by function.  Accordingly, certain costs have been 
allocated among the programs and supporting services benefited on a reasonable basis 
that is consistently applied.  The Charter School classifies its expenses based on the 
following categories: 
 



CHICO COUNTRY DAY CHARTER SCHOOL 
(A California Non-Profit Public Benefit Corporation) 

 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 

 

 

10 

NOTE 1 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONCLUDED) 
 

O. Functional Classification of Expenses (Concluded) 
 
Program Services 

• Instruction and instructional related programs 
• Special education 
• Field trips 

 Supporting Activities 

• Administration and business office staff 
• Professional services 
• Insurance 

 
NOTE 2 - CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

 
  Cash on Hand and in Banks $ 2,468,870  

  
  
 Cash on Hand and in Banks 
 
 Cash on hand and in banks consists of all cash held by the Charter School and all cash 

maintained in commercial FDIC insured bank accounts within various financial institutions. 
 
NOTE 3 - ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 
 
 Receivables at June 30, 2020 consist of the following: 
  

Federal Government $ 74,262      

State Government 712,827    

Local Governments 22,629      

Miscellaneous 5,511        

    Total  $ 815,229    
 

 



CHICO COUNTRY DAY CHARTER SCHOOL 
(A California Non-Profit Public Benefit Corporation) 

 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 

 

 

11 

NOTE 4 - PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT  
 
Property and equipment activity for the year ended June 30, 2020, is shown below: 
 

Land $ 186,105        $ 186,105         

Buildings and Improvements 9,963,378     9,963,378      

Leasehold Improvements 55,501          $ 64,377        119,878         

Equipment 6,114            6,114             
Construction-in-Progress 15,500          48,877        $ 64,377      0                    

Totals at Historical Cost 10,226,598   113,254      64,377 10,275,475    

Less Accumulated Depreciation for:  

Buildings and Improvements 1,329,659     234,863      1,564,522      

Leasehold Improvements 16,954          5,457          22,411           
Equipment 6,114            6,114             

Total Accumulated Depreciation 1,352,727     240,320      0               1,593,047      

Property and Equipment, net $ 8,873,871     $ (127,066)    $ 64,377      $ 8,682,428      

DeletionsAdditions June 30, 2020
Balances

July 1, 2019
Balances

 
 
NOTE 5 - LIQUIDITY AND AVAILABILITY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS 
 
 The Charter School has $3,284,099 of financial assets available within one year of the 

balance sheet date to meet cash needs for general expenditure consisting of cash and cash 
equivalents of $2,468,870 and accounts receivable of $815,229.  None of the financial 
assets are subject to donor or other contractual restrictions that make them unavailable for 
general expenditure within one year of the balance sheet date.  The accounts receivable 
are subject to implied time restrictions but are expected to be collected within one year.   

 
 The Charter School has a goal to maintain financial assets, which consist of cash and cash 

equivalents, on hand to meet 60 days of normal operating expenses, which are, on 
average, approximately $575,000.  The Charter School has a policy to structure its financial 
assets to be available as its general expenses, liabilities, and other obligations come due.  
In addition, as part of its liquidity management, the Charter School invests cash in excess of 
daily requirements in various short-term investments, including certificate of deposits. 

 
NOTE 6 - NOTE PAYABLE 
  
 On June 30, 2020, the Charter School was granted a loan from a financial institution in the 

aggregate amount of $640,997, pursuant to the Paycheck Protection Program (the “PPP”) 
under Division A, Title I of the CARES Act, which was enacted March 27, 2020.  The loan, 
which was in the form of a note matures five years from the date of the loan and bears 
interest at a rate of 1.00% per annum.  The note may be prepaid at any time prior to 
maturity with no prepayment penalties.  Funds from the loan may only be used for payroll 
costs, costs used to continue group health care benefits, mortgage payments, rent, utilities, 
and interest on other debt obligations incurred before February 15, 2020. 



CHICO COUNTRY DAY CHARTER SCHOOL 
(A California Non-Profit Public Benefit Corporation) 

 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 

 

 

12 

NOTE 6 - NOTE PAYABLE (CONCLUDED) 
  
 The Charter School used 100% of the loan proceeds for payroll. Under the terms of the 

PPP, certain amounts of the loan may be forgiven if they are used for qualifying expenses 
as described in the CARES Act.  The Charter School is planning on submitting an 
application for loan forgiveness during fiscal year 2020-21.  If the Charter School is not 
approved for forgiveness of the loan, the Charter School will be required to make monthly 
payments of principal and interest over five (5) years.  The payments are deferred until the 
date that is ten (10) months from the earlier of (a) 24 weeks after disbursement of the loan 
or (b) December 31, 2020. 

 
NOTE 7 - CAPITAL LEASE 
 

On April 13, 2011, the Charter School entered into a Charter School Facilities Program 
(CSFP) funding agreement with the State Allocation Board and the California School 
Finance Authority. Under the terms of the agreement, the California School Finance 
Authority agreed to provide financing to cover the Charter School’s fifty percent (50%) local 
matching share of approved project costs related to the construction and acquisition of 
certain Charter School facilities.  During 2013-14, the Charter School received $3,977,825 
from the California School Finance Authority in the form of lease proceeds. 

 
In accordance with the terms of the agreement, the Charter School was not required to 
make lease payments until after the final terms of the lease were determined.  The final 
terms of the agreement were finalized at an interest rate of 2% in the 2015-16 fiscal year.  
Future minimum lease payments are as follows: 
 

$ 117,248 $ 68,980 $ 186,228
119,605 66,623 186,228
122,009 64,219 186,228
124,461 61,767 186,228
126,963 59,265 186,228
674,135 257,005 931,140
744,665 186,475 931,140
822,573 108,567 931,140
626,490 25,307 651,797

Totals $ 3,478,149 $ 898,208 $ 4,376,357

Year Ended
June 30 Principal

2021
2022
2023

Interest Totals

2036-2040
2041-2045

2024

2026-2030
2031-2035

2025

 
 
The cost of the facilities was $7,830,542, and accumulated depreciation was $939,665 as 
of June 30, 2020, resulting in a net book value of $6,890,877. 

 
NOTE 8 - OPERATING LEASES 
 
 The Charter School has entered into various operating lease agreements for copiers, 

computers, and a server with lease terms in excess of one year. None of these agreements 
contain purchase options. All agreements contain a termination clause providing for 
cancellation after a specified number of days written notice to lessors, but it is unlikely that 
the Charter School will cancel any of the agreements prior to the expiration dates.   



CHICO COUNTRY DAY CHARTER SCHOOL 
(A California Non-Profit Public Benefit Corporation) 

 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 

 

 

13 

NOTE 9 - BOARD DESIGNATED NET ASSETS 
 
 The Board did not have any designated net assets as of June 30, 2020. 
 
NOTE 10 - EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT SYSTEMS 
  

Qualified employees are covered under multiple-employer contributory retirement plans 
maintained by agencies of the State of California. Certificated employees are members of 
the California State Teachers' Retirement System (CalSTRS) and classified employees are 
members of the California Public Employees' Retirement System (CalPERS). 

 
A. California State Teachers' Retirement System (CalSTRS) 
 
 Plan Description 
 

The Charter School contributes to the State Teachers’ Retirement System (CalSTRS), a 
cost-sharing multiple-employer public employee retirement system defined benefit pension 
plan administered by CalSTRS.  The plan provides retirement, disability, and survivor 
benefits to plan members and beneficiaries. Benefit provisions are established by State 
statutes, as legislatively amended, within the State Teachers’ Retirement Law.  CalSTRS 
issues a separate comprehensive annual financial report that includes financial statements 
and required supplementary information.  Copies of the CalSTRS annual financial report 
may be obtained from the CalSTRS Executive Office, 100 Waterfront Place, West 
Sacramento, California 95605. 

 
Funding Policy 

 
Active plan members first hired on or before December 31, 2012, are required to contribute 
10.25% of their salary, and members first hired on or after January 1, 2013, are required to 
contribute 10.205% of their salary, and the Charter School is required to contribute an 
actuarially determined rate. The actuarial methods and assumptions used for determining 
the rate are those adopted by the CalSTRS Teachers' Retirement Board.  The required 
employer contribution rate for fiscal year 2019-20 was 17.10% of annual payroll.  The 
contribution requirements of the plan members are established by State statute.  The 
Charter School’s contributions to CalSTRS for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2020, 2019, 
and 2018 were $369,086, $329,677, and $286,339, respectively, and equal 100% of the 
required contributions for each year.   

 
B. California Public Employees’ Retirement System (CalPERS) 
 

Plan Description  
 

The Charter School contributes to the School Employer Pool under the California Public 
Employees’ Retirement System (CalPERS), a cost-sharing multiple-employer public 
employee retirement system defined benefit pension plan administered by CalPERS.  The 
plan provides retirement and disability benefits, annual cost-of-living adjustments, and 
death benefits to plan members and beneficiaries.  Benefit provisions are established by 
State statutes, as legislatively amended, within the Public Employees’ Retirement Law.  
CalPERS issues a separate comprehensive annual financial report that includes financial 
statements and required supplementary information. Copies of the CalPERS annual 
financial report may be obtained from the CalPERS Executive Office, 400 Q Street, 
Sacramento, CA 95811. 



CHICO COUNTRY DAY CHARTER SCHOOL 
(A California Non-Profit Public Benefit Corporation) 

 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 

 

 

14 

NOTE 10 - EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT SYSTEMS (CONCLUDED) 
 
B. California Public Employees’ Retirement System (CalPERS) (Concluded) 

 
Funding Policy  

 
Active plan members who entered into the plan prior to January 1, 2013 are required to 
contribute 7.0% of their salary.  The California Public Employee’s Pension Reform Act 
(PEPRA) specifies that new members entering the plan on or after January 1, 2013, shall 
pay the higher of 50.0% of normal costs or 7.0% of their salary, and the Charter School is 
required to contribute an actuarially determined rate.  The actuarial methods and 
assumptions used for determining the rate are those adopted by the CalPERS Board of 
Administration.  The required employer contribution rate for fiscal year 2019-20 was 
19.721%.  The contribution requirements of the plan members are established by State 
statute.  The Charter School’s contributions to CalPERS for the fiscal years ended          
June 30, 2020, 2019, and 2018 were $151,047, $121,818, and $103,605, respectively, and 
equal 100% of the required contributions for each year.  

 
C. Social Security 
 

As established by Federal law, all public sector employees who are not members of their 
employer’s existing retirement system (CalSTRS or CalPERS) must be covered by social 
security or an alternative plan. The Charter School has elected to use Social Security as its 
alternative plan. Contributions made by the Charter School and an employee vest 
immediately.  Both the Charter School and participating employees were required to 
contribute 6.2% of an employee’s gross earnings, up to the annual limit.      

 
NOTE 11 - RISK MANAGEMENT 
 

The Charter School is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts, theft of, damage to, 
and destruction of assets; errors and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural 
disasters.  The Charter School has purchased, through the Charter Safe JPA, various 
insurance policies for property and liability and workers’ compensation insurance coverage. 
There were no significant reductions in coverage during the year. 

 
NOTE 12 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
 
A. State and Federal Allowances, Awards and Grants  
 

The Charter School has received state funds for specific purposes that are subject to review 
and audit by the grantor agencies. Although such audits could generate expense 
disallowances under terms of the grants, it is believed that any required reimbursements will 
not be material. 

 
B. Litigation 
 

The Charter School is subject to various legal proceedings and claims. In the opinion of 
management, the ultimate liability with respect to these actions will not materially affect the 
financial position or results of operations of the Charter School.   

 



CHICO COUNTRY DAY CHARTER SCHOOL 
(A California Non-Profit Public Benefit Corporation) 

 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 

 

 

15 

NOTE 13 - ECONOMIC DEPENDENCY 
 
 The Charter School received $50,000 from the Parent Teacher Partnership.  These 

donations are subject to voluntary public contributions, and were used to support various 
programs within the Charter School. 

 
NOTE 14 - GLOBAL PANDEMIC 
 

On January 30, 2020, the World Health Organization declared the coronavirus outbreak a 
“Public Health Emergency of International Concern” and on March 10, 2020, declared it to 
be a pandemic. Actions taken around the world to help mitigate the spread of the 
coronavirus includes restriction on travel, quarantine in certain areas, and forced closure for 
certain type of public spaces and businesses. The coronavirus and actions taken to mitigate 
it have had and are expected to continue to have an adverse impact on local education 
agencies throughout the United States, especially those located in California. While it is 
unknown how long these conditions will last and what the complete financial effect will be 
on local education agencies, to date, the Charter School has not experienced any 
significant negative financial impact.  However, due to the existence of significant economic 
impacts at the Federal, State, and Local government levels, it is reasonably possible that 
the Charter School will be vulnerable to the risk of a near-term severe impact from the 
coronavirus. 

 
NOTE 15 - SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 

The Charter School’s management has evaluated events or transactions that occurred for 
possible recognition or disclosure in the financial statements from the balance sheet date 
through December 21, 2020, which is the date the financial statements were available to be 
issued.  Management has determined that there were no subsequent events or transactions 
that require disclosure in or adjustment to the current year financial statements, except as 
noted below. 
 

 LINE OF CREDIT 
 
 On July 23, 2020, the Charter School obtained a line of credit, with Northern California 

National Bank, in the amount of $250,000 at an interest rate of prime plus 1.00% with a 
floor of 4.25%.  The line of credit expired on July 23, 2021.   
 
 



 

 

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION SECTION 
 



 

16 

 

CHICO COUNTRY DAY CHARTER SCHOOL 
(A California Non-Profit Public Benefit Corporation) 

 
ORGANIZATION/BOARD OF DIRECTORS/ADMINISTRATION 

 
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 

 
 

ORGANIZATION 

 
The Chico Country Day Charter School was established in June 1996 through authority 
established in Education Code Section 47600, and became an independent 501(c)(3) 
organization in 2004.  The Charter School is located in Chico, California. The Charter School 
currently operates a K-8 elementary school and is sponsored by the Chico Unified School District. 
    

 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

 
    Name    Office    Term Expires 
 
  Jessika Lawrence Chair 2022 
 
  Chris Constantin Vice Chair 2022 
 
  Fawn Ruby Secretary 2022 
   
  Michele Mittman Treasurer 2022 
 
  Jamie Clyde Member 2022 
 
  Thang Ho Member 2022 
  
  Nicole Plottel Member 2022 
 
 

 
ADMINISTRATION 

 
Margaret Reece 

Chief Business Officer 
 

Wendy Fairon 
Director of Education 

 
Colly Fischer 

Dean of Students 
 

Amie Parent 
Director of Student Support Services 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  



Classroom- Classroom-
Grade Level Based Totals Based Totals

TK / K - 3 237.38      239.56   237.38      239.56   

Grades 4-6 178.25      179.89   178.25      179.89   

Grades 7-8 115.13      116.18   115.13      116.18   

Totals 530.76      535.63   530.76      535.63   

P-2 Report Annual Report

CHICO COUNTRY DAY CHARTER SCHOOL
(A California Non-Profit Public Benefit Corporation)

SCHEDULE OF AVERAGE DAILY ATTENDANCE

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020

SEE NOTES TO SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

17



 

SEE NOTES TO SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 

18 

CHICO COUNTRY DAY CHARTER SCHOOL 
(A California Non-Profit Public Benefit Corporation) 

 
SCHEDULE OF INSTRUCTIONAL TIME 

 
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 

 

 

Grade Level

Kindergarten

Grade  1

Grade  2

Grade  3

Grade  4

Grade  5

Grade  6

Grade  7

Grade  8

N/A In Compliance

54,000 58,830 178 N/A In Compliance

54,000 58,830 178

N/A In Compliance

54,000 58,830 178 N/A In Compliance

54,000 56,355 178

N/A In Compliance

54,000 56,355 178 N/A In Compliance

50,400 53,685 178

N/A In Compliance

50,400 51,905 178 N/A In Compliance

50,400 51,905 178

Calendar Status

36,000 53,750 178 N/A In Compliance

Required Minutes Calendar

of Days

Minutes Actual Traditional Multitrack

Number Number

2019-20 of Days

 
 
 

 



 

SEE NOTES TO SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 

19 

CHICO COUNTRY DAY CHARTER SCHOOL 
(A California Non-Profit Public Benefit Corporation) 

 
RECONCILIATION OF ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT WITH AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 

 
 

Auditor's Comments 
 
The audited financial statements were in agreement with the Annual Financial Report for the fiscal 
year ended June 30, 2020. 
 
 



 

20 

CHICO COUNTRY DAY CHARTER SCHOOL 
(A California Non-Profit Public Benefit Corporation) 

 
NOTES TO SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 

 
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 

 
 
 
NOTE 1 - PURPOSE OF SCHEDULES 
 
A.  Schedule of Average Daily Attendance 
 

Average daily attendance is a measurement of the number of pupils attending classes of 
the Charter School.  The purpose of attendance accounting from a fiscal standpoint is to 
provide the basis on which apportionments of state funds are made to charter schools.  
This schedule provides information regarding the attendance of classroom-based and non-
classroom-based students reported by grade span. 
 

B. Schedule of Instructional Time 
 

Education Code Section 47612.5 requires classroom-based charter schools to offer a 
minimum number of minutes of instruction.  This schedule presents information on the 
amount of instructional time offered by the Charter School and whether the Charter School 
complied with the provisions of Education Code Section 47612.5(a)(1).  The Charter School 
submitted the Covid-19 School Closure Certification on June 29, 2020 and reported 49 total 
number of instructional days school closed due to Covid-19. 
 

C. Reconciliation of Annual Financial Report with Audited Financial Statements 
 

This schedule provides the information necessary to reconcile the net assets as reported in 
the Annual Financial Report to the audited financial statements. 
 
 
 



 

 

OTHER INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORTS SECTION 



STEPHEN ROATCH ACCOUNTANCY CORPORATION 

Certified Public Accountants 

21 

P.O. Box 2196 / Folsom, CA 95763 / Phone (916) 966-3883 / Fax (916) 966-3815 

 
 
 
 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL 
REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH 
GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

 
 
 

 
 
Board of Directors 
Chico Country Day Charter School 
Chico, California 
 
We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government 
Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial 
statements of Chico Country Day Charter School, a California non-profit public benefit 
corporation, which comprise the statement of financial position as of June 30, 2020, and the 
related statements of activities, functional expenses, and cash flows for the year then ended, and 
the related notes to the financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated   
December 21, 2020. 
 
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered Chico Country 
Day Charter School’s internal control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our 
opinion on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of Chico Country Day Charter School’s internal control.  Accordingly, we do not 
express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Charter School’s internal control.  
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to 
prevent, or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis.  A material weakness is a 
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable 
possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or 
detected and corrected on a timely basis.  A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination 
of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important 
enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.    
 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of 
this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be 
material weaknesses or significant deficiencies and therefore, material weaknesses or significant 
deficiencies may exist that have not been identified.  Given these limitations, during our audit we 
did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses.  
We did identify a certain deficiency in internal control, described in the accompanying Schedule of 
Findings and Questioned Costs, that we consider to be a significant deficiency, as noted in 
Finding 2020-001. 
 



 

22 

Board of Directors 
Chico Country Day Charter School 
Page Two 
 
 
Compliance and Other Matters 
 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether Chico Country Day Charter School’s 
financial statements are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance 
with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with 
which could have a direct and material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. 
However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our 
audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.  The results of our tests disclosed no 
instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government 
Auditing Standards. 
 
Charter School’s Response to Finding 
 
Chico Country Day Charter School’s response to the finding identified in our audit is described in 
the accompanying Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs.  Chico Country Day Charter 
School’s response was not subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the 
financial statements and, accordingly, we express no opinion on it. 
 
Purpose of this Report 
 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the entity’s internal control or on compliance.  This report is an integral part of an audit performed 
in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and 
compliance.  Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 
 
 

     Stephen Roatch Accountancy Corporation 
 
 STEPHEN ROATCH ACCOUNTANCY CORPORATION 
 Certified Public Accountants 
 
December 21, 2020 



STEPHEN ROATCH ACCOUNTANCY CORPORATION 

Certified Public Accountants 

23 

P.O. Box 2196 / Folsom, CA 95763 / Phone (916) 966-3883 / Fax (916) 966-3815 

 
 
 
 
 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT ON STATE COMPLIANCE 
 
 
 
 

 
Board of Directors 
Chico Country Day Charter School 
Chico, California 

 
Report on State Compliance 
 
We have audited Chico Country Day Charter School’s compliance with the types of compliance 
requirements described in the 2019-20 Guide for Annual Audits of K-12 Local Educational 
Agencies and State Compliance Reporting that could have a direct and material effect on each of 
the Charter School’s state programs identified on the following page for the fiscal year ended         
June 30, 2020.   
 
Management’s Responsibility 
 
Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements of state laws and regulations 
applicable to its state programs. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for each of the Charter School’s state 
programs based on our audit of the types of compliance requirements referred to above.  We 
conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in 
the United States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in 
Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and the 
2019-20 Guide for Annual Audits of K-12 Local Educational Agencies and State Compliance 
Reporting (Audit Guide), prescribed in the California Code of Regulations, Title 5, section 19810 
and following.  Those standards and the Audit Guide require that we plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether noncompliance with the types of compliance 
requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on the Charter 
School’s state programs occurred.  An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence about 
Chico Country Day Charter School’s compliance with those requirements and performing such 
other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances.   
 
We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance with state 
laws and regulations.  Our audit does not provide a legal determination of Chico Country Day 
Charter School’s compliance with those requirements. 
 
In connection with the audit referred to above, we selected and tested transactions and records to 
determine Chico Country Day Charter School’s compliance with state laws and regulations 
applicable to the following items: 
 



 

24 

 

 

Board of Directors 
Chico Country Day Charter School 
Page Two 
 
   Procedures 
Description  Performed 
 
Local Education Agencies Other Than Charter Schools: 
 Attendance  Not Applicable 
 Teacher Certification and Misassignments  Not Applicable 
 Kindergarten Continuance  Not Applicable 
 Independent Study  Not Applicable 
 Continuation Education  Not Applicable 
 Instructional Time   Not Applicable 
 Instructional Materials   Not Applicable 
 Ratios of Administrative Employees to Teachers  Not Applicable 
 Classroom Teacher Salaries  Not Applicable 
 Early Retirement Incentive  Not Applicable 
 Gann Limit Calculation  Not Applicable 
 School Accountability Report Card  Not Applicable 
 Juvenile Court Schools  Not Applicable 
 Middle or Early College High Schools  Not Applicable 
 K-3 Grade Span Adjustment  Not Applicable 
 Transportation Maintenance of Effort  Not Applicable 
 Apprenticeship: Related and Supplemental Instruction  Not Applicable 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan  Not Applicable 
 District of Choice  Not Applicable 

 
School Districts, County Offices of Education, and Charter Schools: 
 California Clean Energy Jobs Act  No (see below) 
 After/Before School Education and Safety Program  Not Applicable 
 Proper Expenditure of Education Protection Account Funds  Yes 
 Unduplicated Local Control Funding Formula Pupil Counts  Yes 
 Local Control and Accountability Plan  Yes 
 Independent Study-Course Based  Not Applicable 
 
Charter Schools: 
 Attendance   Yes 
 Mode of Instruction  Yes 
 Nonclassroom-Based Instruction/Independent Study  No (see below) 
 Determination of Funding for Nonclassroom-Based Instruction   Not Applicable 
 Annual Instructional Minutes - Classroom Based  Yes 
 Charter School Facility Grant Program  Not Applicable 
 
We did not perform procedures for the California Clean Energy Jobs Act because the Charter 
School did not expend any program funding or have any other reporting requirements during fiscal 
year 2019-20.  
 
We did not perform procedures for the nonclassroom-based instruction/independent study for 
charter schools because the ADA claimed by the Charter School did not exceed the threshold that 
requires testing. 
 
Opinion on State Compliance 
 
In our opinion, Chico Country Day Charter School complied, in all material respects, with the types 
of compliance requirements referred to above for the year ended June 30, 2020. 



 

25 

 

 

Board of Directors 
Chico Country Day Charter School 
Page Three 
 
 
Purpose of this Report 
 
The purpose of this report on compliance is solely to describe the scope of our testing of 
compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the 2019-20 Guide for 
Annual Audits of K-12 Local Educational Agencies and State Compliance Reporting.  Accordingly, 
this report is not suitable for any other purpose. 
 
 

  Stephen Roatch Accountancy Corporation  
 

 STEPHEN ROATCH ACCOUNTANCY CORPORATION 
 Certified Public Accountants 
 
December 21, 2020 
 



 

 

FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS SECTION 
 



Financial Statements

Type of auditor's report issued:

Internal control over financial reporting:

Material weaknesses identified? Yes X No

Significant deficiencies identified not considered

   to be material weaknesses? X Yes None reported

Noncompliance material to financial statements noted? Yes X No

State Awards

Any audit findings required to be reported in accordance
with the 2019-20 Guide for Annual Audits of K-12 Local

Educational Agencies and State Compliance Reporting? Yes X No

Type of auditor's report issued on compliance for

state programs:

SECTION I - SUMMARY OF AUDITOR'S RESULTS

Unmodified

Unmodified

CHICO COUNTRY DAY CHARTER SCHOOL
(A California Non-Profit Public Benefit Corporation)

SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020

26



CHICO COUNTRY DAY CHARTER SCHOOL 
(A California Non-Profit Public Benefit Corporation) 

 
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 

 
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 

 
 

 

27 
 

SECTION II - FINANCIAL STATEMENT FINDINGS  
 
2020 - 001 / 30000 
 
CONFLICT OF INTEREST FORMS 
 
Criteria: A Statement of Economic Interests (Form 700) is required to be 

submitted to the Charter School by April 1st of each year.  The April 
1st deadline was extended to June 1st for the 2019-20 fiscal year.  
For initial statements of elected officials, forms should be submitted 
30 days after assuming office. 

 
Conditions:  A recent Form 700 was not available for several Board members.   
 
Questioned Cost: None.   
 
Context: Two of the seven Board members did not have a recent Form 700 

on file with the Charter School. 
 
Effects: There is no way to identify if potential conflicts of interest exist for 

the two Board members. 
 
Cause: Despite several requests from the Charter School business office, 

Board members have not completed and filed Form 700. 
 
Recommendation: The Board members who do not have a recent form on file should 

be instructed to complete and file Form 700 as soon as possible.   
 
Charter Response:  The Charter School will ensure that all board members file a     

Form 700. 
 
 



CHICO COUNTRY DAY CHARTER SCHOOL 
(A California Non-Profit Public Benefit Corporation) 

 
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 

 
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 

 
 

 

28 
 

SECTION III - STATE AWARD FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 
 

There are no matters to report for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020. 

 



CHICO COUNTRY DAY CHARTER SCHOOL 
 (A California Non-Profit Public Benefit Corporation) 

 
STATUS OF PRIOR YEAR RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 

 
 

 
 

Recommendations 

 
 

Current Status 

 
Explanation If Not 
Fully Implemented 

 

29 
 

STATE AWARDS  
 
2019 - 001 / 10000 
 
VACATION CARRYOVER 
 

  

The Charter School should consider 
paying off the two employees the 
value of excess vacation 
accumulated prior to implementing 
the vacation policy.   
 
In addition, the Charter School 
should encourage employees to use 
the excess accumulated vacation 
time by the end of each fiscal year.  
The Charter School should also 
consider paying off employee(s) for 
the value of any excess vacation not 
taken by the end of the fiscal year. 
 

Implemented 
 
 
 
 
 

Implemented 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

  



Comprehensive School Safety Plan 1 of 31 1/22/21 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 
SB 187 Compliance Document 

2020-2021 
School Year 

School: Chico Country Day Charter School 

CDS Code: 04614246113773 

District: Chico Country Day School 

Address: 102 West 11th Street 
Chico 

Date of Adoption: February 10, 2021 
 
 

Approved by: 

Name Title Signature Date 

Jessica Lawrence Chair, Chico Country Day 
Board of Directors 

Michele Mittman Treasurer, Chico Country 
Day Board of Directors 

Fawn Ruby Secretary, Chico Country Day 
Board of Directors 

Jamie Clyde Member, Chico Country Day 
Board of Directors 

Thang Ho Member, Chico Country Day 
Board of Directors 

Nicole Plottel Member, Chico Country Day 
Board of Directors 

DRAFT



Comprehensive School Safety Plan 2 of 31 1/22/21 

 
Table of Contents 

 
Senate Bill 187: Comprehensive School Safety Plan Purpose ....................................................................................................................4 

Safety Plan Vision ...................................................................................................................................................................................4 

Components of the Comprehensive School Safety Plan (EC 32281) ..........................................................................................................5 

(A) Child Abuse Reporting Procedures (EC 35294.2 [a] [2]; PC 11166) ..................................................................................................5 

(B) Disaster Procedures (EC 35295-35297; GC 8607 and 3100) .............................................................................................................6 

(C) School Suspension, Expulsion and Mandatory Expulsion Guidelines ...............................................................................................7 

(D) Procedures to Notify Teachers of Dangerous Pupils (EC 49079) ....................................................................................................10 

(E) Sexual Harassment Policies (EC 212.6 [b]) ......................................................................................................................................10 

(F) School-wide Dress Code Relating to Gang-Related Apparel (EC 35183) .........................................................................................11 

(G) Procedure for Safe Ingress and Egress of Pupils, Parents, and Staff to and from School (EC 35294.2) .........................................11 

(H) A Safe and Orderly School Environment Conducive to Learning (EC 35294.2) ..............................................................................12 

(I) School Discipline Rules and Consequences (EC 35291 and EC 35291.5) .........................................................................................16 

(J) Hate Crime Reporting Procedures and Policies ...............................................................................................................................18 

Safety Plan Review, Evaluation and Amendment Procedures .................................................................................................................19 

Safety Plan Appendices ............................................................................................................................................................................20 

Emergency Contact Numbers ..............................................................................................................................................................21 

Safety Plan Review, Evaluation and Amendment Procedures .............................................................................................................22 

Chico Country Day Charter School Incident Command System ...........................................................................................................23 

Incident Command Team Responsibilities ...........................................................................................................................................25 

Emergency Response Guidelines .........................................................................................................................................................26 

Step One: Identify the Type of Emergency ..........................................................................................................................................26 

Step Two: Identify the Level of Emergency ..........................................................................................................................................26 

Step Three: Determine the Immediate Response Action ....................................................................................................................26 

Step Four: Communicate the Appropriate Response Action ...............................................................................................................26 

Types of Emergencies & Specific Procedures .......................................................................................................................................27 

Aircraft Crash ...................................................................................................................................................................................27 

Animal Disturbance ..........................................................................................................................................................................27 

Armed Assault on Campus ...............................................................................................................................................................27 

DRAFT



Comprehensive School Safety Plan 3 of 31 1/22/21 

Biological or Chemical Release .........................................................................................................................................................28 

Bomb Threat/ Threat Of violence ....................................................................................................................................................28 

Bus Disaster ......................................................................................................................................................................................28 

Disorderly Conduct ..........................................................................................................................................................................28 

Earthquake .......................................................................................................................................................................................28 

Explosion or Risk Of Explosion .........................................................................................................................................................29 

Fire in Surrounding Area ..................................................................................................................................................................29 

Fire on School Grounds ....................................................................................................................................................................29 

Flooding ...........................................................................................................................................................................................29 

Loss or Failure Of Utilities ................................................................................................................................................................29 

Motor Vehicle Crash ........................................................................................................................................................................30 

Psychological Trauma .......................................................................................................................................................................30 

Suspected Contamination of Food or Water ...................................................................................................................................30 

Unlawful Demonstration or Walkout ...............................................................................................................................................30 

Emergency Evacuation Map .................................................................................................................................................................31 

 DRAFT



Comprehensive School Safety Plan 4 of 31 1/22/21 

 
Senate Bill 187: Comprehensive School Safety Plan Purpose 
 
The California Education Code (sections 32280-32288) outlines the requirements of all schools operating any kindergarten and any 
grades 1 to 12, inclusive, to write and develop a school safety plan relevant to the needs and resources of that particular school. 
 
In 2004, the Legislature and Governor recast and renumbered the Comprehensive School Safety Plan provisions in SB 719 and AB 
115. It is the intent ofthe Legislature in enacting the provisions to support California public schools as they develop their mandated 
comprehensive safety plans that are the result of a systematic planning process, that include strategies aimed at the prevention of, 
and education about, potential incidents involving crime and violence on school campuses. 
 
The historical requirement of the Comprehensive School Safety Plan was presented in Senate Bill 187, which was approved by the 
Governor and chaptered in 1997. This legislation contained a sunset clause that stated that this legislation would remain in effect 
only until January I, 2000. Senate Bill 334 was approved and chaptered in 1999 and perpetuated this legislation under the 
requirement of the initial legislation. 
 
Comprehensive School Safety Plans are required under SB 719 & AB 115 and contains the following elements: 
 
Assessment of school crime committed on school campuses and at school-related functions 

• Child abuse reporting procedures 
• Disaster procedures 
• Suspension and expulsion policies 
• Procedures to notify teachers of dangerous pupils 
• Discrimination and harassment policies 
• School wide dress code policies 
• Procedures for safe ingress and egress 
• Policies enacted to maintain a safe and orderly environment 
• Rules and procedures on school discipline 
• Hate crime reporting procedures 

 
The Comprehensive School Safety Plan will be reviewed and updated by March 1st every year. In July of every year, the school will 
report on the status of its school safety plan including a description of its key elements in the annual school accountability report 
card. 
 
A copy of the Comprehensive School Safety Plan is available for review at www.chicocountryday.org. 
 
Safety Plan Vision 
The mission of Chico Country Day School is to provide a safe, joyful community where all learners are inspired to achieve their 
personal best. Our core purpose is to educate student toward becoming engaged and thriving learners. CCDS has developed this 
Comprehensive School Safety Plan (CSSP) to ensure a safe learning. 
environment and site based emergency preparedness for all students, faculty and staff. Chico Country Day School (CCDS), a public 
charter school, was established in 1996 by local teachers, parents, and community members.  CCDS was unanimously re-approved 
by the Chico Unified School District September, 2019. 
 
 

DRAFT



Comprehensive School Safety Plan 5 of 31 1/22/21 

 
Components of the Comprehensive School Safety Plan (EC 32281) 
 
Chico Country Day Charter School Safety Committee 
Claudia Trout  (administrator), Margaret Reece (administrator) 
Anne- Marie Chik (staff),  Debbie Hardesty (staff), Jamie Saderup (staff), Lisa Hoppe (staff), Pamela Wilson (staff), Stacy Ferguson 
(staff), Stuart Langford (staff) 
Michele Mittman (parent/board member), Zach Plottel (parent), Nick, Bauer (parent), Irene Henkens (staff), Emily MacGibbon 
(staff), Wendy Fairon (administrator), Amie Parent (administrator) 
 
 
Assessment of School Safety 
School safety data sources include: 
Attendance Rates, Suspension/Expulsion Rates, Office Referrals, Student and Parent Surveys, Local Law Enforcement data, and 
anecdotal evidence 
 
 
Strategies and Programs to Provide and Maintain a High Level of Safety (EC 32281(a)1, items A-J) 
Chico Country Day School developed and implements a safety program that encompasses school emergencies, disaster procedures, 
crisis response, student safety, discipline and well-being. Students' best interests are at the core of all decisions we make and our 
purpose is to educate students toward becoming engaged and thriving learners. Our staff is trained in mandated reporting, first 
aid/cpr, CPI, yard supervision, and school norms and best practices for ingress and egress of the students. In addition, we have an 
incident team that has proven successful in all emergency situations. Each year, the safety committee meets to review and/or 
update our school plan. CCDS has implemented multi-tiered supports for student well-being and success. The components of all 
safety response include prevention, protection, mitigation, response and recovery. These include positive behavior supports, 
academic support, and social-emotional curriculum K-8. 
 
 
 
(A) Child Abuse Reporting Procedures (EC 35294.2 [a] [2]; PC 11166) 
California Penal Code section 11166 requires any teacher or child care custodian who has knowledge of, or observes, a child in his or 
her professional capacity or within the scope of his or her employment whom he or she knows or reasonably suspects has been the 
victim of child abuse to report the known or suspected instance of child abuse to a child protective agency immediately, or as soon 
as practically possible, by telephone and to prepare and send a written report thereof within thirty-six (36) hours of receiving the 
information concerning the incident. 
Employees may, but are not required, to report such incidents to the Administrator. Reporting such incidents to the Administrator 
does not relieve the Employee of responsibility to also immediately report such incidents to the appropriate child protective agency 
by telephone and to send a written report thereof within thirty-six (36) hours. Child protective agencies are the police, sheriff, 
probation, child protective services/welfare department. 
Child abuse is broadly defined as “a physical injury that is inflicted by other than accidental means on a child by another person” and 
includes: 
1. Physical abuse resulting in a non-accidental physical injury; 
2. Physical neglect, including both severe and general neglect, resulting in negligent treatment or maltreatment of a child; 
3. Sexual abuse including both sexual assault and sexual exploitation; and 
4. Emotional abuse and emotional deprivation including willful cruelty or unjustifiable punishment 
There is no duty for the reporter to contact the child’s parents. In fact, if a child is released to a peace officer or a child protective 
agency agent, the reporter shall not notify the parent as required in other instances of removal. 
When two or more persons who are required to report jointly have knowledge of or suspect an instance of child abuse, and when 
there is agreement among them, the telephone report may be made by any one of them who is selected by mutual agreement, and 
a single report may be made and signed by the person selected. However, if any person who knows or should know that the person 
designated to report failed to do so, that person then has a duty to make the report. 
The duty to report child abuse is an individual duty and no supervisor or administrator may impede or inhibit such reporting duties. 
 
 
 

DRAFT



Comprehensive School Safety Plan 6 of 31 1/22/21 

(B) Disaster Procedures (EC 35295-35297; GC 8607 and 3100) 
 
Disaster Plan (See Appendix C-F) 
FIRE DRILL and SCHOOL-WIDE EMERGENCY PLANS: 
 
The CCDS Earthquake Plan, Fire Drill and School-Wide Emergency Plan are included in this Safe School Plan. These procedures and 
assignments are updated on an annual basis or whenever necessary as a result of events or training, or best practices. 
 
School Wide Emergency Plans: 
 
When dialing 9-1-1 from campus phones, dial 9-9-1-1 
 
Fire Evacuation Procedures: 

• Sound the school alarm 
• Teachers and staff will 
• Bring the emergency binder. 
• Using your emergency door exits, clear rooms silently and close doors, leaving them unlocked. 
• Evacuate to the designated area on the field. Students walk to the fence (middle school students cross the street) and 

turn to face the middle of the field. 
• Maintain control of students at a safe distance from fire, fire personnel, and equipment. 
• Conduct roll call and display GREEN card if all students are accounted for or RED card if student(s) are missing. This 

includes students in special services. Administrator will clarify that students are accounted for when evacuation is 
complete. (When in doubt, put red out.) 

• An ALL CLEAR signal will be given indicating that conditions are safe to return to classrooms 

Earthquake Procedures: 
 Earthquakes strike without warning. Students and staff are to DROP, COVER, AND HOLD when inside building and DROP 

when outside buildings. 
 Inside School Building: Staff in charge implements DROP, COVER and HOLD. All students and staff should immediately 

turn and/or move away from glass areas and place themselves under tables and desks until shaking subsides. 
 Outside School Building: Staff in charge implements DROP. Move away from potential falling objects and into the open if 

possible. Drop and hold until shaking subsides. 
 The administrator or office staff will announce “Evacuate to the fire drill location” over the PA. Staff in charge will bring 

emergency binders, evacuate students, and close doors. Special consideration should be given to exit routes to ensure 
safety. 

 Take roll at the fire drill location and display RED or GREEN cards. 

Evacuation: 
 Alert: Administration or office staff will announce to staff “This is an evacuation to ...” by PA. 
 Staff and students will immediately vacate the buildings in an orderly fashion utilizing the evacuation routes. Take 

emergency binders and walkie talkies. 
 Follow directions from Incident Command Team. Maintain radio contact. 
 All staff will stay with students at the relocation site and take roll. If students are to be released to parents/guardians, the 

Family Reunification Process will ensue. 
 If the relocation site is unsafe, wait for the Incident Commander’s instructions. 
 An “ALL CLEAR” signal indicates conditions are safe for returning to buildings. 
 Assist persons who may need assistance and render first aid as necessary. 

Student Runaway Procedure 
 Keep the student in your sight at all times. 
 Follow student but do not chase 
 Communicate with main office through your walkie talkie 
 Contact police 
 Continue visual contact and remain on scene until police and parents are present and situation is under control 

DRAFT



Comprehensive School Safety Plan 7 of 31 1/22/21 

Security Alert (Code Yellow) 
 Alert (provided twice in two separate announcements): Administrator or office staff will announce to “Check email and 

monitor walkie talkies for a security alert” by PA. Runners will notify substitute teachers. 
 This is a precautionary alert where teaching day continues 
 Students stay in class, recess and dismissal may be altered or withheld depending on direction from law enforcement 
 Blinds closed, doors locked, gates locked 
 No entry or exit from campus until situation is resolved 
 Administrator or office staff will notify staff by PA to check email and monitor walkie talkies. Runners will notify 

substitute teachers. 
 If you are in the gym, use the access keys (hide-a-keys) to lock the doors from the interior. 

Lockdown Procedure (Code Red) 

 Alert (provided twice in two separate announcements): Administrator or office staff will announce “Lockdown. We are in 
lockdown with an outside threat. Staff and students in classrooms, lock doors, turn off lights, get low to the ground.” 

All Staff will: 
 Lock doors, turn off lights, close blinds, and account for students.Students will remain quiet 
 Immediately email lockdown@chicocountryday.org with “all present”/“students missing”/or “extra adults” in subject 

line. Do not call the office unless it is absolutely necessary. If you do not have email capability, the office will contact you 
via phone or walkie talkie. 

 Playground: Hurry to the closest building 
 Staff in Gym:lock doors 
 Lunch area: hurry to closest classroom or gym 
 Restrooms: If students are in the restroom, they must remain there. 
 NO STAFF or STUDENTS ALLOWED OUT UNDER ANY CIRCUMSTANCES. 
 Call 911 and notify administration if there are injuries 
 Administration will provide updates based on direction from law enforcement. Utilize the emergency buckets in the 

classroom for bathroom use. 
 Law enforcement will take charge of the situation and direct activities and procedures 
 Do not open the door until the ALL CLEAR signal is given. 
 If you are in the gym, use the access keys (hide-a-keys) to lock the doors from the interior. 

Evacuation site is Boys and Girls Club 
 
601 Wall Street 
 
Chico, CA 
 
95928 
 
 
Public Agency Use ofSchool Buildings for Emergency Shelters 
 
 
(C) School Suspension, Expulsion and Mandatory Expulsion Guidelines 
Suspension and Expulsion as Disciplinary Actions 
 

DRAFT



Comprehensive School Safety Plan 8 of 31 1/22/21 

CCDS will regard suspension and expulsion as a last resort. Criteria for suspension and expulsion of students will be consistent with 
all applicable federal and state statutes and constitutional provisions. Students will be afforded due process, including a hearing and 
right of appeal, as described below. A student identified as an individual with disabilities or for whom there is a basis of knowledge 
of a suspected disability pursuant to the Individuals with Disabilities Act (“IDEA”) or who is qualified for services under Section 504 of 
the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (“Section 504”) is subject to the same grounds for suspension and expulsion and is accorded the same 
due process procedures applicable to regular education students except when federal law or special education local plan area 
(“SELPA”) policies require additional or different procedures. 
 
The grounds for mandatory and discretionary suspension and expulsion are as follows: 
 
1. Mandatory Suspension. A student shall be suspended with a mandatory recommendation for expulsion where he/she is found to 
have: 
a. Possessed, sold, or otherwise furnished any firearm, explosive, or other dangerous object. 
 
2. Discretionary Suspension. A student may be suspended for any of the following offenses: 
a. Possession, use, offering, arranging and/or negotiating to sell or provide of a knife, imitation firearm, other weapon, or item that 
could be construed and/or used as a weapon. 
b. Possession, use, being under the influence of, offering, arranging and/or negotiating to sell tobacco, alcohol, drugs, other 
controlled substances, or intoxicants of any kind, including, but not limited to over-the-counter medication and/or prescription 
drugs. 
c. Theft of property including, but not limited to attempting to steal and/or receive stolen property and/or aiding or abetting in the 
same. 
d. Physical assault including, but not limited to aiding or abetting in the same. 
e. Damage to school or private property including, but not limited to attempted or caused damage. 
f. Sexual harassment. 
g. Threatening, harassing, bullying, and/or attempting to intimidate other members of the community including, but not limited to 
acts of “cyber-bullying.” 
h. Obscenity/Profanity/Vulgarity, including the commission of an obscene act and/or engagement in habitual profanity/vulgarity. 
i. Disruption and/or defiance, including, but not limited to disruption of school activities and/or willful defiance of the authority of 
school personnel. 
j. Violations of CCDS academic policies, including, but not limited to plagiarism and/or cheating. 
k. Violations of CCDS Internet Use and BYOD policies, including, but not limited to transmitting computer viruses, using or 
attempting to use other’s accounts, trespassing in another’s portfolio, folders or files, concealing or misrepresenting one’s identity 
while using the IT system. 
 
 
3. Mandatory Expulsion. A student shall be expelled when it is determined that the student: 
a. Possessed, sold, or otherwise furnished any firearm, explosive, or other dangerous object. 
 
4. Discretionary Expulsion. A student may be expelled for any of the following offenses: 
a. Possession, use, offering, arranging and/or negotiating to sell or provide a knife, imitation firearm, other weapon, or item that 
could be construed and/or used as a weapon. 
b. Possession, use, being under the influence of, offering, arranging and/or negotiating to sell tobacco, alcohol, drugs, other 
controlled substances, or intoxicants of any kind, including, but not limited to over-the-counter medication and/or prescription 
drugs. 
c. Theft of property including, but not limited to attempting to steal and/or receive stolen property and/or aiding or abetting in the 
same. 
d. Physical assault including, but not limited to aiding or abetting in the same. 
e. Damage to school or private property including, but not limited to attempted or caused damage. 
f. Sexual harassment. 
g. Threatening, harassing, bullying, and/or attempting to intimidate other members of the community including, but not limited to 
acts of “cyber-bullying.” 
h. Obscenity/Profanity/Vulgarity, including the commission of an obscene act and/or engagement in habitual profanity/vulgarity. 
i. Disruption and/or defiance, including, but not limited to disruption of school activities and/or willful defiance of the authority of 
school personnel. 
j. Violations of CCDS academic policies, including, but not limited to plagiarism and/or cheating. 

DRAFT



Comprehensive School Safety Plan 9 of 31 1/22/21 

k. Violations of CCDS Internet Use and BYOD policies, including, but not limited to transmitting computer viruses, using or 
attempting to use other’s accounts, trespassing in another’s portfolio, folders or files, concealing or misrepresenting one’s identity 
while using the IT system. 
Authority to Impose Discipline 
 
The Director of Student Affairs (or his/her designee) may conduct an investigation of the facts and circumstances presented in case 
of a disciplinary offense or infraction. The investigation may include search(es), a review of the evidence, consulting the student and 
interviewing affected parties, and potential witnesses as well as the involvement of authorities. 
 
The Director of Student Affairs (or his/her designee) may consider the various disciplinary options available in any given set of 
circumstances, including whether alternatives to suspension or expulsion may be appropriate. 
 
The Director of Student Affairs (or his/her designee) has the authority to determine whether or not to impose a suspension under 
this policy. Suspensions may be imposed: (1) Pending an investigation to determine whether further discipline, including the 
possibility of an expulsion hearing, is warranted; or, (2) Companion to setting an expulsion hearing. The Dean of Students (or their 
designees) has the discretion to determine which form of suspension may be imposed. 
 
If a student matter proceeds to an expulsion hearing, the Director of Student Affairs (or his/her designee) shall have the authority to 
hear the matter and to determine whether or not to impose an expulsion. The decision of whether or not to expel a student remains 
at the sole discretion of the Director of Student Affairs(or his/her designee). 
 
Suspensions 
 
Suspension Pending Investigation 
The Director of Student Affairs (or his/her designee) has the discretion to and may impose a suspension directly if s/he determines it 
is appropriate. If the Director of Student Affairs (or his/her designee) determines that a student is to be suspended, the Director of 
Student Affairs (or his/her designee) shall provide written notice to the student’s parents and/or guardians of the suspension in 
writing, including reasons for the suspension and the time period for the suspension (“Suspension Notice”). Academic make-up work 
is required during the suspension. Return to school may be contingent upon submission of a written essay addressing the issue at 
hand and stating how the student intends to move forward or some other form of a restorative process as the School may 
determine in its sole discretion. 
 
Suspension Pending Expulsion Hearing 
If the Director of Student Affairs (or his/her designee) determines at the outset that an expulsion hearing is warranted, the Director 
of Student Affairs (or his/her designee) may impose a suspension pending an expulsion hearing. The Director of Student Affairs (or 
his/her designee) shall provide written notice to the student’s parents and/or guardians of the suspension, the reasons for the 
suspension and the expulsion hearing, give notice of the expulsion hearing, and provide information regarding CCDS expulsion 
procedures (“Suspension Pending Expulsion Hearing Notice”). 
 
Discipline Review Meeting 
If a student is placed on a suspension of any form, the school may call for a Discipline Review Meeting with the parents and/or 
guardians. During the course of the Discipline Review Meeting, the Director of Student Affairs (or his/her designee) will discuss with 
the parents and/or guardians the: (1) nature of the offense; (2) the information and evidence gathered to date; and, (3) next steps. If 
the Dean of Students (or his/her designee) determines that the school will move forward to an expulsion hearing, and the school has 
not yet given formal notice of an expulsion hearing, the Director of Student Affairs (or his/her designee) will provide the parents 
and/or guardians with a Suspension Pending Expulsion Hearing Notice. 
 
Expulsions 
 
Expulsion Hearings 

DRAFT



Comprehensive School Safety Plan 10 of 31 1/22/21 

If the Director of Student Affairs (or his/her designee) determines that consideration of expulsion is warranted, the Director of 
Student Affairs will hold an expulsion hearing where the Director of Student Affairs shall serve as the hearing officer. The student 
shall have the right to representation and the right to present evidence at the expulsion hearing. The Director of Student Affairs will 
consider the evidence and/or testimony as appropriate and will render a decision that shall be in the best interests of the student 
and CCDS. If the Director of Student Affairs determines that a student is to be expelled, the Director of Student Affairs shall inform 
the student’s parents and/or guardians of his/her determination in writing including the reasons for expulsion (“Expulsion 
Determination Letter”). The Director of Student Affairs written notification to the parents/guardians shall also include information 
about the appeal and due process rights in regard to the Director of Student Affairs determination. 
 
Right to Appeal the Director of Student Affairs Determination 
 
The parents and/or guardians shall have ten (10) days from the the Director of Student Affairs Expulsion Determination Letter to 
submit a written request of appeal to the Director of Education of Chico Country Day School (“Written Appeal Request”). In response 
to the Written Appeal Request, the Director of Education of CCDS shall convene a committee consisting of one member of the CCDS 
Board of Directors, Special Education Director and the CBO of CCDS or his/her designee. The committee members appointed will be 
knowledgeable about CCDS basis for expulsion and the procedures regarding expulsion. The committee shall have the right to 
rescind or modify the expulsion. The committee shall convene a hearing on the appeal within fifteen (15) days of receipt of a timely 
written request for an appeal. At the hearing on the appeal, the student shall have the right to counsel and the right to present 
evidence. The committee will consider evidence and/or testimony as appropriate and will render a written decision that shall be in 
the best interests of the student and CCDS. That decision shall be final. 
 
 
 
(D) Procedures to Notify Teachers of Dangerous Pupils (EC 49079) 
To notify teachers of suspensions as they occur during the school year, the following process is used: After reviewing the cum folder 
of newly enrolled students, the site administrator will advise unit members at that site of documented incidents which, if repeated, 
could pose a threat to unit members, other students or employees. Unit members shall be responsible for maintaining 
confidentiality on a need to know basis. 
 
When a child is suspended from school, copies of the suspension are placed in the student cum folder. Notificationification of 
suspensions are given to: parent/guardian, teacher, Dean of Students, Director of Special Education (if applicable). 
 
 
(E) Sexual Harassment Policies (EC 212.6 [b]) 
Student Sexual Harassment Policy: 
 
CCDS is committed to maintaining a learning environment that is free from sexual harassment. Sexual harassment is a form of 
gender discrimination in that it constitutes differential treatment on the basis of gender, gender identity or expression, or sexual 
orientation, and, for that reason, is a violation of state and federal laws and a violation of this policy. 
 
Any student who believes that she or he has been a victim of sexual harassment should bring the problem to the attention of the 
Dean of Students and/or Director of Education so that appropriate action may be taken to resolve the problem. CCDS prohibits 
retaliatory behavior against anyone who files a sexual harassment complaint or any participant in the complaint investigation 
process. Any such complainant is further advised that civil law remedies may also be available to them. Complaints will be promptly 
investigated in a way that respects the privacy of the parties concerned. Complaints alleging unlawful discrimination, harassment, 
intimidation or bullying based on gender, sex, gender identity or expression, or sexual orientation are eligible to be investigated 
pursuant to the CCDS’ Uniform Complaint Procedure. 
 
The California Education Code Section 212.5 defines sexual harassment as any unwelcome sexual advances, requests for sexual 
advances, requests for sexual favors, or other verbal, visual, or physical conduct of a sexual nature made by someone from or in the 
work or educational setting, under the 
following conditions: 
* Submission to the conduct is explicitly or implicitly made a term or a condition of an individual’s employment, academic status, or 
progress. 
* Submission to, or rejection of the conduct by the individual is used as the basis of employment or academic decisions affecting the 
individual. 

DRAFT



Comprehensive School Safety Plan 11 of 31 1/22/21 

* The conduct has the purpose or effect of having a negative impact upon the individual's work or academic performance, or of 
creating an intimidating, hostile, or offensive work or educational environment. 
* Submission to, or rejection of, the conduct by the individual is used as the basis for any decisions affecting the individual regarding 
benefits and services, honors, programs, or activities available at or through the educational institution. 
 
Sexual harassment may include, but is not limited to: 
* Unwelcome verbal conduct such as suggestive, derogatory comments, sexual innuendos, slurs, or unwanted sexual advances, 
invitations, or comments; pestering for dates; making threats; or spreading rumors about or rating others as to sexual activity or 
performance. 
* Unwelcome visual conduct such as displays of sexually suggestive objects, pictures, posters, written material, cartoons, or 
drawings; graffiti of a sexual nature; or use of obscene gestures. 
* Unwelcome physical conduct such as unwanted touching, pinching, kissing, patting, hugging, blocking of normal movement, 
assault; or interference with work or study directed at an individual because of the individual’s sex, sexual orientation, or gender. 
* Threats and demands or pressure to submit to sexual requests in order to keep a job or academic standing or to avoid other loss, 
and offers of benefits in return for sexual favors. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
(F) School-wide Dress Code Relating to Gang-Related Apparel (EC 35183) 
Objective: To promote a professional and respectful learning environment and readiness for the world of work. 
Clothing must cover the body with no undergarments exposed. 
No exposed midriff and/or cleavage. 
No backless, strapless, tube tops and/or halter tops. Please note a bandeau is considered an undergarment. 
Shorts must have a two-inch inseam/skirts must be longer than the student’s thumb when arms are straightened. 
Shoes or sandals must be worn at all times. All shoes must have a backs on them, no backless flip-flops or slides. Slippers and heelys 
(shoes with wheels) are not acceptable.  Closed-toed shoes must be in student’s possession daily for required P.E, walking field trips, 
and some electives. 
Any clothing or accessories that display or promote the use of alcohol, tobacco, drugs, racial or ethnic slurs, gang affiliation or 
identity, violence, sexually suggestive or profane content are not allowed. 
If a student comes to school in clothing that does not adhere to the above dress code, parents will be contacted and asked to either 
take your child home or bring a change of clothes for him/her. The student will be provided with appropriate clothing until the 
parent arrives. 
 
 
 
(G) Procedure for Safe Ingress and Egress of Pupils, Parents, and Staff to and from School (EC 35294.2) 
****Due to COVID-19 Pandemic not early drop off is available. Students can be dropped off starting at 8:10 am and picked up at 
11:30 for Tk-5 and 12:30 pm 6th-8th 
 
 
Students can arrive at school no earlier than 7:45 a.m. and should be dropped off on the Main Campus (K-5 side.)   Upon arrival, your 
child must remain in supervised areas on campus. Students may be dropped off in the Middle School Building at 8:25 AM. Please 
make sure that your child enters the school safely and that he or she is supervised as he/she is crossing streets, etc.  Do not drop 
your child off in the parking lot. 
 
Kindergarten students MUST be picked up at their classroom at 2:30 p.m by a parent or other authorized individual. 
All students MUST be picked up by 2:40 PM (grades 1-3), 2:55 PM (grades 4-8) at the curb.  On minimum days, all students MUST be 
picked up by 12:30  PM.  Students are not allowed to wait in front of the building without supervision. 
 
DROP OFF AND PICK UP OF STUDENTS & PARKING 
Introduction: The safe arrival and departure of students is of paramount concern to the Charter School. The Charter School has 
promulgated the following policy and requests that students and parents adhere to its procedures in order to ensure the safety of all 
students and staff. 

DRAFT



Comprehensive School Safety Plan 12 of 31 1/22/21 

 
In addition, the Charter School desires to be a good neighbor to the residents surrounding the Charter School premises. Parents can 
help the Charter School to be a good neighbor by following the rules of the road and exercising courtesy to neighborhood residents. 
 
General Guidelines 
All visitors to the Charter School are expected to adhere to the rules of the road when driving on or around the Charter School 
premises. All visitors are expected to drive slowly when students are present. 
Motor vehicles of any kind, including but not limited to, motorcycles, motor scooters, and motorized skateboards, are not allowed 
on the Charter School premises in any area except the parking lot or designated drop-off and pick-up areas. 
 
Arrival and Departure of Charter School Students 
Parents are requested to adhere to the following rules: 
1.  Drive slowly through the school zone. 
2.  Pay close attention to the directions of any crossing guard at any crosswalk or traffic light. He or she is trying to help get students 
to school safely. 
3.  When approaching the area designated for student pick-up and drop-off, remain patient and stay to the right side of the area. 
There shall be no passing around other vehicles. 
4.  Enter the parking lot only if you plan to get out and walk your child to school. Otherwise, the parking lot is not a safe drop-off and 
pick-up area. 
5.  When you pull to the curb of the designated pick-up and drop-off area, the first car should pull as far forward as possible allowing 
others to pull in behind. 
6.  When leaving, pull out slowly and look carefully for students and other cars. 
7.  For afternoon pick-ups, if you arrive early, circle the block until students are released. The curb is designated for 3 Minute Loading 
Zones.  After the children are dismissed, the first car should pull forward as far as possible to wait for his or her child. 
8. Treat other drivers with respect. 
 
Procedures 
Students to be picked-up and dropped-off must report to the designated area when they are dismissed from class. 
Parking 
Parking spaces designated for employee use and visitor use shall be utilized accordingly. 
 
 
 
 
(H) A Safe and Orderly School Environment Conducive to Learning (EC 35294.2) 
 
Component: 
Universal Expectations 
 
Be Safe 
Be Respectful 
Be Responsible 
 
All Classrooms and Common Areas: Keep your hands, feet, and objects to self. Walk to the right at all times. Use equipment and 
materials appropriately. Use appropriate language and voice level. Clean up after self. Take proper care of all school equipment. 
Leave toys or other personal belongings at home. 
 
 
Arrival and Dismissal: Arrive on time. When you arrive, put your backpack in your designated area. At dismissal, stay in the pick-up 
zone on the campus side of the sidewalks. Be an active listener. Hands and feet to self. Be in class line by the second bell. 
 
Bathrooms: Walk. Report unsafe conditions. Use appropriate language and voice level. Respect the privacy of others. Use the 
bathroom for its intended purpose. 
 

DRAFT



Comprehensive School Safety Plan 13 of 31 1/22/21 

Cafeteria/Lunch Area: Keep your hands and feet to self. Eat only your food. Playground equipment is not permitted in eating areas. 
Use appropriate language and voice level. Listen and follow adult directions. Remain seated until the signal for dismissal. Clean up 
trash and belongings. Pack it in, pack it out! 
 
 
Gym: Keep your hands and feet to self. Use playground equipment how and where it is intended. Use appropriate language and 
voice level. Listen and follow adult directions. Return equipment. 
 
Passing Periods: Keep your hands, feet, and objects to self. Walk to the right at all times. Listen and follow directions the first time. 
Help others. Stay with your group or class when traveling together. Travel on pathways from destination to destination. 
 
Recess: Keep your hands and feet to self. Use playground equipment how and where it is intended Stay in assigned areas. Be an 
active listener. Freeze at the bell and return to class. Return equipment. 
 
Accident Protocol 
 
If there is a medical emergency on campus requiring assessment or treatment beyond what staff can or should do, staff should 
immediately call an ambulance or paramedics (9-911), then call the parent/guardian. 
 
Paramedics will assess and evaluate the need for transportation. Usually, the parent/guardian show up during this time. If not, and 
the paramedics decide to transport, provide them with a copy of the treatment authorization (emergency card) to take along. If the 
parent is not present, a staff member will accompany the student. 
 
Finances do not play a part in this protocol. Paramedics can assess and decide not to transport; there is no cost involved in calling 
them to the school. The decision to transport is theirs as well as the liability for the course of treatment at that point. 
 
The school is not responsible for the medical costs incurred unless found at fault (possible negligence, safety issues, etc.) 
 
 
 
 
Element: 
 
 
Opportunity for Improvement: 
 
 

Objectives Action Steps Resources Lead Person Evaluation 

Training for all staff and 
students regarding 
school universal and 
expectations. 

PBIS rotations, staff 
expectations,  refine 
referral process for MS 
staff. 

 Director of Student 
Affairs ongoing 

Track referrals year to 
year 

Reports run quarterly. 
Final report in June. 
Provide comparisons 
year to year to staff and 
board. 

Student information 
system 

Director of Student 
Affairs 

ongoing 

Monthly Safety Drills Schedule in advance 
monthly safety drills 

 Director of Student 
Affairs 

ongoing 

 
 
Component: 
Safe Schools Partnership: 
 

DRAFT



Comprehensive School Safety Plan 14 of 31 1/22/21 

A safe school is a shared responsibility between school staff, students and parents.  
 
STAFF: 

 Park and lock your car in well-lit non-isolated areas 
 Use the buddy system whenever possible when entering or leaving the campus at night 
 Secure purses and valuable while on campus 
 Monitor the school campuses. Be aware 
 Notify the administration or Chico PD immediately when you observe trespassers on campus 
 Do not return to campus during non-school hours without the permission of the administration and making the required 

notification 
 Know the emergency numbers for Chico Police Department. Notify other staff members when remaining on campus after 

school hours. The campus is to be cleared by 5pm unless permission to remain has been given. 
 Know the alarm code, placement of keypads on campus and how to activate and deactivate alarms 
 Develop a system of rumor control relative to activities that occur on campus 
 Be aware of safety concerns in the community surrounding the school 

STUDENTS: 
 Report violence, bullying or criminal activity immediately to an adult or use the STOPit app to report anonymously 
 Be aware of your surroundings 
 Avoid isolation and unsupervised activities and areas on campus 
 Stay on campus during school hours 

PARENTS: 
 Talk to students about what to do if confronted with violence, bullying, or anything else that is prohibited at our school 
 Be aware of the route the children take to school 
 Be familiar with whom your children socialize 
 Discuss your child’s activities at school 
 Share with your children the importance of remaining on campus during the day 
 Attend or chaperone school events when possible 
 Help supervise the campus when you are there 

 
Element: 
 
 
Opportunity for Improvement: 
 
 

Objectives Action Steps Resources Lead Person Evaluation 

     
 
 
Component: 
School Safety - Conditions for Classroom and School Visitation: 
 
While CCDS encourages parents/guardians and interested members of the community to visit the Charter School and view the 
educational program, CCDS also endeavors to create a safe environment for students and staff. As such, parents and other visitors 
must adhere to the following policy in order to maximize the safety of the students and minimize the disruption to the education 
environment. If a parent or guardian wishes to visit CCDS to view the education program, assist teachers, or conduct school 
business, the visitor must follow the following procedures, which have been developed to ensure the safety of students and staff as 
well as to minimize interruption of the instructional program, pursuant to California Penal Code Sections 627, et. seq: 
 

DRAFT



Comprehensive School Safety Plan 15 of 31 1/22/21 

1. If a conference is desired, an appointment should be set with the teacher during non-instructional time in advance. Parents 
seeking to visit a classroom during school hours must first obtain the approval of the classroom teacher. 
2. All visitors shall register with the front office immediately upon entering any school building or grounds during regular school 
hours. When registering, the visitor is required to provide his/her name, address, age (if under 21), his/her purpose for entering 
school grounds in a sign-in book.  For purposes of school safety and security, a visitor’s badge must be worn. 
3. The Administrator, or designee, may refuse to register an outsider if he or she has a reasonable basis for concluding that the 
visitor’s presence or acts would disrupt the school, its students, its teachers, or its other employees; would result in damage to 
property; or would result in the distribution or use of unlawful or controlled substances. 
4. The Administrator or designee may withdraw consent to be on campus even if the visitor has a right to be on campus whenever 
there is reasonable basis for concluding that the visitor presence on school grounds would interfere or is interfering with the 
peaceful conduct of the activities of the school, or would disrupt or is disrupting the school, its students, its teachers, or its other 
employees. 
5. The Administrator or designee may request that a visitor who has failed to register, or whose registration privileges have been 
denied or revoked, promptly leave school grounds.  When a visitor is directed to leave, the Administrator or designee shall inform 
the visitor that if he/she reenters the school without following the posted requirements he/she will be guilty of a misdemeanor. 
6. Any visitor that is denied registration or has his/her registration revoked may request a hearing before the Administrator or the 
Board on the propriety of the denial or revocation.  The request shall be in writing, shall state why the denial or revocation was 
improper, shall give the address to which notice of hearing is to be sent, and shall be delivered to either the Administrator or the 
Board Chair within five days after the denial or revocation. The Administrator or Board Chair shall promptly mail a written notice of 
the date, time, and place of the hearing to the person who requested the hearing. A hearing before the Administrator shall be held 
within seven days after the Administrator receives the request. A hearing before the Board shall be held at the next regularly 
scheduled Board meeting after the Chair receives the request. 
7. The Administrator or designee shall seek the assistance of the police in dealing with or reporting any visitor in violation of this 
policy. 
8. No electronic listening, photographic, or recording devices may be used by students or visitors on school grounds or on school 
sponsored field trips and other school activities without the teacher’s and/or Administrator’s permission. Exception: 
Parents/guardians of currently enrolled CCDS students who have signed the “Conditions under which students may be 
photographed/filmed” section of the CCDS Student-Parent Handbook. 
9. Visitors should only come onto campus for the purpose(s) they designate in the sign-in logbook. Visitors shall not get involved in 
situations which are the responsibilities of CCDS staff, such as directing other students and intervening in discipline situations. 
Visitors shall not share confidential information or student information with individuals who are not CCDS staff members. 
10. Visitors shall not interfere with, disrupt, or in any way prevent or hinder a CCDS staff member in the performance of his/her job 
duties. 
11. School age children shall not visit CCDS during regular CCDS school hours without prior permission from the school 
administration. 
 
Penalties 
1. Pursuant to the California Penal Code, if a visitor does not leave after being asked or if the visitor returns without following the 
posted requirements after being directed to leave, he/she will be guilty of a crime as specified which is punishable by a fine of up to 
$500.00 or imprisonment in the County jail for a period of up to six (6) months or both. 
2. Further conduct of this nature by the visitor may lead to the School’s pursuit of a restraining order against such visitor that would 
prohibit him/her from coming onto school grounds or attending School activities for any purpose for a period of three (3) years. 
 
 
 
Element: 
 
 
Opportunity for Improvement: 
 
 

Objectives Action Steps Resources Lead Person Evaluation 

     
 

DRAFT



Comprehensive School Safety Plan 16 of 31 1/22/21 

(I) School Discipline Rules and Consequences (EC 35291 and EC 35291.5) 
 
Chico Country Day Charter School Student Conduct Code 
 
 
Conduct Code Procedures 
Behavior at Chico Country Day School 
 
In order to ensure a quality learning environment, we feel each student is entitled to a safe and respectful school environment. CCDS 
has implemented a Positive Behavior Intervention Support Program which provide clear behavior expectations and Restorative 
Practices which promotes positive behaviors focused on understanding conflict and how to repair harm. We believe that all our 
students can behave in a manner appropriate to school and that each student can be held accountable for their behavior. CCDS 
strives to build a community based on cooperation, trust and respect. The universal behavior norms are to be safe, respectful and 
responsible. 
 
General rules for behavior and safety are: 

 Use equipment for the intended use. 
 Use appropriate language. 
 Follow staff directions. 
 Rough play is not allowed. 
 Treat others with respect. 

Restorative practices provide students a chance to learn about consequences of their actions, develop empathy, and figure out ways 
to repair relationships that may have been damaged. The process also addresses the needs of those who have been harmed. During 
a restorative dialogue, students are asked: 

 To reflect on the conflict or problem (What happened? What were you feeling at the time?) 
 To identify their needs and interests (What do you need in order for this class to go well? How do you want things to 

change?) 
 To make a plan (What needs to happen to make things right? What is our plan for the future?) 

Positive reinforcements may include: 
 Eagle Eyes are given to students who demonstrate our universal behaviors. Students may turn these in for special 

drawings. 
 Individual classroom incentives. 

Discipline may include any one, a combination and/or all of the following depending on the circumstances, and at the school 
administration’s sole discretion.  

 Verbal and/or written warning given to the student. 
 Loss of privilege. (Referral sent home) 
 Restorative conversations and/or task to address the behavior (i.e. pick-up trash, clean lunch tables) 
 Written commitment by student to improve his/her behavior and/or performance. (Think Sheet) 
 Detention (Referral sent home) 
 Parent /guardian notification (Referral sent home) 
 Conference with Dean, Director or other faculty (Referral sent home) 
 Suspension 
 Expulsion 
 Other forms of discipline that the school may determine appropriate 

Any student who is in possession of any weapon will be recommended for expulsion from the school. (Education Code 48915). 
 
Behavioral plan will apply to students (EC 48900) while on school grounds, while going to and from school, during any school-
sponsored activity, on field trips, and during any other school related event. 
 
Universal Expectations 

DRAFT



Comprehensive School Safety Plan 17 of 31 1/22/21 

 
Bullying Prevention Policy:  
 
CCDS will not tolerate bullying or any behavior that infringes on the safety of any student. A student shall not intimidate or harass 
another student through words or actions for any reason including race, religion, personal appearance, and sexual preference such 
that the actions substantially interferes with a student’s educational experience; creates an intimidating or threatening educational 
environment; or disrupts the orderly operation of the school, and/or the overall educational environment. 
 
Definition: Bullying can be defined as aggressive behavior that involves an imbalance of real or perceived physical or psychological 
power among those involved. Typically the behavior is repeated over time and includes the use of hurtful words and/or acts. 
 
Indicators of Bullying Behavior: Bullying behaviors may include, but are not necessarily limited to, the following: 
 
Verbal – Hurtful name-calling, teasing, gossiping, making threats, making rude noises, or spreading hurtful rumors. 
 
>Nonverbal – Posturing, making gang signs, leering, staring, stalking, excluding, destroying property, using graffiti or graphic images, 
or exhibiting inappropriate and/or threatening, gestures or actions. 
 
>Physical – Hitting, punching, pushing, shoving, poking, kicking, tripping, strangling, hair pulling, fighting, beating, biting, spitting, or 
destroying property. 
 
>Emotional/Psychological – Rejecting, terrorizing, extorting, defaming, intimidating, humiliating, blackmailing, manipulating 
friendships, isolating, ostracizing, using peer pressure, or rating or ranking personal characteristics. 
 
>Cyber Bullying – Any bullying, harassment, or intimidation when such is accomplished utilizing electronic communication media or 
electronic signaling devices. Such media includes, but shall not be limited to, e-mail messages, text messages, instant messages, 
social networking sites; internet-based video sites, and postings of blogs. See below for the CCDS’ Cyberbullying Policy. 
 
CCDS reserves the right to regulate, review, investigate and discipline students for bullying, harassment, intimidation and/or cyber-
bullying, or any other disciplinary violations when such activities threaten violence against another student, are related to school 
activities, or otherwise disrupt the learning environment or orderly conduct of the school, school business or school activities even if 
such activities occur after school hours and/or off-campus. 
 
CCDS expects students and/or staff to immediately report incidents of bullying to a teacher, Director of Student Affairs, or Director 
of Education. Students may also request that their name be kept in confidence to the extent allowed by law. Staff members are 
expected to immediately intervene when they see a bullying incident occur. Each complaint of bullying should be promptly 
investigated and resolved in accordance with school policy. 
 
To prevent bullying on campus, CCDS implements restorative practices and provides intervention strategies to staff and students. 
CCDS may provide students with instruction in the classroom or other school settings that promotes communication, social skills, 
and assertiveness skills – aligned with the CCDS Life Skills. 
 
Cyberbullying Policy: 
 
CCDS will not tolerate behavior that infringes on the safety of any student, including the bullying, harassment, intimidation, and 
cyberbullying of any student. Students who engage in cyberbullying may be subject to disciplinary action up to and including 
suspension and expulsion. 
 
What is Cyberbullying? 
 
Cyberbullying is bullying that takes place using electronic communication technology such as cell phones, computers, and tablets, as 
well as communication tools including social media sites, e-mail, web applications, and text messages. In some cases, cyberbullying 
is a single child sending a hurtful text to another child. But it can also be a group of students posting hurtful things about another 
student on a social media website. Examples of cyberbullying include: 
 
>Sending mean emails, texts or instant messages to students. 

DRAFT



Comprehensive School Safety Plan 18 of 31 1/22/21 

 
>Threatening or intimidating another student online or in a text message. 
 
>Posting hurtful statements about a student on social media platforms. 
 
>Pretending to be another person by creating a fake online profile. 
 
>Taking an embarrassing or sexually explicit photo of a student and/or sharing it without permission. 
 
>Sending repetitive neutral messages to a student in a harassing manner.  
 
Victims of cyberbullying may experience many of the same effects as children who are bullied in person, such as impacted academic 
performance, low self-esteem, or depression. However cyberbullying can seem more extreme to its victims for several reasons: 
 
>Cyberbullying can be harsher. Often kids say things online that they wouldn’t say in person. 
 
>Cyberbullying can have a greater impact on children as they can receive bullying communications at home. Being bullied at home 
can take away the place children feel most safe. 
 
>Cyberbullying’s impact can be devastating due to how easy it is to share bullying communications. Children are able to send emails 
or make posts on social media about a student and it can be easily shared with classmates and a larger public audience. The student 
who is targeted may feel publically humiliated since the viewing audience is virtually limitless.  
 
CCDS can discipline students for any acts that occur on-campus (e.g., student sends bullying texts to another student during school 
hours). A student may also be disciplined for off-campus cyberbullying if it meets the definition of bullying above and substantially 
disrupts another student’s instructional environment. 
 
For example, a student who uses a home computer to post insulting statements about another student on a social media website is 
engaging in cyberbullying. As a result, the target student may be subject to additional harassment at school, making it more difficult 
for him/her to participate in educational activities. Any student who makes that kind of post will be subject to disciplinary action, as 
well as any other students who are responsible for harassing the target student. 
 
CCDS staff recognizes students’ First Amendment rights and will consult with legal counsel if they have questions about the school’s 
ability to discipline a student for actions conducted off-campus. 
 
 
(J) Hate Crime Reporting Procedures and Policies 
For purposes of this Guide, the term "hate or bias crime" is used to describe an offense against persons or property motivated by 
hate or bias against a victim based on race, ethnicity, national origin, religion, sex disability, or sexual orientation. Violence 
motivated by such factors seriously threatens the values of the school and the larger community and the physical safety and mental 
well-being of all of those affected. Examples of hate-motivated crime include threatening phone calls, defacing or destroying 
personal property or buildings, hate mail, bomb threats, other threats of physical harm and intimidation, physical assault, arson, 
vandalism, cross-burnings, and destruction of religious symbols. Other incidents of harassment, such as racial epithets or graffiti, 
that occur at school, are also of interest to law enforcement agencies, as well as to school officials, because of their potential for 
causing dangerous confrontation, disruption of order and public safety, and violent retaliation outside of school property or school 
hours. Contact the site administrator if you feel your child may have been a victim of a hate crime. 
 
 
 

DRAFT



Comprehensive School Safety Plan 19 of 31 1/22/21 

 
Safety Plan Review, Evaluation and Amendment Procedures 
 
Plan will be reviewed by the CCDS Safety Committee each year. The committee will evaluate and amend the Comprehensive School 
Safety Plan. Subsequently, the plan will be reviewed by the CCDS Board of Directors. 

DRAFT



Comprehensive School Safety Plan 20 of 31 1/22/21 

 
Safety Plan Appendices 
 
  

DRAFT



Comprehensive School Safety Plan 21 of 31 1/22/21 

 
Emergency Contact Numbers 
 
Utilities, Responders and Communication Resources 
 

Type Vendor Number Comments 

Law 
Enforcement/Fire/Paramed
ic 

Chico PD 897-4900  

Law 
Enforcement/Fire/Paramed
ic 

Chico Fire 897-3400  

Local Hospitals Enloe 332-7300  

School District Chico Unified 891-3000  

Public Utilities PG&E 743-5000  

City Services City of Chico 896-7200  

Other Chico Country Day School 895-2650  

Other Animal Control 897-4960  
 

DRAFT



Comprehensive School Safety Plan 22 of 31 1/22/21 

 
Safety Plan Review, Evaluation and Amendment Procedures 
 

Activity Description 
(i.e. review steps, meetings conducted, approvals, etc) Date and Time Attached Document 

(description and location) 
Committee Review of plan January  , 2021 Chico Country Day School 

Board Review January 27th, 2021 Chico Country Day School 

Board Approval February 6th, 2021 Chico Country Day School 

 

DRAFT



Comprehensive School Safety Plan 23 of 31 1/22/21 

 
Chico Country Day Charter School Incident Command System 
 

--------     Incident Commander     

--------     Director of Student Affairs 
/Director of Education--------     

--------           

--------   Safety Officer   Public Information Officer   

--------   Facility Manager/CBO--------   Parent Liaison/ Office 
manager--------   

--------           

--------   Scribe       

--------   Parent Liaison/ Office 
manager--------       

--------           

--------           

Operations ------- Planning/ 
Intelligence  Logistics  Finance/Administration 

Facility Manager-------- ------- 

Director of Student Affairs 
/Director of 

Education/Director of Sped-----
--- 

 

Director of Student 
Affairs/Director of 

Education/Director of Sped-----
--- 

 CBO-------- 

--------           

--------           

--------  First Aid & Search 
Teacher A        

--------  Office manager middle school-
-------        

--------           

--------  
Student Release & 

Accountability 
TeacherB 

       

DRAFT



Comprehensive School Safety Plan 24 of 31 1/22/21 

--------  Office manager elementary----
----        

 

DRAFT



Comprehensive School Safety Plan 25 of 31 1/22/21 

 
Incident Command Team Responsibilities 
 
Standardized Emergency Response Management System Overview 
The California Standardized Emergency Management System (SEMS) is designed to centralize and coordinate emergency response 
through the use of standardized terminology and processes. This greatly facilitates the flow of information and resources among the 
agencies participating in response to an emergency. SEMS consists of five functions: 
 
 
Management 
During an emergency, the Incident Commander directs response actions from a designated Command Post. To effectively do this, 
the Incident Commander must constantly assess the situation, and develop and implement appropriate strategies. The Incident 
Commander must be familiar with the available resources, accurately document all response actions, and effectively communicate 
response strategies to others participating in the response. This function is typically filled by the school principal. The principal is 
assisted in carrying out this function by a Public Information & Liaison Officer and Safety Officer. 
 
Planning & Intelligence 
Planning and Intelligence involves the use of various methods to efficiently gather information, weigh and document the information 
for significance, and actively assess the status of the emergency. This understanding and knowledge about the situation at hand is 
vital to the effective management of a response. These activities are performed by a single person who reports directly to the 
Incident Commander. 
 
Operations 
All response actions are implemented under by Operations. This includes staff performing first aid, crisis intervention, search and 
rescue, site security, damage assessment, evacuations, and the release of students. 
 
Logistics 
Logistics supports the response by coordinating personnel; assembling and deploying volunteers; providing supplies, equipment, and 
services; and facilitating communications among emergency responders. 
 
Finance & Administration 
Finance & Administration involves the purchasing of all necessary materials, tracking financial records, timekeeping for emergency 
responders, and recovering school records following an emergency. These activities are performed by a single person who reports 
directly to the Incident Commander. 

DRAFT



Comprehensive School Safety Plan 26 of 31 1/22/21 

 
Emergency Response Guidelines 
 
Step One: Identify the Type of Emergency 
Incident Commander will be notified of the emergency. 
 
 
Step Two: Identify the Level of Emergency 
Incident Team will identify the appropriate emergency response. 
 
 
Step Three: Determine the Immediate Response Action 
Incident Team will initiate the appropriate emergency response. 
 
 
Step Four: Communicate the Appropriate Response Action 
Incident Team will communicate the response to stakeholders as needed. 

DRAFT



Comprehensive School Safety Plan 27 of 31 1/22/21 

 
Types of Emergencies & Specific Procedures 
 
Aircraft Crash 
Evacuation 
Alert: Administration or office staff will announce to staff “This is an evacuation to ...” by PA. 
Staff and students will immediately vacate the buildings in an orderly fashion utilizing the evacuation routes. Take emergency 
binders and walkie talkies. 
Follow directions from Incident Command Team. Maintain radio contact. 
All staff will stay with students at the relocation site and take roll. If students are to be released to parents/guardians, the Family 
Reunification Process will ensue. 
If the relocation site is unsafe, wait for the Incident Commander’s instructions. 
An “ALL CLEAR” signal indicates conditions are safe for returning to buildings. 
Assist persons who may need assistance and render first aid as necessary. 
 
 
 
Animal Disturbance 
Alert: The first person to note indication of an animal disturbance, as soon as it is safe, should call animal control. All are authorized 
to alert the campus by any means. 
 
Security Alert (Code Yellow) will be implemented. 

 Alert (provided twice in two separate announcements): Administrator or office staff will announce to “Check email and 
monitor walkie talkies for a security alert” by PA. Runners will notify substitute teachers. 

 This is a precautionary alert where teaching day continues 
 Students stay in class, recess and dismissal may be altered or withheld depending on direction from law enforcement 
 If you are in the gym, use the access keys (hide-a-keys) to lock the doors from the interior. 

Incident commander will announce an "All clear" message once the animal is removed. 
 
 
Armed Assault on Campus 
Active Shooter/Armed Intruder 
 
An active shooter or armed intruder on school property involves one or more individual’s intent on causing physical harm to 
students and staff. Such intruders may possess a gun, knife, or other harmful device. An active shooter or armed intruder will result 
in law enforcement and other emergency services responding as quickly as possible. It is critical to follow the instructions of and 
cooperate with law enforcement officers. Once law enforcement arrives, the School Incident Commander will be relieved by a law 
enforcement officer as quickly as possible.  
 
If in close proximity to the danger, assess the situation for the best survival option. Make the decision on what is the best option at 
the pivotal time. The following are guidelines. 

 Alert: The first person to note indication of an active shooter or armed intruder, as soon as it is safe, should call 911. All 
are authorized to alert the campus by any means using “Armed Intruder.” 

 Lockdown: Lockdown your room in any way possible if evacuation is not safe. Make use of barricades and any exits. 
 Inform: Use technology to provide information to the School Incident Commander. If it is safe, use the lockdown email 

procedures. Upon arrival, law enforcement will commence communication through the School Incident Commander. 
 Counter: If you are in immediate danger, you have the option to use whatever counter strategies necessary. This may 

include any and all forms of resistance to the threat. 
 Evacuate: In the event of an intruder, the priority should be to safely leave the area as quickly as possible. If there is no 

safe manner, lockdown. Once evacuated, meet at the reunification site. 
 Unless evacuating, rooms in lockdown shall remain secured until given the “ALL CLEAR” by the Incident Commander/law 

enforcement. 
 Once the intruder is subdued, the Incident Commander in consultation with law enforcement will announce an 

“Evacuation” and relocation to the alternate site for the Family Reunification Process. 

DRAFT



Comprehensive School Safety Plan 28 of 31 1/22/21 

 
Biological or Chemical Release 
Evacuation 
Alert: Administration or office staff will announce to staff “This is an evacuation to ...” by PA. 
Staff and students will immediately vacate the buildings in an orderly fashion utilizing the evacuation routes. Take emergency 
binders and walkie talkies. 
Follow directions from Incident Command Team. Maintain radio contact. 
All staff will stay with students at the relocation site and take roll. If students are to be released to parents/guardians, the Family 
Reunification Process will ensue. 
If the relocation site is unsafe, wait for the Incident Commander’s instructions. 
An “ALL CLEAR” signal indicates conditions are safe for returning to buildings. 
Assist persons who may need assistance and render first aid as necessary. 
 
 
 
Bomb Threat/ Threat Of violence 
Bomb Threat Procedure: 
 
Bomb Threat: A suspected bomb or explosive has been reported but not located. All threats toward the school are taken seriously. 
The administrator will contact law enforcement and initiate next steps. 

 Alert: Administrator or office staff will announce “This is an evacuation to …” over the PA 
 Do not handle or move the suspected device. 
 Call 911 and alert administration 
 Staff will move students in an orderly way to the opposite campus from the suspected bomb and account for their 

students. 
 Be aware of a potential second device. Open areas are best locations for gathering. 
 Return to buildings only when the ALL CLEAR signal is given. 

 
Bus Disaster 
Not applicable 
 
Disorderly Conduct 
CCDS expects that parents/guardians will communicate with CCDS staff in a respectful and nonharassing manner. If 
parents/guardians direct harassing, malicious, obscene, threatening, or intimidating communications towards any member of the 
CCDS community (e.g., staff, parents, and students), they may have their electronic and/or telephonic access to school staff and 
CCDS social media accounts (e.g., Facebook groups and pages) restricted at the discretion of the Director of Education or designee. 
 
CCDS staff will report any disorderly conduct of the community to the Chico Police Department and may contact our outreach officer 
directly. 
 
 
Earthquake 
Earthquake Procedures 
Earthquakes strike without warning. Students and staff are to DROP, COVER, AND HOLD when inside building and DROP when 
outside buildings. 
 
1.Inside School Building: Staff in charge implements DROP, COVER and HOLD. All students and staff should immediately turn and/or 
move away from glass areas and place themselves under tables and desks until shaking subsides. 
2. Outside School Building: Staff in charge implements DROP. Move away from potential falling objects and into the open if possible. 
Drop and hold until shaking subsides. 
3. The administrator or office staff will announce “Evacuate to the fire drill location” over the PA. Staff in charge will bring 
emergency binders, evacuate students, and close doors. Special consideration should be given to exit routes to ensure safety. 
4. Take roll at the fire drill location and display RED or GREEN cards. 
 

DRAFT



Comprehensive School Safety Plan 29 of 31 1/22/21 

 
 
Explosion or Risk Of Explosion 
Evacuation 
Alert: Administration or office staff will announce to staff “This is an evacuation to ...” by PA. 
Staff and students will immediately vacate the buildings in an orderly fashion utilizing the evacuation routes. Take emergency 
binders and walkie talkies. 
Follow directions from Incident Command Team. Maintain radio contact. 
All staff will stay with students at the relocation site and take roll. If students are to be released to parents/guardians, the Family 
Reunification Process will ensue. 
If the relocation site is unsafe, wait for the Incident Commander’s instructions. 
An “ALL CLEAR” signal indicates conditions are safe for returning to buildings. 
Assist persons who may need assistance and render first aid as necessary. 
 
 
 
Fire in Surrounding Area 
Evacuation 
Alert: Administration or office staff will announce to staff “This is an evacuation to ...” by PA. 
Staff and students will immediately vacate the buildings in an orderly fashion utilizing the evacuation routes. Take emergency 
binders and walkie talkies. 
Follow directions from Incident Command Team. Maintain radio contact. 
All staff will stay with students at the relocation site and take roll. If students are to be released to parents/guardians, the Family 
Reunification Process will ensue. 
If the relocation site is unsafe, wait for the Incident Commander’s instructions. 
An “ALL CLEAR” signal indicates conditions are safe for returning to buildings. 
Assist persons who may need assistance and render first aid as necessary. 
 
 
 
Fire on School Grounds 
Fire Evacuation Procedures 
1. Sound the school alarm 
2. Teachers and staff will 
Bring the emergency binder. 
Using your emergency door exits, clear rooms silently and close doors, leaving them unlocked. 
Evacuate to the designated area on the field. Students walk to the fence (middle school students cross the street) and turn to face 
the middle of the field. 
Maintain control of students at a safe distance from fire, fire personnel, and equipment. 
Conduct roll call and display GREEN card if all students are accounted for or RED card if student(s) are missing. This includes students 
in special services. Administrator will clarify that students are accounted for when evacuation is complete. (When in doubt, put red 
out.) 
3. An ALL CLEAR signal will be given indicating that conditions are safe to return to classrooms 
 
 
 
Flooding 
Incident Command Team will determine the level of response. Evacuation process may occur if it is within school hours. School 
closure may occur if the event is outside school hours. 
 
Loss or Failure Of Utilities 
Incident Command Team will determine the level of response. Continuation of the school day will  occur if it is within school hours. 
School closure may occur if the event is outside school hours. 
 

DRAFT



Comprehensive School Safety Plan 30 of 31 1/22/21 

Motor Vehicle Crash 
Incident Command Team will be immediately alerted and determine the appropriate response. If the occurrence is during a school 
field trip, this may include cancelling the trip, communicating with law enforcement, and families. 
 
Psychological Trauma 
Incident Command Team will be immediately alerted and determine the appropriate response. This may include gathering outside 
trauma professionals to help students, communicating with families and any other supports as available. 
 
Suspected Contamination of Food or Water 
Incident Command Team will be immediately alerted and determine the appropriate response. Incident Command Team will 
determine the level of response. Continuation of the school day may occur if it is within school hours. School closure may occur if 
the occurrence is outside school hours. Communication with public officials and families will occur. 
 
Unlawful Demonstration or Walkout 
Students have a right to freedom of speech and may participate in free speech activities, including political or religious speech, while 
on school campus. Students may distribute literature reflective of their views and opinions, and assemble on campus during non-
instructional time to discuss their views and opinions. Students may participate in peaceful demonstrations on campus during non-
instructional periods. Students may exercise these rights as long as their speech, expression, or conduct is not obscene, lewd, 
libelous, slanderous, does not incite students to destroy property or inflict injury upon any person, or does not cause a substantial 
disruption to the operations of the school. California law permits school site administrators to establish reasonable parameters for 
those students who wish to exercise their free speech rights on campus or during the school day. School site administrators can 
impose restrictions on the time, place, and manner of the speech or activity in order to maintain a safe and peaceful campus for all 
students and District employees. 
 
Students who fail to follow the directive of school site administrators or school policy concerning demonstrations, assemblies, sit-ins, 
or walkouts, may be subject to disciplinary action. Once students are off campus, school site administrators do not have a legal 
obligation to protect the safety and welfare of the students. If the student demonstration or walkout causes a disruption to the 
general public, local law enforcement may respond to the situation. CCDS has no control over how local law enforcement will handle 
the situation. While CCDS recognizes and respects a student’s freedom of speech rights, CCDS employees shall not promote, 
endorse, or participate in any student demonstration, distribution of materials, assembly, sit-in, or walk-out during work hours or 
while serving as an agent or representative of CCDS. 
 
 
Documenting Absences: 
Students who participate will receive an unexcused absence in alignment with current attendance practices. 
 
Communication: 
School administrators will ensure open lines of communication and collaboration with faculty, students, parents, and community. 
Administrators will provide opportunities for students to dialogue and engage in activities such as: classroom or small group 
discussions facilitated by an approved speaker who are supervised by school personnel, informational assemblies with school 
personnel supervision, structured research projects 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT



Comprehensive School Safety Plan 31 of 31 1/22/21 

 
Emergency Evacuation Map 

DRAFT



CCDS Middle School Evacuation Map

DRAFT



CO
NS

TR
UC

TI
ON

21
20

22
CONSTRUCTION

19

SPED
RTI

EVACUATION PROCEDURE MAP

EVACUATE THROUGH CLOSEST EXIT
GO DIRECTLY TO BOYS & GIRLS CLUB
LOCATED AT 601 WALL ST

DEPENDING ON LOCATION OF THREAT:

MO

DRAFT



                              Chico Country Day School  

Facility Re-Opening Expectations for In-Season and Off-Season Practices  

To ensure we provide a safe and healthy environment for our students while continuing to support our co and 

extra-curricular opportunities, we need to follow the most current State and County guidelines. In addition to this 

document, more information will be coming out regarding competitions. The expectations/protocols outlined below must 

be followed to ensure we provide the safety and security our students deserve. Each Head Coach/A.D. must be prepared to 

provide an accounting of each session/practice plan, including names of participants, schedule of drills/activities included 

in the practice/session, and the sanitization/decontamination protocol utilized before/during/after each practice/session. 

The plan should reference the following expectations:  

● Activities are for participants only-no spectators allowed. Every participant must have a completed and signed 

CCDS Participation Liability Waiver, on file with the school (see below).  

● Each participant must be willing to verify his/her daily self-screening wellness check completion, per the CCDS 

Board approved safety guidelines. 

● Activity Supervisor will keep a daily log of participants including name and phone number.  

● Activity Supervisors must wear face coverings at all times.  

● Student-participants must wear face coverings at all times when not physically involved in a drill or activity.  

● Every attempt must be made to avoid sharing equipment, supplies, tools, etc.  

● Completely sanitize each piece of equipment at the end of each session/practice/competition.  

● Provide hand sanitizer containing a minimum of 70% alcohol to all participants at common points of 

ingress/egress and in common areas and other locations used by participants.  

● Limit the number of participants in the facility to match the CDPH COVID-19 Blueprint Business and Activity Tiers 

Guidance.  
● Where long lines can form, assign a staff member to monitor lines in order to ensure social distancing (6 feet) is 

maintained.  

● Provide contactless payment systems or, if not feasible, sanitize payment systems frequently, depending on 

volume of use, and wear gloves at point of collection.  

● Provide disinfecting wipes containing an EPA-registered disinfectant or other disinfection measure(s) for any staff 

member for use where appropriate.  

● Discontinue the use of shared food and beverage equipment, including water stations and large-volume beverage 

containers (Gatorade coolers, etc.).  

● Discourage participants from bringing their own reusable items from home. Participants should bring individual 

disposable hydration containers (water bottles, Gatorade, etc.).  

 

 

 

By signing below I agree to implement/enforce all expectations and protocols described above.  

Head Coach/Organizer:  

_________________________________            __________________________________        _____________ 
Print Name                                                                     Signature         Date 

 

https://covid19.ca.gov/safer-economy/
https://docs.google.com/document/d/1YZ1BCkrjiVnhe8_ZSr2idRTdHN8rhZ1MBJSCeJOjlUo/edit?usp=sharing
https://docs.google.com/document/d/1YZ1BCkrjiVnhe8_ZSr2idRTdHN8rhZ1MBJSCeJOjlUo/edit?usp=sharing


 
 
VOLUNTARY PARTICIPATION LIABILITY WAIVER  

IN CONSIDERATION FOR BEING PERMITTED BY THE CHICO COUNTRY DAY SCHOOL TO PARTICIPATE IN THE ABOVE ACTIVITY, I HEREBY WAIVE, 

RELEASE, AND DISCHARGE ANY AND ALL CLAIMS FOR DAMAGES FOR PERSONAL INJURY, ILLNESS (INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, COVID-19) 

DEATH, OR PROPERTY DAMAGE WHICH I MAY HAVE OR WHICH MAY HEREAFTER ACCRUE AS A RESULT OF MY PARTICIPATION IN SAID ACTIVITY.  

THIS RELEASE IS INTENDED TO DISCHARGE IN ADVANCE THE ABOVE SCHOOL (ITS OFFICERS, EMPLOYEES, AND AGENTS) FROM AND AGAINST ANY 

AND ALL LIABILITY ARISING OUT OF OR CONNECTED IN ANY WAY WITH MY PARTICIPATION IN SAID ACTIVITY. I UNDERSTAND I MAY UNDERGO A 

WELLNESS CHECK EACH DAY OF THE ACTIVITY. I UNDERSTAND THAT THE ABOVE ACTIVITY MAY BE OF A HAZARDOUS NATURE AND/OR INCLUDE 

PHYSICAL AND/OR STRENUOUS EXERCISE OR ACTIVITY; AND THAT PARTICIPANTS IN THE ABOVE SPORT OR ACTIVITY OCCASIONALLY SUSTAIN 

MORTAL OR PERSONAL INJURIES AND/OR PROPERTY DAMAGES AS A CONSEQUENCE THEREOF. KNOWING THE RISKS INVOLVED, NEVERTHELESS, I 

HAVE VOLUNTARILY APPLIED TO PARTICIPATE IN SAID ACTIVITY AND I HEREBY AGREE TO ASSUME ANY AND ALL RISKS OF INJURY OR DEATH AND 

TO RELEASE AND HOLD HARMLESS THE ABOVE DISTRICTS, ITS OFFICERS, EMPLOYEES, AND AGENTS. IT IS FURTHER UNDERSTOOD AND AGREED 

THAT THIS WAIVER, RELEASE, AND ASSUMPTION OF RISKS IS TO BE BINDING ON MY HEIRS AND ASSIGNS. I FURTHER AGREE TO INDEMNIFY AND 

TO HOLD THE ABOVE DISTRICTS (ITS OFFICERS, EMPLOYEES, AND AGENTS) FREE AND HARMLESS FROM ANY LOSS, LIABILITY, DAMAGE, COST OR 

EXPENSE WHICH THEY MAY INCUR AS A RESULT OF ANY INJURY AND/OR PROPERTY DAMAGE THAT I MAY SUSTAIN WHILE PARTICIPATING IN SAID 

ACTIVITY. BY SIGNING THIS DOCUMENT I ATTEST MY WILLINGNESS TO CONDUCT A SELF-WELLNESS CHECK, INCLUDING A BODY TEMPERATURE 

CHECK EACH DAY I PARTICIPATE IN THIS ACTIVITY.  

I HAVE CAREFULLY READ THE ABOVE AGREEMENT, WAIVER, AND RELEASE AND FULLY UNDERSTAND ITS CONTENTS. I AM AWARE THAT THIS IS A 

RELEASE OF LIABILITY AND A CONTRACT BETWEEN MYSELF AND THE ABOVE SCHOOL AND SIGN IT OF MY OWN FREE WILL.  

Participant:  

Print Name______________________________________ Signature________________________________________ Date_______________  

IN CONSIDERATION FOR BEING PERMITTED BY THE CHICO COUNTRY DAY SCHOOL  FOR MY DAUGHTER/SON TO PARTICIPATE IN THE ABOVE 

ACTIVITY, I HEREBY WAIVE, RELEASE, AND DISCHARGE ANY AND ALL CLAIMS FOR DAMAGES FOR PERSONAL INJURY, ILLNESS (INCLUDING, BUT NOT 

LIMITED TO, COVID-19) DEATH, OR PROPERTY DAMAGE WHICH MY DAUGHTER/SON MAY HAVE OR WHICH MAY HEREAFTER ACCRUE AS A RESULT 

OF HIS/HER PARTICIPATION IN SAID ACTIVITY. THIS RELEASE IS INTENDED TO DISCHARGE IN ADVANCE THE ABOVE SCHOOL (ITS OFFICERS, 

EMPLOYEES, AND AGENTS) FROM AND AGAINST ANY AND ALL LIABILITY ARISING OUT OF OR CONNECTED IN ANY WAY WITH MY PARTICIPATION IN 

SAID ACTIVITY. I UNDERSTAND MY DAUGHTER/SON MAY UNDERGO A WELLNESS CHECK EACH DAY OF THE ACTIVITY. I UNDERSTAND THAT THE 

ABOVE ACTIVITY MAY BE OF A HAZARDOUS NATURE AND/OR INCLUDE PHYSICAL AND/OR STRENUOUS EXERCISE OR ACTIVITY; AND THAT 

PARTICIPANTS IN THE ABOVE SPORT OR ACTIVITY OCCASIONALLY SUSTAIN MORTAL OR PERSONAL INJURIES AND/OR PROPERTY DAMAGES AS A 

CONSEQUENCE THEREOF. KNOWING THE RISKS INVOLVED, NEVERTHELESS, MY DAUGHTER/SON VOLUNTARILY APPLIED TO PARTICIPATE IN SAID 

ACTIVITY AND I HEREBY AGREE TO ASSUME ANY AND ALL RISKS OF INJURY OR DEATH AND TO RELEASE AND HOLD HARMLESS THE ABOVE 

DISTRICTS, ITS OFFICERS, EMPLOYEES, AND AGENTS. IT IS FURTHER UNDERSTOOD AND AGREED THAT THIS WAIVER, RELEASE, AND ASSUMPTION 

OF RISKS IS TO BE BINDING ON MY HEIRS AND ASSIGNS. I FURTHER AGREE TO INDEMNIFY AND TO HOLD THE ABOVE DISTRICTS (ITS OFFICERS, 

EMPLOYEES, AND AGENTS) FREE AND HARMLESS FROM ANY LOSS, LIABILITY, DAMAGE, COST OR EXPENSE WHICH THEY MAY INCUR AS A RESULT 

OF ANY INJURY AND/OR PROPERTY DAMAGE THAT MY DAUGHTER/SON MAY SUSTAIN WHILE PARTICIPATING IN SAID ACTIVITY. BY SIGNING THIS 

DOCUMENT I ATTEST MY WILLINGNESS TO CONDUCT A WELLNESS CHECK ON MY DAUGHTER/SON, INCLUDING A BODY TEMPERATURE CHECK, 

EACH DAY SHE/HE PARTICIPATES IN THIS ACTIVITY.  

I HAVE CAREFULLY READ THE ABOVE AGREEMENT, WAIVER, AND RELEASE AND FULLY UNDERSTAND ITS CONTENTS. I AM AWARE THAT THIS IS A 

RELEASE OF LIABILITY AND A CONTRACT BETWEEN MYSELF AND THE ABOVE SCHOOL AND SIGN IT OF MY OWN FREE WILL.  

Parent/Guardian of Participant:  

Print Name_________________________________________  Signature_____________________________________ Date________________ 



Click Here for COVID-19 Related Resources

FISCAL REPORT
PUBLIC EDUCATION'S POINT OF REFERENCE FOR MAKING EDUCATED DECISIONS

Newsom’s Reopening Schools Proposal—More Details
Emerge

 

On December 30, 2020, Governor Gavin Newsom announced a proposal to encourage local educational
agencies (LEAs) to resume in-person instruction as early as mid-February by providing incentive grants with
a base rate of $450 per average daily attendance (ADA) to pay for costs associated with classroom-based
learning, such as cleaning, disinfecting, salaries and compensation, and COVID-19 testing for students and
sta� (see “Newsom Proposes Incentive Grants to Reopen Schools” in the December 2020 Fiscal Report). Since
the unveiling of the Governor’s plan, new details have emerged regarding the conditions that must be met for
LEAs to access the grants, which are summarized below. 

The Safe Schools for All Plan would open up rounds of grant funding beginning in February 2021. To qualify
for the �rst round of funding, LEAs must meet the following requirements:

Submit to their county o�ce of education (COE) a COVID-19 Safety Plan (CSP) that complies with new
school reopening guidance from the California Department of Public Health (CDPH) and emergency
regulations for all employers issued by the California Division of Occupational Safety and Health
(CalOSHA) no later than February 1, 2021. Governor Newsom indicated that new CDPH guidance for
schools would be released on Friday, January 8, 2021, which will include testing cadences for students
and sta� to which grantees must adhere. LEAs also must post the CSP on their website homepages. 
 
Submit to their COE a rati�ed collective bargaining agreement or memorandum of understanding, if
applicable, that implements the LEA’s CSP no later than February 1, 2021. Districts in single-district
counties are required to submit their documents to the California Department of Education. 
 
By February 16, 2021, o�er in-person instruction to students in grades TK–2 and specialized cohorts
across all grade spans, including students with disabilities, foster and homeless youth, and students
who are unable to participate in distance learning, with a plan to adhere to asymptomatic testing
requirements of students and sta� consistent with the guidance from the state. LEAs that have already
reopened for in-person instruction and meet these requirements will be able to access the incentive

BY LEILANI AGUINALDO
BY PATTI F.  HERRERA , EDD Copyright 2021 School Services of California, Inc.

posted January 4, 2021

https://www.sscal.com/COVID-19-related-resources
https://www.sscal.com/publications/fiscal-reports/newsom-proposes-incentive-grants-reopen-schools
mailto:leilania@sscal.com
mailto:pattih@sscal.com


grants.  
 
By March 15, 2021, expand in-person instructional o�ering to all TK–6 grade students served, if sixth
grade is o�ered at the elementary school site. 
 
Continue to provide in-person instruction to all speci�ed students through the 2020–21 school year
unless otherwise required by state or local health orders or guidance. 
 
Certify to their COE that students who remain in distance learning have the necessary tools (computing
devices and high-speed internet access) to participate in online education.

LEAs that are unable to meet the condition for funding under the initial round will have the opportunity to
apply for lower grant amounts on a monthly basis. In order to be eligible to apply, they must   meet the
aforementioned requirements by the �rst day of the subsequent months (e.g., March 1, 2021) with in-person
instruction for all TK–2 grade students and specialized cohorts on the �rst day of month and then to students
through grade 6, if applicable, within the subsequent month. 

LEAs that are unable to reopen for in-person instruction by February 16, 2020, due to local health conditions
—speci�cally residing in areas where the average seven-day COVID-19 case rate exceeds 28 per 100,000 per
day—are still eligible to apply for and receive funding from the initial round with base rates of $450 per ADA.
However, they must subsequently o�er in-person instruction and meet all other requirements the month 
immediately following the case-rate level dropping below 28 per 100,000. 

Finally, Governor Newsom’s Administration has con�rmed that the reopening incentive grants will be
allocated based on an LEA’s total ADA minus students enrolled in independent study. The requirement to
o�er in-person instruction covers all grade spans since cohorts of vulnerable students beyond sixth grade are
included in the requirement. Therefore, all LEAs are eligible to apply, including high school districts.  

We will provide updates on the anticipated new school reopening guidance and the reopening incentive grants
once it becomes available. 
 



 

 

COVID-19 and 
Reopening In-Person 
Instruction Framework 
& Public Health 
Guidance for K-12 
Schools in California, 
2020-2021 School Year 

January 14, 2021 



 

1 
 

Table of Contents 
Overview ................................................................................................................................. 3 

Authority .......................................................................................................................... 3 

Summary of Changes and Additions ................................................................................. 4 

Definitions ........................................................................................................................ 5 

In-Person School Reopening..................................................................................................... 7 

Requirements for Schools that have Already Reopened .................................................... 7 

Criteria to Reopen for In-Person Instruction ........................................................................ 8 

COVID-19 Safety Plan (CSP) for In-Person Instruction .......................................................... 9 

Cal/OSHA Prevention Program (CPP) ................................................................................ 9 

COVID-19 School Guidance Checklist ............................................................................... 9 

COVID-19 Safety Plan (CSP) Posting and Submission Requirements for In-Person Instruction . 9 

Cohorting Guidance for Specialized Services ...................................................................12 

Additional Reopening Considerations ..............................................................................13 

School Reopening Guidance ..................................................................................................14 

Layers of Safety: Infection Mitigation Strategies ................................................................14 

General Measures ...........................................................................................................15 

Face Coverings ...............................................................................................................16 

Staff ................................................................................................................................17 

Stable Group Guidance Considerations by Grade Level...................................................18 

Implementing Distancing Inside and Outside the Classroom .............................................21 

Arrival and Departure ......................................................................................................21 

Classroom Space ............................................................................................................21 

Non-Classroom Spaces....................................................................................................22 

Ventilation ......................................................................................................................23 

Promote Healthy Hand Hygiene Practices ........................................................................24 

Cleaning and disinfection................................................................................................25 

Check for Signs, Symptoms and Exposures........................................................................27 

Symptom and Exposure Screening ...................................................................................27 

Symptoms at School ........................................................................................................28 

Staff-to-Staff Interactions..................................................................................................29 

Limit Sharing ....................................................................................................................29 



 

2 
 

Train All Staff and Educate Families ..................................................................................30 

Maintain Healthy Operations ...........................................................................................30 

What to do if there is a Confirmed or Suspected Case of COVID-19 in a School .........................31 

Confirmed COVID-19 Case ..............................................................................................32 

Local Health Department Actions ....................................................................................33 

School Actions ................................................................................................................34 

Measures for When a Cluster or Outbreak is Being Investigated at a School.......................34 

Local Health Department Actions ....................................................................................35 

School Actions ................................................................................................................36 

School Closure Determinations ................................................................................................37 

K-12 School Testing .................................................................................................................38 

Overview ........................................................................................................................38 

Definitions .......................................................................................................................38 

Testing Strategy Approach ..............................................................................................39 

Asymptomatic testing considerations ...............................................................................39 

Vaccines for K-12 Schools .......................................................................................................40 

Appendix 1: Resources ...........................................................................................................41 
School Resource Links ......................................................................................................41 

Appendix 2: Sample Notifications ............................................................................................41 

School Exposure to a Case of COVID-19 Notification ........................................................41 

COVID-19 School Outbreak Notification ...........................................................................42 

School Closure due to COVID-19 Notification ...................................................................43 

Appendix 3: Public Health Directive .........................................................................................45 

Reporting Details of Positive Cases ...................................................................................45 

Appendix 4: Public Health Directive .........................................................................................49 

Reporting Details of In-person instruction ..........................................................................49 
 

  



 

3 
 

Overview 
The California Department of Public Health (CDPH) developed the following 
framework to support school communities as they decide when and how to 
implement in-person instruction for the 2020-2021 school year. This document is 
rooted in the scientific evidence available to date and supports twin goals: safe 
and successful in-person instruction.   

Understanding and evidence about the transmission and epidemiology of SARS-
CoV-2, the virus that causes COVID-19, has evolved significantly over the course 
of the pandemic. Schools throughout the state are now in various stages of 
instruction including fully distance learning, fully in-person learning, and hybrid 
instruction based on local conditions.  

Key mitigation strategies, studied in multiple settings and used successfully in 
schools nationally and internationally, allow for safe in-person instruction. The 
thoughtful implementation of mitigation strategies, specific to school context, 
provides a careful and effective pathway forward as community transmission 
rates fluctuate.  

Information about the latest science of COVID-19 transmissions, including 
evidence regarding the lower risk of transmission for elementary aged students 
compared to middle and high-school aged students, is available here as an 
evidence summary. However, new evidence and data about COVID-19 
transmission, including variations by age, and the effectiveness of disease 
control and mitigation strategies continues to emerge regularly.  

Recommendations regarding in-person school reopening and closure should be 
based on the latest available evidence as well as state and local disease trends 
and we will update this guidance as needed to reflect new evidence.  

This document is intended to provide an update to the COVID-19 and 
Reopening In-Person Learning Framework for K-12 Schools in California, 2020-
2021 School Year (July 17, 2020) guidance. This document also provides a 
consolidation of content from other CDPH COVID-19 and school-related 
guidance and supersedes previous CDPH COVID-19 and Cal/OSHA school 
guidance. 

AUTHORITY  
This guidance is a public health directive that applies to all public and private 
schools operating in California. Under operative executive orders and provisions 
of the California Health and Safety Code, schools must comply with orders and 
guidance issued by the California Department of Public Health and relevant 

https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CID/DCDC/Pages/COVID-19/Safe-Schools-for-All-Plan-Science.aspx
https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CID/DCDC/Pages/COVID-19/Safe-Schools-for-All-Plan-Science.aspx
https://www.gov.ca.gov/2020/03/19/governor-gavin-newsom-issues-stay-at-home-order/


 

4 
 

local health departments (LHDs) to limit the spread of COVID-19 and protect 
public health.  
 
Governmental and non-governmental entities at all levels have issued guidance 
and directives relating to the safe reopening of schools for in-person instruction. 
Schools may comply with guidance from other federal, state, local, and non-
governmental sources, to the extent those guidelines are not weaker than or 
inconsistent with state and local public health directives. 
 

This updated directive also incorporates two other public health directives 
issued January 14, 2021, related to: (1) reporting details of any positive case of a 
person who has been on campus to LHDs and (2) reporting to CDPH whether 
and to what degree all public and private schools have reopened to serve 
students in-person on campus. These directives are attached as Appendices 3 
and 4. 

SUMMARY OF CHANGES AND ADDITIONS 
CDPH developed this comprehensive framework to support school communities 
as they determine how to implement in-person instruction for the remainder of 
the 2020-2021 school year. 

This document is intended to consolidate and update prior state public health 
guidance and orders related to schools. Specifically, this document supersedes 
the following guidance, orders, and frequently asked questions: 

• COVID-19 Industry Guidance: Schools and School-Based Programs (first 
published in May 2020; last updated August 3, 2020).  

• The COVID-19 and Reopening In-Person Learning Framework for K-12 
Schools in California, 2020-2021 School Year (July 17, 2020). 

• The Elementary Education Waiver process and the associated School 
Waiver Letter and Cover Form and Local Health Officer Waiver Notice 
Form (all issued on August 3, 2020).  

• CDPH Schools Frequently Asked Questions (first issued August 3, 2020; last 
updated October 20, 2020).  

This update provides both K-12 schools and LHDs additional guidance for 
providing in-person instruction, including: 

1. Criteria and processes for school reopenings under the Blueprint for a 
Safer Economy framework. (Updated on January 19, 2021 to clarify 
language in the Re-open definition.) 

2. Considerations intended to help school community leaders plan for and 
prepare to resume in-person instruction including steps to take when a 

https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CID/DCDC/Pages/COVID-19/COVID19CountyMonitoringOverview.aspx
https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CID/DCDC/Pages/COVID-19/COVID19CountyMonitoringOverview.aspx


 

5 
 

student or staff member is found to have COVID-19 symptoms during the 
school day and while participating in before and after school programs. 

3. Response to confirmed COVID-19 infections when:  
a. a case of COVID-19 is confirmed in a student or staff member; and 
b. a cluster or outbreak of COVID-19 at a school is being investigated. 

4. Physical distancing in classrooms. 
5. Implementation of stable groups of students and staff. 

This document does not modify or supersede the Guidance Related to Cohorts 
for Children and Youth (first issued on August 25, 2020; last updated September 
4, 2020), which applies to groups of children and youth in controlled, supervised, 
and indoor environments. The Cohort Guidance continues to allow schools that 
are not permitted to reopen under state or local public health directives and 
schools (and any grades at schools) that have not yet reopened if permitted to 
do so to serve students in-person in small, stable cohorts, as specified in the 
Cohort Guidance.  

DEFINITIONS 

Schools and Local Educational Agencies (LEAs): As used throughout this 
document, refer to county offices of education or their equivalent, school 
districts, charter schools, and the governing authorities of private schools 
(including nonpublic nonsectarian schools). 

Transitional Kindergarten: Means the first year of a two-year kindergarten 
program that uses a modified kindergarten curriculum that is age and 
developmentally appropriate. As used throughout this document, 
“kindergarten” is inclusive of transitional kindergarten.  

Cohorts: In this document, “cohorts” has a specific meaning, which are groups 
of students who are meeting for targeted supports and intervention services, 
under the direction of an LEA, while the school is closed to in-person instruction 
and in addition to distance learning. Sometimes these groups are also called 
“learning hubs” or “pods.” Regardless of the name, all of the provisions in the 
Cohorting Guidance must be followed for such cohorts to meet, whether they 
are operated by LEAs, non-profits, or other providers, as a maximum of 16 
individuals (students and staff). In this document, “cohort” does not refer to the 
more general “stable groups” that are described in the Stable Group Guidance 
section below.   

Reopen for in-person instruction: 

What does it mean to be “open” or “reopened”? The term “open” or “reopen” 
refers to operations for at least one grade at the school that are permitted only 

https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CID/DCDC/Pages/COVID-19/small-groups-child-youth.aspx
https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CID/DCDC/Pages/COVID-19/small-groups-child-youth.aspx
https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CID/DCDC/Pages/COVID-19/small-groups-child-youth.aspx


 

6 
 

if the county satisfies the eligibility requirements for schools to “open” or 
“reopen.” Specifically, the school must have given all students in at least one 
grade the option to return for in-person instruction for at least part of the school-
week to be considered to “open” or “reopen.”  This includes a school that has 
offered all students in at least one grade the option of receiving in-person 
instruction for only certain days during the week (commonly referred to as a 
“hybrid” model).  Schools that were operating only in the manner permitted 
under the Cohorting Guidance are therefore not “open” or “reopened.” 

In addition, if only some students were being served in-person in a school in a 
county in the Red Tier or lower (e.g., only students with disabilities) and all 
students in at least one grade did not have the option to return in-person as 
described above, the school has not “opened” or “reopened.”  In such 
circumstances, if the school is located in a county that shifts to the Purple Tier, 
the school may continue serving the students in-person as it did as of January 
14, 2021, but it may not bring additional students back for in-person instruction 
and services, unless it adheres to the Cohort Guidance for the students newly 
brought back in-person.   

Is a school “reopened” if it was previously permitted to reopen but became 
ineligible to reopen before actually reopening? No. Schools must have actually 
reopened for in-person instruction (using the definition above) while the county 
was in the Red Tier in order to remain open if the county moves back to Purple 
Tier. If the county is in the Purple Tier on the day the school plans to reopen for 
in-person instruction, the school must wait until it is eligible again. 

If a school was implementing a phased reopening (e.g., only opened grades 9-
10 for in-person instruction with set plans to phase in grades 11 and 12) while the 
county was in the Red Tier, the school site may continue their phased reopening 
if the county reverts back to the Purple Tier, if authorized by local health officer 
(LHO). This is only applicable to individual school sites. If a school district has a 
phased reopening of their schools, the schools in that district that did not open 
for in-person instruction may not re-open until the county meets the reopening 
criteria.  

This also applies to schools subject to the updated Elementary Reopening 
Process (see below) applicable to the Purple Tier. Even if the school previously 
received a waiver under the former Elementary Education Waiver Process or 
meets the conditions to reopen under the updated Elementary Reopening 
Process, if it has not yet reopened and the county case rate (CR) exceeds the 
criteria described below, the school must delay reopening until the county case 
rate drops below the threshold.  



 

7 
 

In-Person School Reopening  
The two subsections below describe the requirements for all schools, including 
those that have already reopened and those that have not. The Blueprint for a 
Safer Economy continues to inform the school reopening process. The Blueprint 
for a Safer Economy is based on Tiers, defined using the CR, the 7-day average 
of daily COVID-19 cases per 100,000 population, and the test positivity in a 
county. This Schools Framework uses the adjusted case rate, as described in the 
Blueprint. 

Under this updated guidance, all schools must complete and post to their 
website homepages a COVID-19 Safety Plan (CSP), described below in COVID-
19 Safety Plan for In-person Instruction section (page 10) prior to reopening for 
in-person instruction. Schools that have already reopened are required to post 
their CSPs by February 1, 2021. The CSP is intended to consolidate requirements 
to develop written plans pursuant to CDPH guidance first issued in May 2020 and 
the Cal/OSHA Emergency Temporary Standards finalized in November 2020. 

Of note, the Cal/OSHA Emergency Temporary Standards require a written plan 
called the Cal/OSHA COVID-19 Prevention Program (CPP) (see the COVID-19 
Safety Plan for In-person Instruction for more information); therefore, schools are 
expected to have already created this written plan. In order to align with 
Cal/OSHA standards and minimize burden to schools, the CPP for the school is 
the first component of the CSP.  

As described below, under the updated Elementary Reopening Process, schools 
must also submit a copy of the CSP to the LHD and the State Safe Schools for All 
Team before they reopen elementary schools if they are operating within a 
jurisdiction or county that is in the Purple Tier.  

REQUIREMENTS FOR SCHOOLS THAT HAVE ALREADY 
REOPENED  
The COVID-19 and Reopening In-Person Learning Framework for K-12 Schools in 
California, 2020-2021 School Year (July 17, 2020 Framework) permitted schools to 
reopen for in-person instruction at all grades if they are located in counties in the 
Red, Orange, or Yellow Tiers under the Blueprint for a Safer Economy. Operations 
for schools that are already open must adhere to the School Reopening 
Guidance section below.   

Schools that have already reopened for in-person instruction must, by February 
1, 2021, complete and post a COVID-19 Safety Plan (CSP) to their website 
homepage or, in the case of schools that do not maintain websites, in another 



 

8 
 

publicly accessible manner, to continue operating in-person instruction, as 
described in the Covid-19 Safety Plan for In-Person Instruction section.    

Schools that have reopened are not required to close if the county moves to 
the Purple Tier or goes over a CR of 25 per 100,000 population. See School 
Closure Determinations below for more information. 

CRITERIA TO REOPEN FOR IN-PERSON INSTRUCTION 
Red, Orange, and Yellow Tiers. Consistent with the July 17 Framework, schools 
may reopen at all grades if they are located in counties in the Red, Orange or 
Yellow Tiers under the Blueprint for a Safer Economy. Operations once reopened 
must adhere to the updated Sector Guidance for School and School-Based 
Program reflected in this document (see below). Schools that reopen under this 
paragraph must complete and post a CSP to their website homepage before 
reopening for in-person instruction, as described in the CSP Posting and 
Submission Requirements for In-Person Instruction section. 

Purple Tier. Schools may not reopen for grades 7-12 if the county is in Purple Tier.  
Subject to the limitation in the bullet immediately below, schools serving grades 
K-6 may reopen for in-person instruction in the Purple Tier, including during a 
State of California Regional Stay at Home Order, if they complete and post a 
CSP to their website homepage and submit the CSP to their local health officer 
(LHO) and the State Safe Schools for All Team and there are no identified 
deficiencies, as described in the Covid-19 Safety Plan (CSP) Posting and 
Submission Requirements for In-Person Instruction section below.    

• K-6 schools in counties in Purple Tier with CR>25: Schools serving students 
in grades K-6 may not reopen for in-person instruction in counties with 
adjusted CR above 25 cases per 100,000 population per day. They may 
post and submit a CSP, but they are not permitted to resume in-person 
instruction until the adjusted CR has been less than 25 per 100,000 
population per day for at least 5 consecutive days. This case rate reflects 
recommendations from the Harvard Global Health Institute analysis of safe 
school reopening policy. Please find additional information on how the 
adjusted CR is calculated here.  Recognizing that re-opening for in-person 
instruction takes time to routinize and improve safety, and that some 
schools may have already been conducting in-person learning 
successfully and had time to optimize all their policies and procedures to 
support minimal disease transmission on-site and detect new cases, 
schools who have already opened, as defined above, with minimal or no 
in-school transmission,  may remain open and may consider increasing 
testing per CDPH supported testing framework.    

https://globalepidemics.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/pandemic_resilient_schools_briefing_72020.pdf
https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CID/DCDC/Pages/COVID-19/COVID19CountyMonitoringOverview.aspx
https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CID/DCDC/CDPH%20Document%20Library/COVID-19/K12_School_Testing_Considerations_Information.pdf


 

9 
 

These new criteria and the requirements below replace the Elementary 
Education Waiver (issued August 3) that allowed LHOs to grant a waiver to 
school applicants for grades K-6 if specific criteria were satisfied. All waivers 
approved prior to this date remain valid. 

COVID-19 SAFETY PLAN (CSP) FOR IN-PERSON 
INSTRUCTION 
The COVID-19 Safety plan (CSP) consists of two parts: (1) the Cal/OSHA COVID-
19 Prevention Program (CPP) and (2) the COVID-19 School Guidance Checklist. 

Cal/OSHA Prevention Program (CPP) 
On December 1, 2020, Cal/OSHA’s Emergency Temporary Standards requiring 
employers to protect workers from hazards related to COVID-19 went into effect. 
The regulations require that employers, including schools, establish and 
implement a written CPP to address COVID-19 health hazards, correct unsafe or 
unhealthy conditions, and provide face coverings. Employers can also create a 
written CPP by incorporating elements of this program into their existing Injury 
and Illness Prevention Program (IIPP), if desired. Cal/OSHA has posted FAQs and 
a one-page fact sheet on the regulation, as well as a model COVID-19 
prevention program. 

• Cal/OSHA Frequently Asked Questions 
• Cal/OSHA Fact Sheet 
• Cal/OSHA Prevention Program Template - Example 

 

COVID-19 School Guidance Checklist 
In addition to the CPP, a COVID-19 School Guidance Checklist must be 
included and be posted online and submitted as outlined below.   

COVID-19 SAFETY PLAN (CSP) POSTING AND 
SUBMISSION REQUIREMENTS FOR IN-PERSON 
INSTRUCTION 
The Tiers from the Blueprint for a Safer Economy Framework inform the process 
needed for submission of CSPs for maintaining and/or resuming in-person 
instruction as described below and in Table 1.  

Yellow (Tier 4/Minimal), Orange (Tier 3/Moderate), and Red (Tier 2/Substantial):  

https://www.dir.ca.gov/dosh/coronavirus/COVID19FAQs.html
https://www.dir.ca.gov/dosh/dosh_publications/COVIDOnePageFS.pdf
https://www.dir.ca.gov/dosh/dosh_publications/CPP.doc


 

10 
 

• For schools that have already reopened and are located in a county that 
is in the Yellow, Orange, or Red Tier, the LEA must post the CSP publicly on 
its website homepage by February 1, 2021.  

• For those schools that have not reopened, and the county has been in 
the Purple Tier, the county must be in the Red Tier for 5 consecutive days 
before the school may reopen.  

• For schools that have not reopened, the LEA must complete and post the 
CSP publicly on its website homepage at least 5 days prior to providing in-
person instruction.  

• While developing and prior to posting a CSP, it is strongly recommended 
that the LEA (or equivalent) consult with labor, parent, and community 
organizations. Examples of community organizations include school-based 
non-profit organizations and local organizations that support student 
enrichment, recreation, after-school programs, health services, early 
childhood services, or provide family support. 

Purple (Tier 1/Widespread):  

• For schools that have already reopened and are located in a county or 
LHD that is in the Purple Tier, the LEA must post the CSP publicly on its 
website homepage by February 1, 2021.  

• Schools serving grades K-6 not already open, may reopen for in-person 
instruction if the LEA completes and posts a CSP to its website homepage 
and submits the CSP to their LHD and the State Safe Schools for All Team 
and does not receive notification of a finding that the CSP is deficient 
within 7 business days of submission. Under these circumstances, schools 
serving grades K-6 may only reopen for their K-6 grade students, even if 
their school serves non-K-6 grade students (e.g., a 6-8 school). 

o While developing and prior to submitting a CSP, the LEA must 
consult with labor, parent, and community organizations. Examples 
of community organizations include school-based non-profit 
organizations and local organizations that support student 
enrichment, recreation, after-school programs, health services, 
early childhood services or provide family support. 

o The COVID-19 School Guidance Checklist requires that the LEA 
provide evidence of consultation with labor, parent, and 
community organizations. 
 The LEA must sign an attestation confirming the names and 

dates that the organizations were consulted. If school staff 
are not represented by a labor organization, then the 
applicant must describe the process by which it consulted 
with school staff. 



 

11 
 

o The LEA must confirm publication of the CSP on the website of the 
LEA. 

o The LEA must submit the CSP on behalf of all schools within their 
direct administrative authority, with site-specific precautions noted 
within the CSP to address considerations unique to specific school 
sites, as applicable. For example, a school district must submit a 
consolidated CSP for every school under its direct administrative 
authority, and must outline site-specific precautions insofar as there 
are features unique to the site that raise greater risks of COVID-19 
transmission. 

o If a group of private, faith-based, or charter schools within a single 
county are subject to the same governing authority (e.g., an 
archdiocese, charter management organization, etc.), the 
governing authority may submit the CSP on behalf of those schools, 
but must address site-specific considerations consistent with the 
bullet above. Otherwise, independent, private, faith-based, or 
charter schools that are affiliated with a broader network should 
post and submit the CSP for each school.  

o LHDs and the State Safe Schools for All Team have 7 business days 
to provide feedback to the LEA regarding deficiencies in the CSP.  

o The school may reopen on the eighth business day after submitting 
the CSP if the LHD and/or State Safe Schools for All Team do not 
provide notification that the CSP is unsafe within 7 business days of 
submission.  

o If the LHD and/or State Safe Schools for All Team identify any 
deficiencies during the 7-business-day review period, the LEA will 
receive feedback on what they need to improve in order to be 
able to reopen for in-person instruction.  

o After the LEA responds to feedback and re-submits the plan, the 
entity that identified the deficiency will have 7 business days to 
review revisions. 

o If the LHD has noted a deficiency in a submitted CSP and has 
required a response prior to opening for in-person instruction, the 
LHD must notify the State Safe Schools for All Team.  

o The school may reopen on eighth business day after submitting the 
revisions if the LHD and the State Safe Schools for All Team do not 
provide additional feedback.  

• As noted above, schools serving grades K-6 may not reopen for in-person 
instruction in jurisdictions with CR above 25 cases per 100,000 population 
per day.  
 



 

12 
 

Table 1. School reopening actions for in-person instruction, by Tier 

Yellow 

CR <1.0* 
TP<2% 

Orange 

CR 1-3.9* 
TP 2-4.9% 

Red 

CR 4-7* 
TP 5-8% 

Purple 

CR>7* 
TP >8% 

- CSP 
posted 
publicly for 
K-12th 
grades 5 
days prior to 
in-person 
instruction. 
 

- CSP 
posted 
publicly for 
K-12th 
grades 5 
days prior 
to in-person 
instruction. 
 

- CSP 
posted 
publicly for 
K-12th 
grades 5 
days prior 
to in-person 
instruction.  
- Must be in 
Red 5 days 
prior to 
reopening.  

- Already reopened: CSP posted 
publicly by 02/01/21. 
Not previously open: 
- CSP posted publicly for K-6, and 
submitted concurrently to LHD and 
State Safe Schools for All Team. 
- 7 business days for review. 
- 7th-12th grade reopening not 
permitted if CR>7*. 
- K-6th grade reopening not 
permitted if CR>25*, though CSP 
can be posted and submitted for 
review. 
- Note: Targeted in-person 
instruction may be offered pursuant 
to the Cohorting Guidance. 

*Adjusted case rate. 

While not required, LEAs are strongly encouraged to post on their website, along 
with the CSP, the detailed plans describing how they will meet the requirements 
outlined in the CSP elements. This can provide transparency to school 
community members making decisions about participation in in-person learning.  

The email address for submission of the CSP to the State Safe Schools for All 
Team is: K12csp@cdph.ca.gov.  

Cohorting Guidance for Specialized Services 
This updated guidance does not modify or supersede the applicability of the 
Cohorting Guidance to school settings. More information regarding the 
minimum health and safety guidelines that must be followed to provide in-
person services and supervision to children and youth in cohorts is set forth in the 
Cohorting Guidance, which applies across multiple sectors serving youth, 
including childcare and schools that are not reopened for in-person instruction. 

The stable groups described in the Cohorting Guidance, and described below 
in the Stable Group Guidance decreases opportunities for exposure to or 
transmission of the virus; reduces the numbers of exposed individuals if COVID-19 

mailto:K12csp@cdph.ca.gov
https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CID/DCDC/Pages/COVID-19/small-groups-child-youth.aspx


 

13 
 

is introduced into the cohort; facilitates more efficient contact tracing in the 
event of a positive case; and allows for targeted testing and quarantine of a 
single cohort instead of potential schoolwide closures in the event of a positive 
case or cluster of cases. 

The Cohorting Guidance provides a way for schools not yet permitted to reopen 
under state and local public health directives or that have not yet reopened 
even though permitted to reopen to provide in-person supervision, instruction, 
targeted support services, and facilitation of distance learning for some 
students, especially high-need student groups and students who may not be 
able to benefit fully from distance learning offerings.  

Existing state law requires public schools to provide in-person instruction to the 
greatest extent possible (Education Code section 45304(b)). State law further 
requires that distance learning ensure access to connectivity and devices that 
allow students to participate in the educational program and complete 
assigned work. In addition, state law requires that students with disabilities and 
English learners receive educational and related services to which they are 
entitled under the law, among other requirements (Education Code section 
45303(b) (1), (4) & (5)). The Cohorting Guidance therefore provides an important 
avenue for schools that have not yet reopened under this guidance to provide 
supervision, instruction and support to small cohorts of students to ensure 
students receive necessary services even while students are generally 
participating in distance learning.    

ADDITIONAL REOPENING CONSIDERATIONS 
Availability of Distance Learning for Students Who Request It. Schools should 
continue to offer distance learning for students who request it.  

Thoughtful, Phased Implementation. K-12 school sites should employ a phased-in 
model as a part of their reopening plan. Phased reopening plans for in-person 
instruction may include, but are not limited to:  

• Shifting from a full distance learning model to hybrid. 
• Gradually allowing for specified grades and/or a percentage of each 

grade to resume in-person learning, beginning with the youngest and 
most disproportionately impacted students. 

• Allowing for a gradual number of students, at a specified capacity, per 
grade or school site. 

If a school with a phased-in model has opened for in-person instruction, and the 
county changes to the Purple Tier or to a CR>25, the school may continue the 
phased reopening.   



 

14 
 

Staff Access to Campus if Not Reopened for In-Person Instruction. Teachers, 
school and support staff, and administrators may return to work physically 
without students on site while counties are not open for in-person instruction, 
provided that those on site follow the school’s COVID-19 Safety Plan consistent 
with Cal/OSHA regulations. 

Boarding Schools. Residential components of boarding schools are to remain 
closed (with the exception of residential components of boarding schools that 
are currently operating with the permission of local health authorities, and those 
serving wards or dependents of the juvenile courts) regardless of the Tier status 
of their county until further guidance is issued. The non-residential components 
of boarding schools (e.g., in-person instruction for day students) are governed 
by the same guidelines as other K-12 schools. 

School Reopening Guidance 
All guidance, as schools plan and prepare to resume in-person instruction, 
should be implemented as outlined in the In-Person School Reopening section, 
including the development of a CSP.  

LAYERS OF SAFETY: INFECTION MITIGATION STRATEGIES 
A key goal for safe schools is to reduce or eliminate in-school transmission. A 
helpful conceptual framing as schools plan for and implement safety measures 
for in-person instruction, is the layering of mitigation strategies. Each strategy 
(face coverings, stable groups, distancing, etc.) decreases the risk of in-school 
transmission; but no one layer is 100% effective. It is the combination of layers 
that are most effective and have been shown to decrease transmissions.   

As schools plan for reopening for in-person instruction and as they continue to 
work on operations once open, it may be helpful to understand the mitigation 
strategies with stronger evidence supporting their use. We have ordered the list 
below such that the interventions known at this time to be more effective in 
reducing the risk of transmission appear before the ones that are helpful but 
may have a potentially smaller effect or have less evidence of efficacy. Of note, 
though scientific comparative assessments are limited, the top three items are 
likely of similar importance: 

1. Face coverings. 
2. Stable groups.  
3. Physical distancing.  
4. Adequate ventilation. 
5. Hand hygiene.  



 

15 
 

6. Symptom and close contact exposure screening, with exclusion from 
school for staff or students with symptoms or with confirmed close contact. 

7. Surveillance or screening testing. 

Frequent disinfection, which was thought at the beginning of the pandemic to 
be a key safety component, can pose a health risk to children and students due 
to the chemicals used and has proven to have limited to no impact on COVID-
19 transmission. Disinfection with specified products (see Cleaning and 
Disinfection section), is recommended for schools after a case has been 
identified in the school, in the spaces where the case spent a large proportion 
of their time (e.g., classroom, or administrator’s office if an administrator). Please 
see Cleaning and Disinfection section for additional details.  

Of note, adults (>18 years old) appear to be more infectious overall than 
children, making staff-to-staff transmission an important focus for safety efforts.  
A specific situation that has resulted in exposure and transmission among staff in 
multiple schools is eating and drinking indoors without being physically distant 
(for instance, in break rooms or common areas). Specific messaging and 
support to staff to prevent this scenario are strongly recommended.   

The following sections outline specific actions school sites should take to keep 
students and staff safe.  

GENERAL MEASURES  
Establish and continue communication with local and state authorities to 
determine current disease levels and control measures in your community. For 
example: 

• Consult with your LHO, or designated public health staff, who are best 
positioned to monitor and provide advice on local conditions. A directory 
can be found here. 

• Collaborate with other schools and school partners in your region, 
including the county office of education. 

• Access State Technical Assistance resources available for schools and for 
LHDs to support safe and successful in-person instruction, available on the 
Safe Schools for All Hub.  

• Regularly review updated guidance from state agencies, including CDPH 
and California Department of Education. 

Per Cal/OSHA requirements noted above, establish a written CPP at every 
facility, perform a comprehensive risk assessment of all work areas and work 
tasks, and designate a person at each school to implement the plan. 

https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CCLHO/Pages/CCLHO-Health-Officer-Directory.aspx
https://schools.covid19.ca.gov/
https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CID/DCDC/Pages/Guidance.aspx
https://www.cde.ca.gov/ls/he/hn/coronavirus.asp


 

16 
 

FACE COVERINGS 
Face coverings must be used in accordance with CDPH guidelines unless a 
person is exempt as explained in the guidelines.  

• Information contained in the CDPH Guidance for the Use of Face 
Coverings should be provided to staff and families of students. The face 
covering guidance applies to all settings, including schools. The guidance 
discusses the circumstances in which face coverings must be worn and 
the exemptions, as well as any policies, work rules, and practices 
employers have adopted to ensure the use of face coverings. 

• Teach and reinforce use of face coverings, or in limited instances, face 
shields with drapes. 

• Students and staff should be frequently reminded not to touch the face 
covering and to wash their hands frequently. 

• Information should be provided to all staff and families in the school  
community on proper use, removal, and washing of cloth face coverings. 

• Training should also include policies on how people who are exempted 
from wearing a face covering will be addressed. 

• Students in all grade levels K-12 are required to wear face coverings at all 
times, while at school, unless exempted.  

o A cloth face covering or face shield should be removed for meals, 
snacks, naptime, or when it needs to be replaced. When a cloth 
face covering is temporarily removed, it should be placed in a 
clean, safe area, clearly marked with the student’s name and date, 
until it needs to be put on again. 

• Participants in youth and adult sports should wear face coverings when 
participating in the activity, even with heavy exertion as tolerated, both 
indoors and outdoors. 

• The face covering guidance recognizes that there are some people who 
cannot wear a face covering for a number of different reasons. People 
are exempted from the requirement if they are under age 2, have a 
medical or mental health condition or disability that would impede them 
from properly wearing or handling a face covering, those with a 
communication disability, or when it would inhibit communication with a 
person who is hearing impaired. Those with communication disabilities or 
caregivers of those with communication disabilities can consider wearing 
a clear mask or cloth mask with a clear panel when appropriate.  

• Persons exempted from wearing a face covering due to a medical 
condition, as confirmed by school district health team and therapists, must 
wear a non-restrictive alternative, such as a face shield with a drape on 
the bottom edge, as long as their condition permits it.  

https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CID/DCDC/Pages/COVID-19/guidance-for-face-coverings.aspx
https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CID/DCDC/Pages/COVID-19/guidance-for-face-coverings.aspx
https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CID/DCDC/Pages/COVID-19/guidance-for-face-coverings.aspx
https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/prevent-getting-sick/diy-cloth-face-coverings.html
https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CID/DCDC/CDPH%20Document%20Library/COVID-19/faceshield_handout.pdf
https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CID/DCDC/CDPH%20Document%20Library/COVID-19/faceshield_handout.pdf
https://www.cdc.gov/handwashing/index.html
https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/prevent-getting-sick/diy-cloth-face-coverings.html
https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CID/DCDC/Pages/COVID-19/guidance-for-face-coverings.aspx


 

17 
 

• Schools must develop protocols to provide a face covering to students 
who inadvertently fail to bring a face covering to school to prevent 
unnecessary exclusions.  

• Schools should offer alternative educational opportunities for students 
who are excluded from campus because they will not wear a face 
covering.  

• In order to comply with this guidance, schools must exclude students from 
campus if they are not exempt from wearing a face covering under 
CDPH guidelines and refuse to wear one provided by the school.  

• Employers must provide and ensure staff use face coverings and all other 
required personal protective equipment in accordance with CDPH 
guidelines. 

• The California Governor’s Office of Emergency Services (CalOES) and 
CDPH are and will be working to support procurement and distribution of 
face coverings and needed personal protective equipment to schools. 
Additional information can be found here. 

• The Department of General Services negotiated statewide master 
contracts, which LEAs may leverage to reduce costs and secure supply 
chains. Additional information can be found here. 

• Face covering policies apply on school buses and any vehicle affiliated 
with the LEA used to transport students, staff, or teachers to and/or from a 
school site. 

• Classrooms, school buses, and shared school office spaces used by 
persons who cannot tolerate face coverings are less safe for others who 
share that environment. Schools may want to consider notifying others 
who share spaces with unmasked or sub-optimally masked individuals 
about the environment. Also consider employing several additional 
mitigation strategies (or fortifying existing mitigation strategies) to optimize 
safety. These may include increasing the frequency of asymptomatic tests 
offered to unmasked or sub-optimally masked individuals, employing 
longer social distances, installing clear physical barriers, reducing duration 
of time in shared environments, and opting for either outdoor or highly-
ventilated indoor educational spaces, as possible.    

Staff 
• All staff must use face coverings in accordance with CDPH guidelines 

unless Cal/OSHA standards require respiratory protection. 
• For staff who come into routine contact with others, CDPH recommends 

the use of disposable 3-ply surgical masks, which are more effective than 
cloth face coverings. 

https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CID/DCDC/CDPH%20Document%20Library/COVID-19/Guidance-for-Face-Coverings_06-18-2020.pdf
https://covid19.ca.gov/masks-and-ppe/
https://www.dgs.ca.gov/PD/Services/Page-Content/Procurement-Division-Services-List-Folder/Find-Masks-Respirator-and-Surgical-on-Statewide-Contracts
https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CID/DCDC/Pages/COVID-19/guidance-for-face-coverings.aspx


 

18 
 

• In limited situations where a face covering cannot be used for 
pedagogical or developmental reasons, (e.g., communicating or assisting 
young children or those with special needs) a face shield with a drape 
(per CDPH guidelines) can be used instead of a face covering while in the 
classroom as long as the wearer maintains physical distance from others. 
Staff must return to wearing a face covering outside of the classroom. 

• Workers or other persons handling or serving food must use gloves in 
addition to face coverings.  

• Employers should consider where disposable glove use may be helpful to 
supplement frequent handwashing or use of hand sanitizer; examples are 
for workers who are screening others for symptoms or handling commonly 
touched items. 

STABLE GROUP GUIDANCE CONSIDERATIONS BY 
GRADE LEVEL 
Stable groups provide a key mitigation layer in schools. A stable group is a group 
with fixed membership that stays together without mixing with any other groups 
for any activities.  

Guidance from other agencies, including the federal Centers for Disease 
Control and Prevention (CDC), sometimes refers to them as “cohorts”1 or 
“pods.”   

Implementing stable groups of students and staff reduces the numbers of 
exposed individuals if COVID-19 is introduced into the group, decreases 
opportunities for exposure to or transmission of the virus; facilitates more efficient 
contact tracing in the event of a positive case; and allows for targeted testing 
and quarantine of a small group instead of potential schoolwide closures in the 
event of a positive case or cluster of cases. 

How can an elementary school create stable groups?   

• Students can be placed into stable groups that stay together all day with 
their core teacher (and any aide or student teacher who is present). If 
there are counselors or teachers of electives, they should ideally be 
assigned to only one group or conduct their classes / counseling virtually.  

 
1 The CDC’s use of the term is different from the use of “cohort” within 
California’s guidance. “Cohort” is specifically defined in the Cohort Guidance 
as a group no larger than 16 individuals. To avoid any confusion, this guidance 
uses “stable group” instead of “cohort” for this concept. 

https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CID/DCDC/Pages/COVID-19/guidance-for-face-coverings.aspx


 

19 
 

• Students should eat lunch and go to recess with their group at times that 
are staggered and separated from other groups. 

• There are different approaches to organizing stable groups. Students can 
be divided into smaller groups that attend school in person on a rotating 
schedule. Here are a few examples: 

o A group of students comes to school for in-person instruction on 
Monday and Tuesday. Another attends on Thursday and Friday.  

o On the alternating days, they learn remotely.  
o Some LEAs or schools have students attend school in-person during 

alternating weeks.  
o Other LEAs or schools have one group of students attend school in 

person in the morning and another group attend school in person in 
the afternoon.  

These approaches create even smaller groups that stay together and do 
not mix with one another. Electives or counseling can be conducted 
virtually to limit the number of staff in direct contact with any given stable 
group.  

How can a middle or high schools school create stable groups?  

• Students can be placed into groups that remain together all day during 
in-person instruction. Middle or high school groups are often larger than 
elementary school groups. Because middle and high school curricula 
differ from elementary school curricula, teachers are not usually assigned 
to one stable group of students, creating an opportunity for mixing across 
stable groups or students. The following guidance provides examples of 
approaches to minimizing crossover of staff across stable groups of 
students.  

• The CDC guidance notes that schools may keep a single group 
together in one classroom and have educators rotate between groups, or 
have smaller groups move together in staggered passing schedules to 
other rooms they need to use (e.g., science labs) without allowing 
students or staff to mix with others from distinctive groups. 

• Teachers and supports staff from different content areas can work in 
teams that share students, preferably in a dedicated space, separate 
from others. For example: math, science, English, and history teachers 
might work as a team with a set group of students they share.  

• When combined with block schedules that reduce the number of courses 
students take in any one day, the number of educators and students who 
interact can be minimized further.  

• It is also possible to keep students in one stable group that stays together 
with one or two instructors who teach them directly part of the day and 



 

20 
 

support their instruction from others who teach them virtually during other 
parts of the day. 

• Electives can be offered virtually or organized so that no group of students 
takes more than one elective in a term and the elective teachers do not 
work with more than one or two groups. 

• Stable groups could switch schedules or even membership after a break 
at the quarter, trimester, or semester in ways that support students being 
able to take additional classes without substantial group mixing. 

• The school year can be divided into even smaller time units – 4 to 8 weeks 
for example – in which students study one or two subjects intensively, 
completing all of the work they might normally have completed in a 
semester or a year. They stay in stable groups with only 1 or 2 teachers 
during this time. At the end of unit, they switch schedules and groups to 
take 1 or 2 other courses, and so on throughout the year.     

• Additional examples of approaches to creating stable groups of students 
that limit the risk of transmission across large groups of students are 
available here.  

OTHER CONSIDERATIONS:  

• Schedule for Access and Inclusion: The construction of stable groups can 
increase or decrease equity or segregation across the school campus, so 
consider how to support inclusion and access for all student populations 
as you organize students for learning.  

• Schedules as Tools for Physical Distancing: To the extent possible, schools 
should think about how to reconfigure the use of bell schedules to 
streamline foot traffic and maintain practicable physical distancing during 
passing times and at the beginning and end of the school day. Create 
staggered passing times when students must move between rooms 
minimize congregated movement through hallways as much as is 
practicable. 

• Restructure Electives: Elective teachers who move in and out of stable 
groups can become points of exposure for themselves and the students 
they work with. Some models have made elective teachers part of middle 
and high school stable groups, while others have used them only for 
remote instruction. Other options include ensuring elective teachers 
maintain longer distance from students (e.g., 12 feet). 

https://k12playbook.ccee-ca.org/guidebook/schedules-and-cohorts/#tab3


 

21 
 

IMPLEMENTING DISTANCING INSIDE AND OUTSIDE THE 
CLASSROOM  
Arrival and Departure 

• Maximize space between students and between students and the driver 
on school buses and open windows to the greatest extent practicable. 
Two windows on a bus should be opened fully at a minimum.  

• Minimize contact at school between students, staff, families and the 
community at the beginning and end of the school day. Prioritize 
minimizing contact between adults at all times. 

• Stagger arrival and drop off-times and locations as consistently as 
practicable to minimize scheduling challenges for families. 

• Designate routes for entry and exit, using as many entrances as feasible. 
Put in place other protocols to limit direct contact between people as 
much as practicable.  

• Ensure each school bus is equipped with extra unused face coverings for 
students who may have inadvertently failed to bring one. 

Classroom Space 
• Maximize space between seating and desks. Distance teacher and other 

staff desks at least 6 feet away from student and other staff desks. 
Distance student chairs at least 6 feet away 
from one another, except where 6 feet of 
distance is not possible after a good-faith 
effort has been made. Upon request by the 
local health department and/or State Safe 
Schools Team, the superintendent should be 
prepared to demonstrate that good-faith 
effort, including an effort to consider all 
outdoor/indoor space options and hybrid 
learning models. Please reference Figures 1 
and 2 for examples of adequate and 
inadequate spacing. Under no 
circumstances should distance between 
student chairs be less than 4 feet. If 6 feet of 
distance is not possible, it is recommended 
to optimize ventilation and consider using 
other separation techniques such as 

Figure 1. Classroom with adequate 
spacing between students 



 

22 
 

partitions between students or 
desks, or arranging desks in a way 
that minimizes face-to-face 
contact. 
• Short-term exposures of less 
than 6 feet between students and 
staff are permitted (e.g., a teacher 
assisting a student one-on-one), 
but the duration should be 
minimized and masks must be 
worn. 
• Consider redesigning activities 
for smaller groups and rearranging 

furniture and play spaces to maintain separation. 
• Staff should develop instructions for maximizing spacing and ways to 

minimize movement in both indoor and outdoor spaces that are easy for 
students to understand and are developmentally appropriate. 

• Prioritize the use and maximization of outdoor space for activities where 
possible. 

• Activities where there is increased likelihood for transmission from 
contaminated exhaled aerosols such as band and choir practice and 
performances are permitted outdoors only, provided that precautions 
such as physical distancing and use of face coverings are implemented 
to the maximum extent (see below in Non-classroom spaces).  

• Consider using cleanable privacy boards or clear screens to increase and 
enforce separation between staff and students. 

 Non-Classroom Spaces 
• Limit nonessential visitors, volunteers and activities involving other groups 

at the same time. School tours are considered a non-essential activity and 
increase the risk of in-school transmission.  

• Limit communal activities. Alternatively, stagger use, properly space 
occupants and clean in between uses. 

• Consider use of non-classroom space for instruction, including regular use 
of outdoor space, weather permitting. For example, consider part-day 
instruction outside. 

• Minimize congregate movement through hallways as much as 
practicable. For example, establish more ways to enter and exit a 
campus, create staggered passing times when necessary or when 
students cannot stay in one room and use visual reminders on the floor 

Figure 2. Classroom without adequate 
spacing between students 



 

23 
 

that students can follow to enable physical distancing while passing and 
waiting in line. In addition, schools can consider eliminating the use of 
lockers, which can become congregating areas. 

• Serve meals outdoors or in classrooms instead of cafeterias or group 
dining rooms where practicable. Where cafeterias or group dining rooms 
must be used, keep students together in their stable groups, ensure 
physical distancing, hand hygiene before and after eating, and consider 
assigned seating. If indoor meal times are paired with recess or outdoor 
time, consider having half of a stable group of students eat while the 
other half is outdoors and then switch. Serve individually plated or 
bagged meals. Avoid sharing of foods and utensils and buffet or family-
style meals. 

• Consider holding recess activities in separated areas designated by 
group. 

• School athletic activities and sports should follow the CDPH Outdoor and 
Indoor Youth and Adult Recreational Guidance. Note that risk of infection 
transmission increases for indoor activities; indoor sports are higher risk 
than outdoor sports due to reduced ventilation. And transmission risk 
increases with greater exertion levels; greater exertion increases the rate 
of breathing and the quantity of air that is inhaled and exhaled with every 
breath. 

• Outdoor singing and band practice are permitted, provided that 
precautions such as physical distancing and mask wearing are 
implemented to the maximum extent possible. Playing of wind instruments 
(any instrument played by the mouth, such as a trumpet or clarinet) is 
strongly discouraged. School officials, staff, parents, and students should 
be aware of the increased likelihood for transmission from exhaled 
aerosols during singing and band practice, and physical distancing 
beyond 6 feet is strongly recommended for any of these activities. 

VENTILATION  
• Ensure sufficient ventilation in all school classrooms and shared 

workspaces per American Society of Heating, Refrigerating, and Air-
Conditioning Engineers (ASHRAE) guidance on ventilation.  

o Contact a mechanical engineer, heating, ventilation, and air 
conditioning (HVAC) design professional, or mechanical 
contractor in order to evaluate your ventilation system in regards 
to the ASHRAE guidance. 

o If opening windows poses a safety or health risk (e.g., by allowing 
pollen in or exacerbating asthma symptoms) to persons in the 

https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CID/DCDC/Pages/COVID-19/outdoor-indoor-recreational-sports.aspx
https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CID/DCDC/Pages/COVID-19/outdoor-indoor-recreational-sports.aspx
https://www.ashrae.org/technical-resources/reopening-of-schools-and-universities


 

24 
 

facility, consider alternatives. For example, maximize central air 
filtration for HVAC systems by using filters with a minimum 
efficiency reporting value (MERV) of at least 13. 

o Consider installing portable high-efficiency air cleaners, 
upgrading the building’s air filters to the highest efficiency 
possible, and making other modifications to increase the 
quantity of outside air and ventilation in classrooms, offices and 
other spaces. 

o If not able to properly ventilate indoor instructional spaces, 
outdoor instruction is preferred (use caution in poor air quality 
conditions). 

• Ventilation considerations are also important on school buses; use open 
windows as much as possible to improve airflow.  

• Specific practices to avoid: 
o Classrooms or buses with no ventilation.  
o Classrooms or buses with increased airflow across occupants 

(e.g., air conditioners or fans blowing into the classroom or 
overhead fans creating air currents across occupants).  

PROMOTE HEALTHY HAND HYGIENE PRACTICES 
• Teach and reinforce washing hands, avoiding contact with one's eyes, 

nose, and mouth, and covering coughs and sneezes among students and 
staff. 

o Teach students and remind staff to use tissue to wipe their nose 
and to cough/sneeze into a tissue or their elbow. 

o Students and staff should wash their hands frequently throughout 
the day, including before and after eating; after coughing or 
sneezing; after classes where they handle shared items, such as 
outside recreation, art, or shop; and before and after using the 
restroom. 

o Students and staff should wash their hands for 20 seconds with 
soap, rubbing thoroughly after application. Soap products 
marketed as “antimicrobial” are not necessary or 
recommended. 

o Staff should model and practice handwashing. For example, use 
bathroom time in lower grade levels as an opportunity to 
reinforce healthy habits and monitor proper handwashing. 

o Students and staff should use fragrance-free hand sanitizer when 
handwashing is not practicable. Sanitizer must be rubbed into 

https://www.cdc.gov/handwashing/index.html
https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/prevent-getting-sick/prevention-H.pdf
https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/prevent-getting-sick/prevention-H.pdf
https://www.cdc.gov/healthywater/hygiene/etiquette/coughing_sneezing.html


 

25 
 

hands until completely dry. Note: frequent handwashing is more 
effective than the use of hand sanitizers. 

o Ethyl alcohol-based hand sanitizers are preferred and should be 
used when there is the potential of unsupervised use by children. 

• Isopropyl alcohol-based hand sanitizers are more toxic when ingested or 
absorbed into skin. 

• Do not use hand sanitizers that may contain methanol which can be 
hazardous when ingested or absorbed. 

o Children under age 9 should only use hand sanitizer under adult 
supervision. Call Poison Control if consumed: 1-800-222-1222. 

• Consider portable handwashing stations throughout the school site and 
near classrooms to minimize movement and congregating in bathrooms 
to the extent practicable. 

• Develop routines enabling students and staff to regularly wash their hands 
at staggered intervals. 

• Ensure adequate supplies to support healthy hygiene behaviors, including 
soap, tissues, no-touch trashcans, face coverings, and hand sanitizers with 
at least 60 percent ethyl alcohol for staff and children who can safely use 
hand sanitizer. 

CLEANING AND DISINFECTION 
The section below provides recommendations for cleaning and disinfection. 
“Cleaning” involves water and soap or a detergent, does not use disinfecting 
agents, and significantly decreases germs on surfaces and decreases infectious 
risks. “Disinfection” kills germs on surfaces using specific agents (see below for 
those approved for use). If a case has been identified, the spaces where the 
case spent a large proportion of their time (e.g., classroom, or administrator’s 
office if an administrator) should be disinfected. Frequent disinfection can pose 
a health risk to children and students due to the strong chemicals often used 
and so is not recommended in the school setting unless a case has been 
identified.  

• Staff should clean frequently-touched surfaces at school and on school 
buses daily. 

• Buses should be thoroughly cleaned daily and after transporting any 
individual who is exhibiting symptoms of COVID-19. Drivers should be 
provided cleaning materials, including but not limited to wipes and 
disposable gloves, to support cleaning of frequently touched surfaces 
during the day. 

• Frequently touched surfaces in the school include, but are not limited to: 
o Sink handles. 



 

26 
 

o Shared tables, desks, or chairs. 
 If a school has morning and afternoon stable groups, the 

desks and tables are considered shared and should be 
cleaned before the next group arrives.  

 Desks or chairs do not need daily cleaning if only used by one 
individual during the day. 

o Door handles.  
o Shared technology and supplies. 

• If used, outdoor playgrounds/natural play areas only need routine 
maintenance. Make sure that children wash or sanitize their hands before 
and after using these spaces. When hand hygiene is emphasized, 
cleaning of outdoor structures play is not required between cohorts. 

• When choosing disinfection products after an in-school COVID-19 case 
has been identified (see “What to do if there is a case of COVID-19 in a 
School”),  use those approved for use against COVID-19 on the 
Environmental Protection Agency (EPA)- approved list “N” and follow 
product instructions. 

o To reduce the risk of asthma and other health effects related to 
disinfection, programs should select disinfectant products on list N 
with asthma-safer ingredients (hydrogen peroxide, citric acid or 
lactic acid) as recommended by the US EPA Design for Environment 
program. 

o Avoid products that contain peroxyacetic (peracetic) acid, sodium 
hypochlorite (bleach) or quaternary ammonium compounds, which 
can cause asthmatic attacks. 

o Follow label directions for appropriate dilution rates and contact 
times. Provide workers training on the chemical hazards, 
manufacturer’s directions, Cal/OSHA requirements for safe use, and 
as applicable and as required by the Healthy Schools Act. 

o Custodial staff and any other workers who clean and disinfect the 
school site must be equipped with proper personal protective 
equipment, including gloves, eye protection, respiratory protection, 
and other appropriate protective equipment as required by the 
product instructions. All products must be kept out of the reach of 
children and stored in a space with restricted access. 

o Establish a cleaning schedule in order to avoid both under- and 
over-use of cleaning products. 

• Ensure safe and correct application of disinfectant and keep products 
away from students. 

https://www.epa.gov/pesticide-registration/list-n-disinfectants-coronavirus-covid-19
https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CCDPHP/DEODC/OHB/Pages/OHWMay2020.aspx


 

27 
 

• Ensure proper ventilation during cleaning and disinfecting. Introduce fresh 
outdoor air as much as possible for example by opening windows where 
practicable. When disinfecting, air out the space before students arrive; 
disinfection should be done when students are not present.  

• Take steps to ensure that all water systems and features (for example, 
drinking fountains and decorative fountains) are safe to use after a 
prolonged facility shutdown to minimize the risk of Legionnaires’ disease 
and other diseases associated with water. 

CHECK FOR SIGNS, SYMPTOMS AND EXPOSURES 
• Actively encourage staff and students who are sick or who have recently 

had close contact with a person with COVID-19 to stay home. Develop 
policies that encourage sick staff and students to stay at home without fear 
of reprisal, and ensure staff, students and students’ families are aware of 
these policies. 

• Implement symptom and exposure screening for all staff and students at 
home each day before leaving for school. 

• Students or staff exhibiting symptoms of COVID-19 at school (fever of 100.4 
degrees or higher, cough, difficulty breathing, or other COVID-19 symptoms)  
must be immediately isolated in a private area until they can leave school 
or be picked up by a parent or guardian. Ill students and staff should be 
recommended to be tested for COVID-19 as soon as possible. 

• Policies should not penalize students for missing class. 

Symptom and Exposure Screening 
Daily screening for COVID-19 symptoms and for exposure to someone with 
COVID-19 prior to leaving for school can prevent some people with COVID-19 
from coming to school while infectious, thus preventing in-school transmission. 
Screening does not prevent asymptomatic cases from being at school and 
spreading SARS-CoV2, the virus that causes COVID-19.   

CDPH recommends that:  

1. Parents be provided with the list of COVID-19 symptoms and 
instructed to keep their child at home if the child is feeling ill or 
has symptoms of COVID-19, even if symptoms are very mild, and 
to get their ill child tested for SARS-CoV2.  

2. Staff members be provided with the list of COVID-19 symptoms 
and be instructed to call in sick and stay home if having 
symptoms of COVID-19 and to get tested for SARS-CoV2. 

Note: If a student or staff member has chronic allergic or asthmatic 

https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/php/building-water-system.html
https://www.cdc.gov/legionella/index.html
https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/php/public-health-recommendations.html
https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/symptoms-testing/symptoms.html
https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/community/schools-childcare/symptom-screening.html#symptoms


 

28 
 

symptoms (e.g., cough or runny nose), then a change in their 
symptoms from baseline would be considered a positive symptom. 

Implementation of home symptom and exposure screening 
• There are several implementation options, each with benefits and 

challenges. Implementing a daily reminder system for home screening, 
such as a text message or through an online screening application, can 
support families and staff to review the symptom list each day before 
leaving for school and confirm that they do not have symptoms of 
COVID-19 and have not had close contact with a known case.  This is 
likely the easiest and most effective approach, but families or staff may 
not all have technology access to support this. For those who do not, a list 
of screening questions on paper can be provided for daily review at 
home. Schools do not need to monitor compliance with home screening.  

Symptoms at School 
• Identify an isolation room or area to separate anyone who exhibits 1 or 

more symptoms of COVID-19 while at school. 
• Staff and students should self-monitor throughout the day for signs of 

illness; staff should observe students for signs or symptoms of illness to 
support students who are less able to self-monitor or less likely to self-
report. 

• Any students or staff exhibiting 1 or more symptoms should be required to 
wait in the previously identified isolation area until they can be 
transported home or to a healthcare facility, as soon as practicable. 

• If a student is exhibiting 1 or more symptoms of COVID-19, staff should 
communicate with the parent/caregiver and refer to the student's health 
history form and/or emergency card. 

• Unless the LHD recommends otherwise, there is no need to exclude 
asymptomatic contacts (students or staff) of the symptomatic individual 
from school until test results for the symptomatic individual are known.     

Return to school after exclusion for symptoms at home or in school: 
• Ensure that students, including students with disabilities, have access to 

instruction when out of class, as required by federal and state law. 
• Testing of symptomatic students and staff can be conducted through 

local health care delivery systems or other testing resources, as fits the 
context of the local health jurisdiction. Advise staff members and students 
with symptoms of COVID-19 infection not to return for in-person instruction 
until they have met CDPH criteria to discontinue home isolation for those 
with symptoms:  

https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CID/DCDC/Pages/COVID-19/Guidance-on-Returning-to-Work-or-School-Following-COVID-19-Diagnosis.aspx


 

29 
 

o At least 24 hours have passed since resolution of fever without the 
use of fever-reducing medications; and 

o Other symptoms have improved; and 
o They have a negative test for SARS-CoV-2, OR a healthcare 

provider has provided documentation that the symptoms are 
typical of their underlying chronic condition (e.g., allergies or 
asthma) OR a healthcare provider has confirmed an alternative 
named diagnosis (e.g., Streptococcal pharyngitis, Coxsackie virus), 
OR at least 10 days have passed since symptom onset. 

STAFF-TO-STAFF INTERACTIONS 
• Ensuring staff maintain physical distancing of six feet from each other is 

critical to reducing transmission between adults. 
• Ensure that all staff use face coverings in accordance with CDPH 

guidelines and Cal/OSHA standards. 
• Support staff who are at higher risk for severe illness or who cannot safely 

distance from household contacts at higher risk, by providing options such 
as telework, where appropriate, or teaching in a distance learning 
context. 

• Conduct all staff meetings, professional development training and 
education, and other activities involving staff with physical distancing 
measures in place, outside, or virtually, where physical distancing is a 
challenge. 

• Minimize the use of and congregation of adults in staff rooms, break 
rooms, and other settings. Try to provide space outside whenever possible. 

LIMIT SHARING  
• Consider suspending or modifying use of site resources that necessitate 

sharing or touching items. For example, consider suspending use of 
drinking fountains and instead encourage the use of reusable water 
bottles. 

• Limit use and sharing of objects and equipment, items such as electronic 
devices, clothing, toys, games, and art supplies to the extent practicable, 
or limit use of supplies and equipment to one group of children at a time 
and clean between uses.  

o Cleaning shared objects between uses (for example with 
microfiber cloths or baby wipes) can help to physically remove 
germs on surfaces. 

o Ensure adequate supplies to minimize sharing of high-touch 
materials. 

https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CID/DCDC/Pages/COVID-19/guidance-for-face-coverings.aspx
https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CID/DCDC/Pages/COVID-19/guidance-for-face-coverings.aspx


 

30 
 

• Keep each student’s individual belongings separated and in individually 
labeled storage containers, cubbies or areas.  

TRAIN ALL STAFF AND EDUCATE FAMILIES  
• Train all staff and provide educational materials to families in the following 

safety actions: 

o Proper use, removal, and washing of face coverings. 
o Physical distancing guidelines and their importance. 
o Symptoms screening practices. 
o COVID-19 specific symptom identification. 
o How COVID-19 is spread. 
o Enhanced sanitation practices. 
o The importance of staff and students not coming to work they have 

symptoms, or if they or someone they live with or they have had 
close contact with has been diagnosed with COVID- 19.  

o For staff, COVID-19 specific symptom identification and when to 
seek medical attention.  

o The employer’s plan and procedures to follow when staff or 
students become sick at school.  

o The employer’s plan and procedures to protect staff from COVID- 
19 illness.    

Consider conducting the training and education virtually, or, if in-person, 
outdoors, and ensure a minimum of six-foot distancing is maintained. 

MAINTAIN HEALTHY OPERATIONS 
• Monitor staff absenteeism and have a roster of trained back-up staff 

where available. 
• Monitor symptoms among your students and staff on school site to help 

isolate people with symptoms as soon as possible. 
• Designate a staff liaison or liaisons to be responsible for responding to 

COVID-19 concerns. Other staff should know who the liaisons are and how 
to contact them. The liaison should be trained to coordinate the 
documentation and tracking of possible exposures, in order to notify local 
health officials, staff and families in a prompt and responsible manner. This 
will support local health department contact tracing efforts.  

• Maintain communication systems that allow staff and families to self- 
report symptoms and receive prompt notifications of exposures, 
exclusions, and closures, while maintaining confidentiality, as required by 

https://gcc02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.cdc.gov%2Fcoronavirus%2F2019-ncov%2Fprevent-getting-sick%2Fdiy-cloth-face-coverings.html&data=04%7C01%7C%7C2c60a839d3c5407eb03708d8a521a091%7C28891a93888f489f9930e78b8f733ca6%7C0%7C0%7C637440911152490660%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=DPx6jrgs1URYoq1JuUSzsE6CVgEhNwH5%2BgeHL6BHhBg%3D&reserved=0
https://gcc02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.cdc.gov%2Fcoronavirus%2F2019-ncov%2Fsymptoms-testing%2Fsymptoms.html&data=04%7C01%7C%7C2c60a839d3c5407eb03708d8a521a091%7C28891a93888f489f9930e78b8f733ca6%7C0%7C0%7C637440911152500616%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=s6DxyiFbxWZ96X5OPkMzIVuD%2FagHdUZP%2FlMw%2BC6JwN4%3D&reserved=0
https://gcc02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.cdc.gov%2Fcoronavirus%2F2019-ncov%2Fsymptoms-testing%2Fsymptoms.html&data=04%7C01%7C%7C2c60a839d3c5407eb03708d8a521a091%7C28891a93888f489f9930e78b8f733ca6%7C0%7C0%7C637440911152500616%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=s6DxyiFbxWZ96X5OPkMzIVuD%2FagHdUZP%2FlMw%2BC6JwN4%3D&reserved=0


 

31 
 

FERPA and state law related to privacy of educational records. Additional 
guidance can be found here. 

• Consult with CDPH K-12 School Testing Guidance if routine testing is being 
considered by a LEA.  

• Support students who are at higher risk for severe illness or who cannot 
safely distance from household contacts at higher risk, by providing 
options such as distance learning. 

What to do if there is a Confirmed or 
Suspected Case of COVID-19 in a School 
What measures should be taken when a student, teacher or staff member has 
symptoms, is a contact of someone infected, or is diagnosed with COVID-19? 

Table 2. Actions to take if there is a confirmed or suspected case of COVID-19 in a school 
 Student or Staff with: Action Communication 

with school 
community 

1. COVID-19 symptoms 
(e.g., fever, cough, 
loss of taste or smell, 
difficulty breathing) 
Symptom screening: 
per CDC Symptom of 
COVID-19. 

 

• Send home if at school. 
• Recommend testing (If positive, see #3, if 

negative, see #4). 
• School/classroom remain open. 

• No action 
needed. 

2. Close contact (†) 
with a confirmed 
COVID-19 case. 

• Send home if at school. 
• Exclude from school for 10 days from last 

exposure, per CDPH quarantine 
recommendations. 

• Recommend testing 5-7 days from last 
exposure (but will not shorten 10-day 
exclusion if negative). 

• School/classroom remain open. 

• Consider school 
community 
notification of a 
known 
exposure. No 
action needed 
if exposure did 
not happen in 
school setting.  

3. Confirmed COVID-
19 case infection. 

• Notify the LHD. 
• Exclude from school for 10 days from 

symptom onset date or, if asymptomatic, 
for 10 days from specimen collection date. 

• Identify school contacts (†), inform the LHD 
of identified contacts, and exclude 

• School 
community 
notification of a 
known case. 

• Notification of 
persons with 

https://studentprivacy.ed.gov/sites/default/files/resource_document/file/FERPA%20and%20Coronavirus%20Frequently%20Asked%20Questions.pdf
https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CID/DCDC/CDPH%20Document%20Library/COVID-19/K12_School_Testing_Considerations_Information.pdf
https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/community/schools-childcare/symptom-screening.html#symptoms
https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/community/schools-childcare/symptom-screening.html#symptoms
https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CID/DCDC/Pages/COVID-19/COVID-19-Quarantine.aspx


 

32 
 

contacts (possibly the entire stable group 
(††)) from school for 10 days after the last 
date the case was present at school while 
infectious. 

• Recommend testing asymptomatic 
contacts 5-7 days from last exposure and 
immediate testing of symptomatic 
contacts (negative test results will not 
shorten 10-day exclusion). 

• Disinfection and cleaning of classroom 
and primary spaces where case spent 
significant time. 

• School remains open. 

potential 
exposure if case 
was present in 
school while 
infectious 

4. Symptomatic 
person tests 
negative or a 
healthcare provider 
has provided 
documentation that 
the symptoms are 
typical of their 
underlying chronic 
condition.  

• May return to school after 24 hours have 
passed without fever and symptoms have 
started improving. 

• School/classroom remain open. 

• Consider school 
community 
notification if 
prior awareness 
of testing. 

(†) A contact is defined as a person who is within 6 feet from a case for more 
than 15 minutes cumulative within a 24-hour period, regardless of face 
coverings. In some school situations, it may be difficult to determine whether 
individuals have met this criterion and an entire stable group, classroom, or other 
group may need to be considered exposed, particularly if people have spent 
time together indoors. 

(††) See Stable Group Guidance for definition of a stable group. In some 
situations, (e.g., when seating charts are used, face covering is well adhered to, 
and teachers or staff have observed students adequately throughout the day), 
contact tracing and investigation may be able to determine more precisely 
whether each stable group member has been exposed. In this situation, those 
who were not close contacts could continue with in-person instruction.   

CONFIRMED COVID-19 CASE 
Although the LHD may know of a confirmed or probable case of COVID-19 in a 
student or staff member before the school does, it is possible that the school 
may be made aware of a case before the LHD via a parent or staff member 
report.  



 

33 
 

The following are the interim COVID-19 case definitions from the Council of State 
and Territorial Epidemiologists'. 

Confirmed case: Meets confirmatory laboratory evidence (detection of SARS-
CoV-2 RNA in a clinical or autopsy specimen using a molecular amplification 
test). 

Probable case: Meets clinical criteria AND epidemiologic linkage(‡) with no 
confirmatory lab testing performed for SARS-CoV-2; OR meets presumptive 
laboratory evidence (detection of SARS-CoV-2 by antigen test in a respiratory 
specimen); OR meets vital records criteria with no confirmatory laboratory 
evidence for SARS-CoV-2. 

(‡) Epidemiologically-linked cases include persons with close contact with a 
confirmed or probable case of COVID-19 disease; OR a member of a risk stable 
group as defined by public health authorities during an outbreak. This includes 
persons with identifiable connections to each other such as sharing a defined 
physical space e.g., in an office, facility section or gathering, indicating a higher 
likelihood of linked spread of disease than sporadic community incidence. 

Local Health Department Actions 
1. Interview the case to identify the infectious period and whether case was 

infections while at school; identify household and community close 
contacts, particularly any close contacts at school. 

2. It may be necessary to consider the entire class or members of the case’s 
stable group exposed, as it can be challenging to determine who may 
have had contact with the case within 6 feet for at least 15 cumulative 
minutes in a 24-hour period. In some situations, case investigations may be 
able to determine individual members of a stable group are close 
contacts, and allow those who are not identified as close contacts to 
continue in-person instruction.  

3. Notify the school COVID-19 coordinator or point person at the school that 
a case of COVID-19 in a student or staff member has been reported and 
provide guidance to identify and generate a line list of close contacts at 
the school. 

4. Notify all close contacts at the school and instruct them to follow CDPH 
COVID-19 Quarantine Guidance . (or follow LHO orders, if relevant and/or 
more stringent). 

5. Recommend that all close contacts be tested; symptomatic contacts 
should be prioritized for immediate testing, and asymptomatic contacts 
should be recommended to be tested 5-7 days from last exposure.  

6. Contacts who test negative must still complete the required quarantine as 
defined in the CDPH guidance.  

7. Contacts who test positive are required to isolate until at least 10 days 

https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CID/DCDC/Pages/COVID-19/COVID-19-Quarantine.aspx
https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CID/DCDC/Pages/COVID-19/COVID-19-Quarantine.aspx
https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CID/DCDC/Pages/COVID-19/COVID-19-Quarantine.aspx


 

34 
 

have passed since symptom onset; and at least 24 hours have passed 
since resolution of fever without the use of fever-reducing medications; 
and other symptoms have improved. If asymptomatic, cases should be 
isolated for 10 days after the specimen collection date of their positive 
test.   

8. Investigate COVID-19 cases in school students and staff to determine if in-
school transmission likely occurred and whether any school-related factors 
could have contributed to risk of infection. Assist schools to update 
protocols as needed to prevent additional cases. 
 

School Actions 
1. Schools must adhere to required reporting requirements and notify, as 

indicated, the LHD of any newly reported case of COVID-19 in a student 
or staff member if the LHD has not yet contacted them about the case. 

2. If the case is present at school at the time the school is notified, the case 
must go home and be excluded from school for at least 10 days from 
symptom onset date or, if asymptomatic, 10 days from the date the 
specimen was collected for the positive test. 

3. Send a notice, developed in collaboration with the LHD, to parents and 
staff to inform them that a case of COVID-19 in a student or staff member 
has been reported and that the school will work with the LHD to notify 
exposed people. (see sample notification #1 in Appendix 2).  

4. Arrange for cleaning and disinfection of the classroom and primary 
spaces where case spent significant time (see Cleaning and Disinfection 
above for recommendations). This does not need to be done until 
students and staff in the area have left for the day. 

5. Implement online/distance learning for student cases if they are well 
enough to participate. 

School closure determinations should be made in consultation with the LHO 
according to the section “School Closure Determinations.” A school with 
confirmed cases and even a small cluster of COVID-19 cases can remain open 
for in-person education as long as contact tracing identifies all school contacts 
for exclusion and testing in a timely manner, any small cluster is investigated and 
controlled rapidly, and the LHO agrees that the school can remain open.  

MEASURES FOR WHEN A CLUSTER OR OUTBREAK IS 
BEING INVESTIGATED AT A SCHOOL  
When either a school or LHD is aware that an outbreak may be underway, the 
LHD should investigate, in collaboration with the school, to determine whether 

https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CID/DCDC/Pages/COVID-19/OutbreakDefinitionandReportingGuidance.aspx


 

35 
 

these cases had a common exposure at school (e.g., a common class or staff 
member, bus ride, or other common exposures outside of school).  

CDPH defines a school outbreak as 3 or more confirmed or probable cases of 
staff or students occurring within a 14-day period who are epidemiologically-
linked in the school, are from different households and are not contacts of each 
other in any other investigation cases (e.g., transmission likely occurred in the 
school setting). 

The objectives of a school outbreak investigation are to identify and isolate all 
cases and to identify, quarantine, and test contacts to prevent further 
transmission of COVID-19 at the school.  In addition, the investigation will 
attempt to ascertain whether the cases had a common exposure at school 
(e.g., a common class or teacher, bus ride, or other common exposures in the 
school setting). The investigation may also reveal common exposures outside of 
the school setting. 

As noted above, an outbreak investigation is also an opportunity to understand 
the circumstances that may have allowed for transmission in the school setting.  
It is recommended that investigations determine whether there is adherence to 
key mitigation strategies to prevent school transmission. If gaps are identified, 
schools should take steps to strengthen strategies to prevent future outbreaks. 

Local Health Department Actions 
1. Review interviews (or re-interview as needed) of clustered cases to 

identify common exposures and determine whether the cluster suggests 
an outbreak with transmission at the school. If data suggest an outbreak, 
then notify the school about starting an investigation. 

2. Provide the school with guidance on identifying and creating a line list of 
all school cases and contacts, including illness onset date, symptoms, 
date tested, test results, etc. (see sample data collection notification in 
Appendix 2). 

3. Consult with CDPH as needed for technical assistance, testing, and other 
resources. 

4. Form an outbreak investigation team with a lead investigator and 
including one or more school staff members to assist with the investigation. 

5. Identify all potential exposures and close contacts and implement testing 
of contacts, prioritizing symptomatic contacts for testing. 

6. Testing may be recommended for those who were not identified as close 
contacts but could potentially have been exposed; the fastest pathway 
to get test results rapidly should be used.  

7. All symptomatic contacts should be considered probable cases and be 

https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CID/DCDC/Pages/COVID-19/OutbreakDefinitionandReportingGuidance.aspx


 

36 
 

interviewed to identify prioritized close contacts and exposures while 
awaiting their test results. 

8. Implement isolation of all cases and symptomatic contacts and 
quarantine of all asymptomatic contacts of confirmed and probable 
cases.  

9. Investigate to determine if in-school transmission likely occurred and 
whether any school-related factors could have contributed to risk of 
transmission. Assist schools to update and strengthen protocols as needed 
to prevent additional cases.  

10. Determine, in collaboration with the school, whether the school meets 
closure criteria. See School Closure Determinations (page 36). 

11. Determine, in collaboration with the school, when the school should be 
closed for 14 days even if the conditions outlined in School Closure 
Determinations below have not been reached. This may be when: 1) the 
investigation shows that cases or symptomatic students or staff members 
continue to be identified and school-based transmission of SARS-CoV2 is 
likely ongoing despite implementation of prevention and control 
measures; or 2) other local epidemiologic data support school closure.   

School Actions 
1. Notify parents/guardians and school staff of a cluster/outbreak 

investigation related to the school and encourage them to follow public 
health recommendations (see sample notification #2 in Appendix 3). 

2. Identify, as part of the CSP, one or more school staff member who can 
liaise with the LHD regarding the cluster/outbreak investigation by 
confirming which classes and stable groups included confirmed cases or 
symptomatic students and staff members, and if recent events or 
gatherings involved any cases or symptomatic persons.  

3. Identify absenteeism among those in affected classes or stable groups, 
and coordinate with the LHD to contact these absentees to screen for 
symptoms of COVID-19 if they were exposed to a case during the cases 
infectious period.    

4. Coordinate with the LHD to share a line list of cases and contacts with 
dates present at or absent from school. 

5. Arrange for cleaning and disinfection of classrooms or other areas where 
cases or symptomatic students or staff members spend significant time. 

6. Coordinate with the LHD on notifications to the school community, 
including specific notifications of stable groups or classrooms regarding 
their exclusion status and instructions. 

7. Coordinate with the LHD on whether and when the school should be 



 

37 
 

closed and reopened. 
8. Notify the school community if the school is to be closed for 14 days due 

to widespread and/or ongoing transmission of SARS-CoV2 at the school or 
in the general community, and repeat recommendations for prevention 
and control measures (see sample notification #3 in Appendix 2). 

9. Implement online/distance teaching and learning during school closure. 
10. Arrange for cleaning and disinfection of entire school before reopening in 

the case of closure. 

School Closure Determinations 
What are the criteria for closing a school to in-person learning? 
Individual school closure, in which all students and staff are not on campus, is 
recommended based on the number of cases and stable groups impacted, 
which suggest that active in-school transmission is occurring. Closure should be 
done in consultation with the LHO. Situations that may indicate the need for 
school closure: 

• Within a 14-day period, an outbreak has occurred in 25% or more stable 
groups in the school.  

• Within a 14-day period, at least three outbreaks have occurred in the 
school AND more than 5% of the school population is infected.  

• The LHO may also determine school closure is warranted for other reasons, 
including results from public health investigation or other local 
epidemiological data.  

Length of closure: 14 days, or according to a decision made in consultation with 
the LHO. 

The State Safe Schools for All Technical Assistance teams (TA teams), comprised 
of experts across multiple state agencies, will be available to assist schools with 
disease investigation for those with outbreaks that cannot find resources to 
investigate the outbreaks. The TA teams will also be available to help schools 
that close in order to identify and address any remediable safety issues. 

If a school is closed, when may it reopen? 
Schools may typically reopen after 14 days and if the following have occurred:  

• Cleaning and disinfection  
• Public health investigation  
• Consultation with the LHD 

 
 

https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CID/DCDC/Pages/COVID-19/OutbreakDefinitionandReportingGuidance.aspx
https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CID/DCDC/Pages/COVID-19/OutbreakDefinitionandReportingGuidance.aspx


 

38 
 

What are the criteria for closing a LEA? 
A school district should close if 25% or more of schools in a district have closed 
due to COVID-19 within a 14-day period and in consultation with the LHD. 
If a LEA is closed, when may it reopen? 
LEAs may typically reopen after 14 days, in consultation with the LHD. 

K-12 School Testing  
OVERVIEW 
Used in conjunction with other mitigation strategies, testing for SARS-CoV-2 
provides an additional tool to support safe and successful K-12 in-person 
instruction. Testing can allow for early identification of cases and exclusion from 
school to prevent transmission. However, it should not be used as a stand-alone 
approach to prevent in-school transmission. A negative test provides information 
only for the moment in time when the sample is collected.  Individuals can 
become infectious shortly after having a negative test, so it is important to 
maintain all other mitigation strategies even if a recent negative test has been 
documented.  

There are several circumstances under which a student or staff member might 
undergo testing. Below, we outline these circumstances and considerations for 
testing implementation in K-12 schools.  

DEFINITIONS 
Symptomatic testing: This testing is used for individuals with symptoms of COVID-
19, either at home or at school. In this situation, the school guidance requires 
that these individuals stay home and isolate in case they are infectious. The 
Guidance includes the possibility of return to school in the case of a negative 
test for SARS-CoV-2 and 24 hours after fever is resolved and symptoms are 
improving. 

Response testing: This testing is used to identify positive individuals once a case 
has been identified in a given stable group. Response-based testing can be 
provided for symptomatic individuals or for asymptomatic individuals with known 
or suspected exposure to an individual infected with SARS-CoV-2.  

Asymptomatic testing: This testing can be used for surveillance, usually at a 
cadence of every 2 weeks or less frequently, to understand whether schools 
have higher or lower rates of COVID19 rates than the community, to guide 
decisions about safety for schools and school administrators, and to inform LHDs 
about district level in-school rates. Asymptomatic testing can also be used for 
screening, usually at a higher cadence (weekly or twice weekly) than 



 

39 
 

surveillance testing, to identify asymptomatic or pre-symptomatic cases, in order 
to exclude cases that might otherwise contribute to in-school transmission. 
Screening testing is indicated for situations associated with higher risk (higher 
community transmission, individuals at higher risk of transmission (e.g., adults and 
high school students transmit more effectively than elementary aged students).   

TESTING STRATEGY APPROACH 
Asymptomatic testing considerations 
The science regarding the extent to which asymptomatic testing will achieve 
the goal of safe and successful schools is still under development. Empirically, 
schools that have successfully implemented the core mitigation strategies 
outlined in the School Guidance are operating safely, with limited or no in-
school transmission, under a range of asymptomatic testing approaches. The 
approaches range from no additional asymptomatic testing, to testing a sample 
of staff and students monthly, to testing all students and staff every other week. 
Modeling studies show that masking alone and cohorting alone can decrease 
symptomatic infections more than weekly testing of students and school staff. 
Taken together, these data suggest that a range of potential testing 
approaches can be considered for implementation as part of a comprehensive 
safety strategy.  

The state of California has put into place support for the testing cadences in 
Table 3, through supplemental testing supplies, shipment, laboratory capacity, 
enrollment and reporting technology, training, and assistance with insurance 
reimbursement.  

The increased levels of testing in the higher Tiers in Table 3 reflect the higher 
likelihood that someone in the school community might be infected due to 
higher levels of circulating virus in the surrounding community.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

https://pediatrics.aappublications.org/content/early/2021/01/06/peds.2020-048090
https://www.schools.nyc.gov/school-year-20-21/return-to-school-2020/health-and-safety/covid-19-testing
https://sandiegounified.org/about/newscenter/all_news/san_diego_unified_starts_c_o_v_i_d-19_testing


 

40 
 

Table 3. Testing Cadences with Support from the State of California for K-12 
schools 

 

 

Yellow 
CR <1.0* 
TP<2% 

Orange 
CR 1-3.9* 
TP 2-4.9% 

Red 
CR 4-7* 
TP 5-8% 

Purple 
CR >7-13.9* 
TP  >8% 

Staff Symptomatic 
and 
response 
testing. 

Symptomatic 
and 
response 
testing. 

Symptomatic 
and response 
testing + 
Every 2 weeks 
asymptomatic 
testing. 

Symptomatic 
and response 
testing + 
Every 2 weeks 
asymptomatic 
testing.  

Students 
K-12 

Symptomatic 
and 
response 
testing. 

Symptomatic 
and 
response 
testing. 

Symptomatic 
and response 
testing + 
Every 2 weeks 
asymptomatic 
testing.  

Symptomatic 
and response 
testing + 
Every 2 weeks 
asymptomatic 
testing.  

 
TP = test positivity 
* The case rates above are adjusted case rates.  
** Weekly asymptomatic testing assumes the use of a PCR test. If antigen testing is 
used, testing should be at a twice weekly cadence.  
Students or staff who have tested positive for active infection with SARS-CoV-2 
virus within the last 90 days are exempt from asymptomatic testing.  
Any school currently open is subject to the minimum testing requirement 
standards established by Cal/OSHA. These standards include response testing 
for exposed cases and outbreak testing for everyone weekly until no longer 
considered an outbreak. Please refer to Cal/OSHA guidance for complete 
details.   
 
 

Vaccines for K-12 Schools 
CDPH strongly recommends that all persons eligible to receive COVID-19 
vaccines receive them at the first opportunity. Currently, people under 16 are 
not eligible for the vaccine since trials for that group are still underway.  

https://www.dir.ca.gov/dosh/coronavirus/COVID19FAQs.html#testing
https://www.dir.ca.gov/dosh/coronavirus/COVID19FAQs.html#testing


 

41 
 

In addition to vaccines required for school entry, CDPH strongly recommends 
that all students and staff be immunized each autumn against influenza unless 
contraindicated by personal medical conditions, to help: 

• Protect the school community. 
• Reduce demands on health care facilities. 
• Decrease illnesses that cannot be readily distinguished from COVID- 19 and 

would therefore trigger extensive measures from the school and public 
health authorities. 

Because vaccine implementation for schools is rapidly evolving, we are 
providing a separate vaccine guidance document that will be available on the 
Safe Schools for All Hub here. 

Appendix 1: Resources 
SCHOOL RESOURCE LINKS 

• Safe Schools for All Hub 
• Testing Guidance 

Appendix 2: Sample Notifications 
SCHOOL EXPOSURE TO A CASE OF COVID-19 
NOTIFICATION 
K-12 SCHOOL NAME/LETTERHEAD 

From School Principal (or Designee) 

Date 

 

Dear Parents/Guardians, 

We would like to inform you that we have been notified about a confirmed 
case of COVID-19 (Coronavirus Disease 2019) in a member of our school 
community. The individual who tested positive (the “case”) was last on school 
premises on [DATE]. All school areas where the case spent time will be cleaned 
and disinfected before they are in use again.   

Our school is working with the [LOCAL HEALTH DEPARTMENT] to follow up with 
the case and will reach out to all persons who are identified as having had close 
contact with the case to recommend home quarantine and COVID-19 testing. If 

https://covid19.ca.gov/vaccines/
https://schools.covid19.ca.gov/
https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CID/DCDC/CDPH%20Document%20Library/COVID-19/K12_School_Testing_Considerations_Information.pdf


 

42 
 

you or your child are not contacted, it means that you or your child were not 
identified as exposed to the case.   

Please remind your child to use their face covering, stay at least 6 feet from 
other people, and wash their hands often with soap and water for at least 20 
seconds.    

Symptoms of COVID-19 may appear 2-14 days after exposure to the virus and 
include: 

• Fever or chills 
• Cough 
• Shortness of breath or difficulty breathing 
• Fatigue 
• Muscle or body aches 
• Headache 
• New loss of taste or smell 
• Sore throat 
• Congestion or runny nose 
• Nausea or vomiting 
• Diarrhea 

Anyone with COVID-19 symptoms should be tested. However, many infected 
people do not develop symptoms, which is why it is recommended that 
exposed people be tested whether they have symptoms or not. 

Ensuring the health and safety of our students, teachers, and staff members is of 
the utmost importance to us.  If you have any questions or concerns, please 
contact [CONTACT NAME] at XXX-XXX-XXXX. 

 

Sincerely, 

COVID-19 SCHOOL OUTBREAK NOTIFICATION 
TK-12 SCHOOL NAME/LETTERHEAD 

From School Principal (or Designee) 

Date 

 

Dear Parents/Guardians, Teachers, and Staff Members, 

We would like to inform you that we are working with the [LOCAL HEALTH 
DEPARTMENT] on their investigation of a COVID-19 outbreak in our school 
community. Our school is working with the [LOCAL HEALTH DEPARTMENT] to 



 

43 
 

follow up with all cases and symptomatic contacts to identify all exposed 
persons and recommend home quarantine and testing. If you or your child are 
not contacted, it means that you or your child were not exposed to either a 
case or a symptomatic contact.   

If you are a parent/guardian, please remind your child to use their face 
covering, stay at least 6 feet from other people, and wash their hands often with 
soap and water for at least 20 seconds.    

Symptoms of COVID-19 may appear 2-14 days after exposure to the virus and 
include: 

• Fever or chills 
• Cough 
• Shortness of breath or difficulty breathing 
• Fatigue 
• Muscle or body aches 
• Headache 
• New loss of taste or smell 
• Sore throat 
• Congestion or runny nose 
• Nausea or vomiting 
• Diarrhea 

Anyone with COVID-19 symptoms should be tested. However, many infected 
people do not develop symptoms, which is why it is recommended that 
exposed people be tested whether they have symptoms or not. 

Ensuring the health and safety of our students, teachers, and staff members is of 
the utmost importance to us.  If you have any questions or concerns, please 
contact [CONTACT NAME] at XXX-XXX-XXXX. 

 

Sincerely, 

SCHOOL CLOSURE DUE TO COVID-19 NOTIFICATION 
TK-12 SCHOOL NAME/LETTERHEAD 

From School Principal (or Designee) 

Date 

 

Dear Parents/Guardians, Teachers, and Staff Members, 



 

44 
 

We are informing you that we are closing our school, starting on [DATE] due to 
the ongoing COVID-19 outbreak and likely continuing transmission at our school. 
In consultation with the [LOCAL HEALTH OFFICER], we have been advised that 
the school should be closed for 14 days to prevent further transmission of COVID-
19 and to clean and disinfect the school before reopening on [DATE].   

During school closure, the school will switch to online teaching to continue our 
classes; please see attached information sheet on how students can sign in to 
continue their schoolwork online. The [LOCAL HEALTH DEPARTMENT] will also 
continue to follow-up with cases and contacts during school closure to ensure 
isolation and quarantine and testing.    

If upon school reopening, your child is feeling ill or having a fever or symptoms of 
COVID-19, even if symptoms are very minor, please do not send your child to 
school and consider getting your ill child tested for COVID-19. If your child is well 
without any symptoms, please remind your child before going back to school to 
use their face covering, stay at least 6 feet from other people, and wash their 
hands often with soap and water for at least 20 seconds. School staff should call 
in sick and stay home if having a fever or symptoms of COVID-19 and consider 
getting tested. 

   

Symptoms of COVID-19 may appear 2-14 days after exposure to the virus and 
include: 

• Fever or chills 
• Cough 
• Shortness of breath or difficulty breathing 
• Fatigue 
• Muscle or body aches 
• Headache 
• New loss of taste or smell 
• Sore throat 
• Congestion or runny nose 
• Nausea or vomiting 
• Diarrhea 

Ensuring the health and safety of our students, teachers, and staff members is of 
the utmost importance to us.  If you have any questions or concerns, please 
contact [CONTACT NAME] at XXX-XXX-XXXX. 

 

Sincerely,  



 

45 
 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 3: Public Health Directive 
REPORTING DETAILS OF POSITIVE CASES 
 

Required COVID-19 Case Reporting By Schools 

January 14, 2021 

 

Following school closures that occurred in spring 2020 in response to the COVID-
19 pandemic, the California Department of Public Health (“CDPH”) developed 
the “COVID-19 and Reopening In-Person Learning Framework for K-12 Schools in 
California, 2020-2021 School Year” (July 17, 2020) to support school communities 
as they decided when and how to implement in-person instruction for the 2020-
2021 school year.  Public and private K-12 schools throughout the state are 
currently in various stages of instruction including distance learning, in-person 
learning, and hybrid instruction based on local conditions.   

 

New evidence and data about COVID-19 transmission coupled with the 
experiences of schools both nationally and internationally demonstrates that 
schools, particularly elementary schools, can operate in-person instruction safely 
with the correct safety protocols in place.  Concurrently with this directive, CDPH 
issued updated, consolidated guidance for K-12 schools (including public, 
private, and charter) to support school re-openings and safe implementation of 
in-person instruction for students and staff. 

 

Under current guidance, schools that have already reopened are permitted to 
continue offering in-person instruction, and additional schools are expected to 
reopen under the forthcoming K-12 school guidance.  To be equipped to 
prevent and mitigate ongoing community COVID-19 transmission, a 
comprehensive and coordinated approach for the secure sharing of vital data 
and information regarding COVID-19 infections among school employees and 
students is necessary, especially in light of current epidemiological conditions.   



 

46 
 

 
The sharing of identified case information data with public health professionals is 
therefore necessary to ensure that state and local public health experts can 
respond to confirmed cases of COVID-19 who have been present at a school 
site, to track and understand the extent of disease transmission within the state, 
and to support communities with appropriate prevention strategies and support. 
Accordingly, to monitor and prevent the spread of COVID-19, it is necessary for 
CDPH and local health jurisdictions to have accurate information about COVID-
19 infections among school employees and students.  Specifically, the prompt, 
secure, and confidential sharing of information about individuals within the 
school community who have tested positive for COVID-19 is critical to ensure 
that public health authorities can rapidly respond by: 

 

1. Instituting necessary case investigation and contact tracing; 
2. Focusing public health resources to effectively provide comprehensive 

support to the affected schools related to further investigation, mitigation 
strategies, and operational plans;  

3. Assessing and monitoring the practices and activities that may have led 
to the infection or transmission of COVID-19; 

4. Taking appropriate measures to protect the health of both the school 
community and population-at-large; and 

5. Ensuring that CDPH and local health jurisdictions have the information 
necessary to accurately assess the impact of school reopening on COVID-
19 transmission and case rates to effectively update operative public 
health guidance and directives as necessary.  

 

Schools are authorized under the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act 
(FERPA) to disclose personally identifiable information without parental consent 
to local health departments regarding COVID-19 testing and cases. (20 USC § 
1232g(b)(1)(I).) In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, California has been 
under a State of Emergency since March 4, 2020. California continues to see the 
dire effects of this pandemic through limited ICU capacities and new cases and 
deaths each day. The COVID-19 pandemic poses an extreme threat to the 
health and safety of all Californians. Even with protocols in place to mitigate the 
transmission of COVID-19, the presence of an individual who has tested positive 
of COVID-19 on a K-12 public or private school campus is an emergency that 
poses a risk to health or safety of students and employees present on the 
campus.  Reporting to the local health officer the presence of a positive case of 
COVID-19 in an individual who is or has been present on a K-12 public or private 
school campus is necessary to protect the health and safety of students and 



 

47 
 

employees present on the campus.  California law (17 C.C.R. section 2508) also 
requires anyone in charge of a K-12 public or private school kindergarten to 
report at once to the local health officer the presence or suspected presence of 
any of the communicable disease, which includes COVID-19.  

 

Accordingly:  

• Effective immediately, every local educational agency (school district, 
county office of education, and charter school) and private school in 
California shall notify its local health officer of any known case of COVID-
19 among any student or employee who was present on a K-12 public or 
private school campus within the 10 days preceding a positive test for 
COVID-19.  Specifically, the local educational agency or private school 
shall report the following information:  
 

o The full name, address, telephone number, and date of birth of the 
individual who tested positive; 

o The date the individual tested positive, the school(s) at which the 
individual was present on-site within the 10 days preceding the 
positive test, and the date the individual was last on-site at any 
relevant school(s); and 

o The full name, address, and telephone number of the person 
making the report. 

 

• This information shall be reported to the local health officer by telephone 
within twenty-four hours from the time an individual within the local 
educational agency or private school is first made aware of a new case.  
 

• This reporting shall continue until this directive is modified or rescinded. 
 

Information reported to the local health officer pursuant to this directive shall not 
be disclosed except to (1) the California Department of Public Health; (2) to the 
extent deemed necessary by the local health officer for an investigation to 
determine the source of infection and to prevent the spread of COVID-19, 
including with health officers in other jurisdictions as necessary to monitor, 
investigate, prevent, and/or control the spread of COVID-19; (3) if required by 
state or federal law; or (4) with the written consent of the individual to whom the 
information pertains or the legal representative of the individual.  

 



 

48 
 

This reporting does not replace or supersede any other statutory or regulatory 
requirements that require reporting of COVID-19 cases and/or outbreaks to 
other entities or institutions, such as Cal/OSHA. 
 

  



 

49 
 

 

 
Appendix 4: Public Health Directive 
REPORTING DETAILS OF IN-PERSON INSTRUCTION 

 

COVID-19 School Reopening Status Reporting 

January 14, 2021 

Following school closures that occurred in spring 2020 in response to the COVID-
19 pandemic, the California Department of Public Health (CDPH) developed 
the “COVID-19 and Reopening In-Person Learning Framework for K-12 Schools in 
California, 2020-2021 School Year” (July 17, 2020) to support school communities 
as they decided when and how to implement in-person instruction for the 2020-
2021 school year.  Schools throughout the state are currently in various stages of 
instruction including distance learning, in-person learning, and hybrid instruction 
based on local conditions.   

 

New evidence and data about COVID-19 transmission and experience 
nationally and internationally demonstrate that schools, particularly elementary 
schools, can operate safely for in-person instruction with the correct safety 
protocols in place.  Concurrently with this directive, CDPH issued updated, 
consolidated guidance for public and private K-12 schools to support school re-
openings and safe implementation of in-person instruction for students and staff. 

 

Under the guidance, schools that have already reopened are permitted to 
continue offering in-person instruction, and additional schools will reopen 
through the early spring.  To be equipped to prevent and mitigate ongoing 
community COVID-19 transmission, it is necessary for CDPH and local health 
jurisdictions to have accurate information about which school sites are serving 
students in-person and to which degree such in-person services are being 
provided, especially in light of evolving epidemiological conditions.   

 

This information will assist public health authorities maintain awareness of 
possible locations where case transmission may occur and can rapidly respond 



 

50 
 

to any confirmed positive cases of individuals who have been on-site at schools 
offering in-person instruction and services.  It is also necessary to focus public 
health resources to support schools, including COVID-19 testing support, contact 
tracing, and technical assistance related to mitigation strategies and 
operational plans, to make the most efficient and effective use of those 
resources.  Finally, this information will assist CDPH and local health jurisdictions to 
accurately assess the impact of school reopening on COVID-19 and update 
operative public health guidance and directives as necessary.  

 

Accordingly:  

• Beginning January 25, 2021, every local educational agency (school 
district, county office of education, and charter school) and private 
school in California shall notify the California Department of Public Health 
whether it is serving students in-person.  Specifically, the local educational 
agency or private school shall report the following information:  

o In-person instruction is provided full-time, including whether 
provided for all grades served by the local educational agency or 
private school or only certain grade spans. 

o In-person instruction is provided only part-time (hybrid model), 
including whether provided for all grades served by the local 
educational agency or private school or only certain grade spans.  

o In-person instruction and services are provided only pursuant to the 
Guidance Related to Cohorts issued by the California Department 
of Public Health. 

o No in-person instruction and services are provided (distance 
learning only). 

 

• This reporting shall continue every other Monday (or the Tuesday 
immediately following, if the Monday is a state holiday) until this directive 
is modified or rescinded. 

 

• This information shall be reported via a web form that will be made 
available by the California Department of Public Health.    
 

• The California Department of Public Health will provide this information to 
local health officers and, once the information is processed, will make this 
information publicly available on the Safe Schools For All Hub website.  

 

 

 



Click Here for COVID-19 Related Resources

FISCAL REPORT
PUBLIC EDUCATION'S POINT OF REFERENCE FOR MAKING EDUCATED DECISIONS

Ask SSC . . . How Often Do We Have to Do COVID-19 Testing?

 

[Correction Note: We have amended this article to clarify that it details the requirements for only asymptomatic
COVID-19 testing.]

Q:     If I am a local educational agency (LEA) that has already reopened for in-person instruction, do I have to
adopt the asymptomatic COVID-19 testing cadences that are detailed in the California Department of Public
Health (CDPH) Reopening In-Person Instruction Framework and Public Health Guidance for K–12 Schools in
California (Reopening In-Person Instruction Framework)?

A:     Currently, there is no requirement for any LEA to adhere to the asymptomatic COVID-19 testing cadences
referenced by the CDPH in its latest Reopening In-Person Instruction Framework. The state of California has
committed to support the testing cadences that are detailed through supplemental testing supplies,
shipment, laboratory capacity, enrollment and reporting technology, training, and assistance with insurance
reimbursement. The testing cadences includes asymptomatic testing of students and sta� every two weeks
for LEAs in red and purple tier counties, with frequency increasing to weekly for LEAs in purple counties with
an adjusted case rate of greater than 14 per 100,000. 

Governor Gavin Newsom’s Budget proposal includes $2 billion dollars for In-Person Instruction Grants to
incentivize LEAs to o�er in-person instruction to certain students by February 16 and March 15 (see
“Newsom Proposes Incentive Grants to Reopen Schools” in the December 2020 Fiscal Report and “Newsom’s
Reopening Schools Proposal—More Details Emerge” in the January 2021  Fiscal Report). One condition of
receiving the proposed grants is to adopt a COVID-19 Safety Plan that includes the testing cadences detailed in
the Reopening In-Person Instruction Framework. In other words, as proposed, LEAs must adopt the testing
cadences supported by the state in order to be eligible for the In-Person Instruction Grants. This includes
LEAs that have already reopened for in-person instruction and intend to apply for the proposed grants. LEAs
that do not pursue funding under the Governor’s Safe Schools for All proposal are not required to adopt and
implement the published asymptomatic testing cadences.  However, LEAs should also remember that the
California Occupational Safety and Health Administration (Cal/OSHA) emergency temporary standards

BY LEILANI AGUINALDO
BY PATTI F.  HERRERA , EDD Copyright 2021 School Services of California, Inc.

posted January 15, 2021

https://www.sscal.com/COVID-19-related-resources
https://www.sscal.com/publications/fiscal-reports/newsom-proposes-incentive-grants-reopen-schools
https://www.sscal.com/publications/fiscal-reports/newsoms-reopening-schools-proposal-more-details-emerge
mailto:leilania@sscal.com
mailto:pattih@sscal.com


require employers to o�er COVID-19 testing to employees if there is a potential COVID-19 exposure in the
workplace (see “New Emergency Cal/OSHA COVID-19 Requirements E�ective Now” in the December 2020
Fiscal Report).

While included in the Governor’s Budget proposal, the In-Person Instruction Grants must still go through the
legislative process, including public hearings and passing both the Assembly and the Senate. Stay tuned for
future Fiscal Report articles which will give updates about the proposal and any amendments. The COVID-19
and Reopening In-Person Instruction Framework and Public Health Guidance for K-12 Schools In California,
2020-21 School Year is available on the CDPH COVID-19 website at schools.covid19.ca.gov. 
 

https://www.sscal.com/publications/fiscal-reports/new-emergency-calosha-covid-19-requirements-effective-now
https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CID/DCDC/CDPH%20Document%20Library/COVID-19/Consolidated_Schools_Guidance.pdf
https://schools.covid19.ca.gov/

